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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET
(“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM
mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Regenerative Medicine
International Limited collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to
China Regenerative Medicine International Limited. The directors
of China Regenerative Medicine International Limited, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
TR

For the financial year ended 30 April 2015, the Group has experienced
extraordinary development and has transformed itself from a pure
research and development (“R&D”) company into the one with a
combination of R&D, production, and sales, and our past languished
financial position has also stabilised. Over the past two years, the
Group obtained three Class Il registration certificates for medical
device (“Product Certificate”) and one Class lll registration approval
for medical technique. The Group achieved significant development
in different aspect including R&D, product sales, share placing and
acquisition.

I. EXISTING BUSINESSES DEVELOPMENT

During the fiscal year, the Group achieved substantive progress
in four business areas (i.e., tissue engineering, cellular and stem
cell operation, cosmetics and healthcare, medical equipment
and other services).

1. Tissue engineering

The Group obtained registration approval for medical
technique of Cell Sheet — Autologous Chondrocyte
Implantation and Product Certificate of bio-engineered
cornea, Acornea in March and April 2015 respectively,
making them respectively the third and the fourth successful
registration of the Group after CBB and ActivSkin.

To promote clinical application of bio-engineered cornea,
the Group set up an ophthalmology expert committee
which comprised of renowned and leading ophthalmology
experts across the nation. The committee is designed
to offer surgical training to junior domestic ophthalmic
surgeons for the applications of our bio-engineered
cornea in order to effectively and swiftly cure cornea
disease patients.

The Group is currently building sales channels, setting
selling price, and applying for domestic sales for Acornea.
The product is expected to generate revenue in the
second half of 2015.

SIS, which applied to anal fistula disease, is currently
under product registration procedure and it is expected
to be approved by China Food and Drug Administration
before November 2015.

Finally, there are two products under clinical trials, namely
the selective acellular skin and the absorbable dental
membrane.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT

AT AR R

I.

EXISTING BUSINESSES DEVELOPMENT
(Cont’d)

2.

Cellular and stem cell operation

Cellular and stem cell operation is one of the Group’s
focuses in the next few years to come. R&D of cellular
and stem cell operation is primarily based on the
cooperation with Professor Zhanfeng Cui (“Prof. Cui”),
Donald Pollock Professor of Chemical Engineering at the
University of Oxford and the Director of the Oxford Centre
for Tissue Engineering and Bioprocessing of the University
of Oxford.

With an aim to develop an international, clinical-grade
standard cellular and stem cell operation, the Group
has signed an agreement with Hong Kong Science and
Technology Parks Corporation to rent a premises with
area of approximately of 2,000 sqg. meters to build our
China Stem Cell Clinical Applications Centre which will
be complied with GMP requirements of US FDA and
EU EMA. Construction of the centre is expected to
be completed before the end of 2016, and the centre
will immediately commence operation thereafter. The
clientele will initially be research institutes on cellular
and stem cell research, laboratories of universities and
colleges, clinicians from hospitals and bio-pharmaceutical
manufacturers in Asian-Pacific region.

Meanwhile, the Group is also taking active measures
to develop adult human tissue storage businesses. In
early July 2015, the Group formed a special vehicle with
a University of Oxford team headed by Dr. Zhaohui Li.
Dr. Li's team specialises in bio-processing, including
design and assembly system in cellular cryopreservation
and thawing; as well as in cellular and stem cell related
extraction, separation, purification, and pre-treatment.
The Group will build these adult human tissue storage
facilities in major cities in the PRC and abroad to support
the future development of cellular and stem cell therapy
business.

Acquisition of AK (Suzhou) Biomedical Ltd. is under
progress. AK (Suzhou) Biomedical Ltd. is founded by
a technical team led by Prof. Cui and is focused on
providing services and equipment for human cell and
stem cell related clinical applications. The acquisition is
expected to be completed in or before August.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
TR

I. EXISTING BUSINESSES DEVELOPMENT
(Cont’d)

78

Cosmetics and healthcare

Significant amount of growth factors are resided from our
production processes of tissue engineering skin. These
growth factors have the attributes of anti-aging, whitening,
spot-removal, and daily-caring of human skin. The Group
has formed a joint venture company with an independent
third-party for design and production of cosmetics series
products. Building of branding of the products is in
progress. Sales of these cosmetic products will be started
upon completion of registration procedures for selling
cosmetics with relevant regulatory authorities.

Medical equipment and other services

The Group has acquired 70% equity interest of Tianjin
Weikai Bioeng Ltd., a company that focuses on providing
pre-clinical drug testing services as well as contract
research (CRO) services of drug toxicity and efficacy
assays. The company also produces 3D perfusion cell
culture bio-reactors that are functioned to reduce late
stage clinical trials failures by first identifying unsafe drugs
and through selection of the most efficacious candidates
earlier in the drug development process.

II. OTHER BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

1.

Share Placing

For this financial year, the Group raised a total of
approximately HK$1.1 billion thru three new share
placements.

The Group will continue to seek viable fund raising
opportunities for our business development. In July 2015,
the Group entered into an agreement with the a placing
agent for placing of new shares.

Product Sales Development

In the past year, the Group obtained three Class Il
Product Certificates for medical device and one Class llI
registration approval for medical technique. The Group
utilises experienced sales agents’ network to market our
products and comprehensively realises their commercial
value. Despite a long market development and penetration
phase before realising substantial revenue, the Group has
engraved a new milestone of creating revenue thru selling
of our owned products.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT

AT AR R

II. OTHER BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

IL S MR BRI R (A1)

(Cont’d)
3. R&D Collaboration

In December 2014, the Group and the University of Oxford
entered into a 5-year cooperation agreement on cellular
and stem cell related R&D and translational research. In
the next 5 years, the Group will commercialise research
results obtained by the University of Oxford under the
agreement, and the Group shares benefits derived with
the University of Oxford.

Since the beginning of collaboration with the University
of Oxford, two groups of technical staff have been sent
by the Group to the University of Oxford for advanced
training.

In addition, the Group has engaged Professor Lixin Xie, an
academician of Chinese Academy of Engineering, as chief
consultant of the ophthalmology expert committee to
promote clinical application of our bio-engineered cornea,
to train up addition ophthalmic surgeons and to catalyse
in-depth cornea R&D.

ITII. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

In the aftermath of the bus arson in Hangzhou in 2014 and
metal processing plant explosion in Suzhou in 2015, the
Group immediately responded to the disasters by donating our
ActivSkin to the victims. Our effort was praised by doctors and
victims alike.

In the aftermath of Formosa Fun Coast explosion in Taiwan
which happened at the end of June 2015, thru the Taiwan
Affairs Office of State Council, the Group promises to donate
our ActivSkin of value in the amount of RMB10 million to the
casualties.

In June and July 2015, the Group donated bio-engineered
cornea to China Charity Federation’s local offices in Shandong,
Guizhou and Jiangxi Provinces to treat and cure corneal
blindness patients in those three provinces.

The Group will continue to donate bio-engineered cornea and
other products to other provinces and even foreign countries to
fulfill our social responsibilities and give back to the society.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
TR

For the past financial year, the Group has undergone strategic
transformation from purely focusing on R&D into a company with
a combination of R&D, production and sales. For the first time,
the Company recognised sales revenue from its owned products,
and the financial conditions have changed. In the next few years,
the Group will continue to deliver new products to the market.
Every step of progress the Group has made should be attributed
to our shareholders’ continuous support, and the commitment and
dedications from our senior management and all our staff. | would
like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude and
extend my heartfelt greetings to all our shareholders, executives
and employees. In the upcoming year, we will strive to deliver our
shareholders and investors long-term values and rewards through
continuous improvement.

Shao Zhengkang
Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 17 July 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B v i e 0T

In February 2015, the Company has changed its name from “China
Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited FF B0 4 %) 88 2 55 4 Rl &
AR F]” to “China Regenerative Medicine International Limited A
BEEESEEE AR AR to better reflect our focuses within the
bio-medical spectrum. In the bio-medical spectrum, we prioritise
and focus on regenerative medicine which basically has two arms,
namely tissue-engineering and cellular and stem cell therapy. We
continue to commit to our R&Ds and commercialisation in four major
areas of businesses, they are tissue engineering; cellular and stem
cell therapy; cosmetic and healthcare; as well as advanced medical
equipment and other services. In tissue engineering area, we will
focus on products of dermatology, ophthalmology, bone and cartilage
repairs, as well as soft tissue repairs. In cellular and stem cell therapy,
we will concentrate in cellular immunotherapy; ocular regeneration;
musculoskeletal regeneration; neural regeneration; and cardiovascular
regeneration, in addition to adult human tissue storage businesses. In
cosmetics and healthcare area, we will give attention to products with
growth factors (a growth factor is a substance capable of stimulating
cellular growth), collagen, and anti-aging elements. We will utilise
the by-products resided during our production processes of the
tissue-engineered skins in order to enhance the product pipeline for
cosmetic products. We will also promote the development of anti-
aging supplement and other natural supplement products. Lastly, we
will design, assemble, and sell advanced medical equipments for pre-
clinical testing and cell proliferation as well as the provision of contract
research services.

For this financial year ended 30 April 2015, we acquired indirectly
70% equity interest of X ZEFHLEY TR AR A 7 (Tianjin Weikai
Bioeng Ltd.#) (“Tianjin Weikai”) that focuses on the provision of pre-
clinical trial contract research services and selling of three-dimensional
cell culture and testing machine, the 3DFlo®.

At present, the Group has four production plants with two located
in Xian, Shaanxi Province, one located in Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province, and one in Tianjin. These existing plants are to facilitate the
Group’s commercialisation of our existing and future products and
services.

The collaboration with Professor Zhanfeng Cui (“Prof. Cui”) has begun
since November 2013, which enables the Group to enhance not
only the production process, automation and standardisation of the
existing plant and facilities for our tissue engineering businesses, but
also to drive the initiative development of the Group’s cellular and
stem cell therapy businesses. Prof. Cui has brought in and shared
his expertise for our overall research and development capabilities in
stem cell related operations.

# for identification only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o T vk i S A A

OPERATIONS REVIEW

75 1] J

A) Tissue Engineering

Tissue Engineered Skin with Living Human Cells —
ActivSkin® (“ActivSkin”)

ActivSkin is a tissue-engineered skin and it is the first registered
product of the Group. It can relieve pains, shorten healing time
and reduce scarring for treating of burns and scalds.

After obtaining the re-registration of the registration certificate
for medical device (“Product Certificate”) from the China Food
and Drug Administration (“CFDA”) in April 2014, the Group
is currently setting up a network of provincial distributors for
marketing. Simultaneously, we are building our technical sales
team for ActivSkin to promote doctor awareness, to monitor
and train distributors. We are in the process of building sales
team in four major cities, including Xi’an, Beijing, Shanghai,
and Guangzhou. In addition, we will continuously and gradually
penetrate other Top-Tier Class-A hospitals (= F £ %) across
China. Our plan is to designate three distributors to one major
provincial hospital in their respective cities for pilot marketing.
We prefer to start selling in small scale because ActivSkin
demands special logistic arrangement to ensure clinical efficacy.

We are committed to serve victims of accidents or natural
catastrophes by means of sponsorships and donations. The
feedbacks from physicians in charge of previous donation of
our ActivSkin are significantly positive, especially for body area
with third degree burns. In July 2015, we initiate to donate our
ActivSkin to provide much-needed assistance to the casualties
who are injured from Taiwan dust explosion. The Group will
continue to take an active role in undertaking philanthropic
responsibilities, helping the needy, rewarding and caring for our
community.

Acellular Corneal Stroma — “Acornea”

Our acellular corneal stroma, “Acornea” is developed by our
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen AiNear Cornea
Engineering Company Limited, which has been approved by
CFDA and its Product Certificate has been obtained in April
2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B v i e 0T

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

A) Tissue Engineering (Cont’d)

Acellular Corneal Stroma — “Acornea” (Cont’d)

The acellular corneal stroma is originated from porcine cornea,
engineered with no living cell but retained its corneal matrix.
This acellular corneal stroma is the first of its kind that has
completed all the necessary and required clinical trials in the
PRC. As compared to other artificial cornea which primarily
used acrylic as the material to manufacture for transplant or
for utilising merely as a device, the transplant of our acellular
corneal stroma is designed for the application of lamella
keratoplasty that can easily be adapted by human beings
with relatively minimal rejection. We believe that Acornea can
improve, or even recover the vision of about half of all the
cornea related diseases patients.

The initial responses from distributors of Acornea are promising.
The Group is now in the process of assessing distributors’
background and reputation. At the same time, we have formed
an ophthalmology expert committee with key opinion leaders
from various leading hospitals to provide surgical technique
training for junior ophthalmic surgeons to better understand
the applications of Acornea, allowing the applications to be
widely/extensively used in generally therapeutical lamellar
keratoplasty and to pave possible future product upgrades and
development.

A training centre at Shandong province was established and
the first training programme, organised and lead by the key
opinion leaders, for the surgical technique training to a group of
ophthalmic surgeons was completed in early July 2015.

Setting the selling price of Acornea is still under investigation
simply because it is the only pioneer bio-engineered cornea
that can replace human donated cornea in lamella keratoplasty.
The selling price to hospital is currently under discussion with
provincial government officials.

The Group is committed to help address the cornea shortage
in China by taking the initiatives to donate our bio-engineered
cornea, Acronea, to charitable organisations in Shangdong,
Guizhou and Jiangxi. The Group will continue to distinguish
our commitments, giving supports to charities or community
projects, in particular to the underprivileged and deprived areas,
and offering the poor who are suffering from cornea related
disease with an opportunity to resume their vision.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

A) Tissue Engineering (Cont’d)

Calcined Bovine Bone — #%i ® (“CBB”)

CBB is a protein-detracted natural bone regenerative product
and a bone substitute material for inducing natural bone
regeneration. It is intended to be used by dental professionals
for the application of jawbone defect restoration, particularly in
dental implant therapy and periodontal defects.

Since June 2014, the Group has signed several sale agency
agreements with sales agents for major provinces/cities in
China. It signifies the beginning of CBB’s contribution to our
revenue. During this financial year, sales of CBB amounted to
approximately HK$2.01 million, and with successful execution
of the sales and marketing strategy, we believe sales will grow
steadily going forward. In addition, as part of our marketing
strategy, the Group will continue to seek suitable strategic
alliance with local sales team of dental product manufactures to
include CBB with their existing product distribution networks.

The relocation of our subsidiary, Shaanxi Reshine Biotech
Co., Ltd. (“Reshine”), triggers the re-registration of its Product
Certificate. We expect the re-registration may take 6 to 12
months to complete. In the meantime, before moving out from
the current premises, Reshine will give its full force to produce
and stock up CBB, such that the piling of stocks will allow
Reshine to continue its sale in later half of 2015.

Acellular Small Intestinal Submucosa (“SIS”)

The Group has obtained the medical device good manufacturing
practice inspection result notice for SIS in early May 2014.
Subsequently, the application for the Product Certificate was
submitted and accepted by CFDA in late May 2014.

Due mainly to the relocation of Reshine, we expect a delay in
obtaining its registration for Product Certificate for 6 months
to the second half of 2015, and subsequently the commercial
production and sale of SIS will commence in year 2016.

SIS is applied to simple anal fistula disease without going
through fistulotomy operation which is traditionally used to cure
anal fistula in western medicine that may harm the sphincter
and cause relapses. It is believed that the relapse rate when
using SIS for simple anal fistula is comparatively low.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EXME (5)
A) A#TF (4)

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

A) Tissue Engineering (Cont’d)

Medical Technique — Cell Sheet-Autologous Chondrocyte
Implantation

In addition to medical device products, the Group also
participates in research and development of technological
advanced medical techniques for enhancing curative results.

The Group completed the summary report of the clinical
trials for its medical technique, namely Cell Sheet-Autologous
Chondrocyte Implantation (“CS-ACI”), in May 2014.

CS-ACI is a medical technique that builds under the influence
of cartilage cell rebuilding technique for the repairs of knee and
other relevant cartilage damages. Cartilage cell (autologous
cell) is extracted from patient’s own cartilage and grows in vitro
separately to form a chondrocyte sheet such that living cartilage
cells can adhere together before implanting back to the same
patient. CS-ACI solves the issues other competitors are
having difficulty of controlling cartilage cells leaking away after
implanting. CS-ACI is expected to be a remedy for athletes with
knee injury, and also for a preventive medical procedure before
irreversible knee injury takes place that requires prosthesis
replacement. CS-ACI has the advantage of less surgical risk
and lower possibility of complication for the patient.

The registration process of CS-ACI with Shaanxi Health and
Family Planning Commission (formerly known as Health Bureau
of Shaanxi Province) was completed, and its relevant approval
has been obtained in March 2015. At present, the sales and
marketing team is negotiating with provincial distributors in
finalising the implementation of a feasible business model. The
role of the distributor is to connect and negotiate with hospitals
for obtaining relevant approval for participating hospitals to
perform CS-ACI procedure. It involves also the collaboration of
rehabilitation hospitals to ensure post-surgical cartilage growth
and recovery of movement.

In addition to the above, the Group is also in the process of
research and development of other medical techniques.

BB — H #ECE AR S B 51

BRERSEMERIN  ARETUELERR
Rtz AR LFEE MR EY -

R-ZB—MFERA  AEETKEH B8
FEARKEABERM] ([CS-ACI)) K8
BEMEER AR BERS

CS-ACIREHBHRERRMAER LA
BERESNRERAMABNSARNE
il - MEAIR (BRAR) RHEER
FHEBPRER - DRERIMNERATZRHNE
AR F ABEEARZEER - ZLE T
LB ABEEZM - CS-ACI#R T H
fib e 55 5 F B B2 AR B BB AR IE A TR
ZIRERE - CS-ACITE A B BRESD
BREXE  UEREMBERT - UL
HIRT AR EREMERF ZETERR
F 1 o CS-ACI & A &K F1i7 [k K f& K%
ABHEBIERRIBEERBE -

CS-ACIE ek BRmAEEMAHEELE
e (B ALEFLEE) cafni IR
—E-RF= AEGHEBEIE - BAT HE
RSB RS & EEEEEERT
ATHEEER - PHEPNBE S EERE
TH S RS - (F2EMNBRESAEBILE
LAE1T CS-ACI F1lT » DR Ik R &
BRE1E - URBRIITEE B R RESENN
B8 -

B oh + Ao O 7 B8 A B8 A
i o

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

A) Tissue Engineering (Cont’d)

B)

R&D — Tissue Engineering

The Group fosters research and development of bio-medical
products by exploring opportunities by various means. The
followings are our key development currently under R&D:

1) To broaden the applications of ActivSkin, we have
continuously constructed the clinical trial protocols and
will work with major hospitals on chronic refractory
diabetes foot ulcers as well as other skin ulcer related
applications.

2)  Selective acellular skin is different from ActivSkin and is
used as function of wound dressings rather than as a
substitute of human skin.

3)  Absorbable dental membrane is primarily applied for
jawbone defect restoration, and is particular used together
with our CBB to give a much better surgical outcome.

The Group continues to participate in other selective and
promising tissue-engineering products’ R&D.

Cellular and Stem Cell Related Operations

With the guidance, knowledge, and years of experience from
Prof. Cui of the University of Oxford (“Oxford University”) who is
the mastermind advisor to us, the Company has paved our path
to the development of cellular and stem cell therapy related
businesses.

Subsequent to this financial year, in May 2015, the Company
has formed a special vehicle company (“Special Vehicle”) with
Prof. Cui, in which Prof. Cui holds a 9.5% equity interest, to
capture all future development of the Group’s stem cell related
operations, including the development of a stem cell clinical
applications centre in Hong Kong (“China Stem Cell Clinical
Applications Centre”) as the research and development base
to support the Group’s stem cell initiatives in Hong Kong
and in the region, as well as concentrating in research and
development concerning cellular immunotherapy; ocular
regeneration; musculoskeletal regeneration; neural regeneration;
and cardiovascular regeneration, in addition to adult human
tissue storage businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

B)

Cellular and Stem Cell Related Operations
(Cont’d)

The Group is building our China Stem Cell Clinical Applications
Centre at Hong Kong Science Park. The 2,000 sq. meters
premises will be a world class facility that complies with EU
EMA and US FDA standards for GMP requirements in Phase 3
of Hong Kong Science Park in Shatin. We aim to bridge the long
unresolved gap between basic research scientists and clinicians
by providing various kinds of clinical graded stem cells as well
as custom-made stem cells at the request by potential clients.
Our initial clientele is expected to cover scientists and clinicians
from Hong Kong as well as from Southeast Asian countries. In
addition, the Group intends to serve as a stem cell supply hub
for small and medium local firms with their respective needs and
specifications of stem cells for their businesses as well as for
their potential further researches. The China Stem Cell Clinical
Applications Centre is the first of its kind world class presence
in Hong Kong. It will for sure boom the city image as high-tech
market pioneer on one hand, and will help more and more small
and medium local firms to grow together with us as regional
leaders on the other.

Design and renovation works of this GMP facility are underway,
and our China Stem Cell Clinical Applications Centre at Hong
Kong Science Park is expected to be ready by 2016.

Regenerative Medicine is a cell-based therapy that aims to
restore function and regenerate degenerated tissues. Adult
human tissue storage is believed to have vast opportunities as
an expanding market of regenerative medicine. Subsequent to
this financial year, in early July 2015, the Special Vehicle has
established a project company (“Project Company”) with a
corporation founded by Dr. Zhaohui Li (“Dr. Li”) to carry out adult
human tissue storage operations. The newly formed Project
Company will collaborate with hospitals and clinics for building
these adult human tissue storage facilities in major cities in the
PRC and aboard. It will also utilise the Group’s existing plant/
facilities to build regional supporting storage hubs to ensure that
all our future collected samples are under our risk control and
information systems.

The Project Company’s core theory comes from Prof. Cui who
is the mastermind behind our cellular and stem cell therapy
operations. With the guidance and knowledge from Prof. Cui
together with the technical and engineering supports from Dr.
Li, the adult human tissue storage businesses will be one of the
Group’s focuses in the years to come.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

B) Cellular and Stem Cell Related Operations

(Cont’d)

Elsewhere, the Group has taken proactive steps in exploring
and identifying business opportunities in cellular and stem cell
therapy application in the PRC. Prof. Cui has brought to us
acquisition opportunities in two stem cell related companies in
the PRC, one focuses in clinical application operations and the
other one in pre-clinical trial operations. In January 2015, the
Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Prof.
Cui to acquire up to 82.353% equity interest of Frame Sharp
Limited, which effectively represents 70% equity interest of B8]
(BN A= BT A R A B (AK (Suzhou) Biomedical Ltd.*) (“AK
Suzhou”), a company owns and possesses a production base
in the Huabei Region (Northern China Region), and focuses on
providing services and equipment for human cell and stem cell
related clinical applications. The related restructuring exercise of
AK Suzhou is still in progress, and a supplemental agreement
has been signed to extend the completion of this acquisition.
Such completion is targeted to be in or before August 2015.

The other company Prof. Cui brought us the opportunity to
acquire was Tianjin Weikai which focuses on providing services
and equipment for pre-clinical trial applications of stem cell as
well as contract researches. Over the years, Tianjin Weikai has
stored up stem cell samples for research and development,
and human liver cells extracted thru its own unique techniques
for CRO testing particularly on toxicity. We completed the
acquisition of 70% equity interest of Tianjin Weikai in late April
2015.

As part of the expansion program in regenerative medicine and
due mainly to the requirement of regionalisation of cellular and
stem cell processing, the above acquisitions will provide the
Group with an opportunity to setup a regional hub that takes
care of human cell and stem cell processing businesses and
designs and manufacturing of pre-clinical cellular and stem
cell related equipment businesses in the Huadong Region
(Eastern China Region) and Huabei Region (Northern China
Region) respectively. In addition, with their existing know-hows,
it is believed that they will provide certain synergies for the
improvement of the Group’s existing businesses.

The above-mentioned two acquisitions, notably AK Suzhou
and Tianjin Weikali, together with our China Stem Cell Clinical
Applications Centre, after completion, will ultimately provide
complimentary regional coverage to our existing production
plants in Xi’an and Shenzhen. As such, they cover most of the
better developed major cities in the PRC.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

C)

D)

Cosmetics and Healthcare Products

The Group will give attention to products with growth factors,
collagen, and anti-aging elements. We will utilise the by-
products resided during our production processes of the tissue-
engineered skins in order to build up the product pipeline for
cosmetic products. We will also promote the development of
anti-aging supplement and other natural supplement products.

In order to make use of the by-products generated from the
production processes of our tissue engineering product, we
entered into a cooperative agreement with an independent
third party in January 2014 in which we will develop a series of
cosmetic products. The series is expected to derive cosmetic
products with the attributes of anti-aging, whitening, spot-
removal, and daily-caring. A company was established and is
currently carrying out works in building its cosmetic brand.

To capitalise on the first research result of our 2013 research
sponsorship with the University of Hong Kong (“Hong Kong
University”), we are in the process of negotiating with Hong
Kong University to set up a project company in Hong Kong
to develop health supplements which is intended to provide
remedies for osteoporosis. No definite agreement has been
signed yet in respect of set-up of such project company. Until
we complete the negotiation with Hong Kong University, our
initial setup relies on one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries to
carry out all necessary preliminary works. We intend to push
forward the path of developing health supplements first, which
does not require product registration with relevant authorities. In
addition, if we choose to, we will then prepare the registration
of Chinese medicine products in Hong Kong which may take
up to 2 years to complete all the registration procedures. Trial
production, marketing, and clinical testing if necessary of these
products are expected to follow thereafter.

Medical Equipment and Other Services

By utilising existing operations of the newly acquired Tianjin
Weikai in late April 2015, the Group offers CRO (contract
research organisation) services of drug screening, drug efficacy
and toxicity assays in the pre-clinical drug development
services. In addition to the traditional cell culture, we have
established the three-dimensional cell culture drug screening
and toxicity assays models based on the international advanced
technology of 3D perfusion cell culture system.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont’d)

D) Medical Equipment and Other Services (Cont’d)

TissueFlex® and 3DFlo® are 3D perfusion cell culture systems
for pre-clinical applications which enable the study of cellular
behavior and function in a more in-vivo-like environment that
can provide responses closely replicate human responses.
The 3D-system can reduce late stage clinical trials failures by
first identifying unsafe drugs and through selection of the most
efficacious candidates earlier in the drug development process.

In addition, our existing sales team has involved in trading
of biomedical skin dressing products, gastroscopy lubricant
and others from other manufactures. A total revenue of
approximately HK$670,000 was generated during this financial
year. We will for sure learn and optimise our experiences in this
trading exercise, and will dispatch our effort accordingly while
our selective products are ready to market.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Over the past 18 months, the Group has obtained 3 Product
Certificates from CFDA and 1 registered medical technique after
years of extensive investment in research and development. We have
entered into another phase of sales and marketing, and the Group is
continuously building sales and marketing team for various product
lines. A number of marketing actions have been taken. Firstly, an
ophthalmology committee comprised of key opinion leaders is being
formed so that junior physicians can be trained to use our Acornea
safely and effectively. Secondly, distributors of various products are
being sieved and assessed. Thirdly, selling prices are under review
and negotiation at provincial level hospitals. After completing these
marketing, training, and channel establishment activities, the Group
expects significant revenue to be recognised for the coming financial
years.

With additional products enlisted gradually moving into clinical trials
and regulatory approval stages, our product pipeline will be further
enhanced to meet diversified clinical needs.

China Stem Cell Clinical Applications Centre at Hong Kong Science
Park is currently under construction which we intend to bridge the
long unresolved gap between basic research scientists and clinicians
by providing various kinds of clinical graded stem cells. By positioning
as a regional world class hub of its kind, we aim to serve domestic
clients as well as clients from Southeast Asian countries and Taiwan.
The Group is also committed to build adult human tissue storage
facilities to tailor clients’ needs in various cities in the PRC and other
regions.

2014 /2015 F3f PEBLEELEEFRAG

SEB R (A])

D) BERERMRAMIRE (H)

TissueFlex® F 3DFlo® 9 /4 & IR AT FE FA ) =
WETHRIEE RS - M EARETEEM
BNRBAMRAERIEE  MEIRETAIXR
REAURABRENRIE - Z=HEZRB
BRI 2 B R By FEIRRE T
B B SR R BEY) - A] LAPRK A2 BRGRIR &
ERRFAY K B R o

SN BPIRAREEEBESBELERA
HtmEERMEMESNEIRER  Bif
HBRREM - EAMBFEEE RIS
670,000/ 7T ° AJ AB EHE + BIELLIX
MERESRS  WEETRMOLSRS - 48
FEHE RIS ENEREFT AT SRESE
jj °

E g

REZFREMBEMNAERE  AEERBE
TNERESERERN=-AERIMEER—
TR B R o HPIEEAF A IHE M & HRE
B BRAKBETI#ESZEEMGAREER
BHEN  YECRRZELHE - BE KL
MERERRMAKNRNMERZE S - UEJ
BRBENBELR 2B EARMPBILRE
HR - EWHEFGEZEERNDHERN - F=
ERBERBEZREAEE - TRELEH B
FRBERTIIE®R - ARBEEHH AR ARMIK
FEEREAMES -

BEE S NERE S EABRAR KM E
B RMNESBBE SR UBRS I
BEPRAK -

FSRHSE N T E % B R R0 B B ER
RIEREER - RFEEBIRETRERRKAT
2B SRR SR KRS
PR ARSERRMETE - RILZP LM ELS
ZEHMERERBRL - BOREANRES
TERRABES - AEBEFEARRKAAL
B R RS ESET RAIEES
TRES -




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK (Cont’d)

With the successful launching of research and development,
followed by commercialisation of products, the return of the Group’s
investment can gradually be materialised through effective sales and
marketing operations. Without losing the focus of the core value
spearhead, namely the research and development, the Group will
continue to seek cooperation opportunities with leading institutions to
enhance its research capacity and capability in regenerative medical
technology.

We have already participated in a collaboration with Hong Kong
University in a 3-layer cartilage rebuilding research by utilising the
ITF programme, a Hong Kong government sponsored program of
research, Innovation and Technology Fund programme (“ITF”). In
addition, we are preparing to submit another ITF application which
amalgamates Hong Kong University and Oxford University in clinical
research on a special bioreactor for stem cell proliferation. We will
continue to seek collaboration opportunities with leading institutions
and scientists locally with the utilisation of ITF.

Further to the sponsorship programme with Oxford University in
December 2013, the Group entered into a long-term collaboration
agreement with Oxford University for the sponsorship of the
establishment of the CRMI Technology Centre at Oxford
University (the “CRMI-Oxford Centre”) in December 2014. The
CRMI-Oxford Centre undertakes enterprise-specific research
programme in relation to translational regenerative medicine. The
research programme shall focus on three specific themes: cutting
edge scientific research and novel technology development;
translational research to enable rapid clinical applications; and
development of therapies targeting major unmet clinical needs. The
collaboration draws on expertise at Oxford University and elsewhere
in translating research into commercial opportunities in China. We
believe that this long-term collaboration with Oxford University is an
important milestone of the Company’s business strategy to expand
internationally, and perhaps replicate our business model and
application experiences in European or other countries.

The Group envisions itself to be the leading pioneer of regenerative
medicine in Asia and in the region. The Group’s current production
facilities in Xi'an and Shenzhen, the PRC, are designated to the tissue
engineering arm, while the Group has begun to develop cellular and
stem cell therapy related area initially in other selected major cities by
acquisitions and in Hong Kong by in-house development.

During this financial year, the Group has successfully raised
approximately HK$1.14 billion thru share placements for our future
developments and existing operations. We will seek ways to improve
return on our idle cash from time to time.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK (Cont’d)

The Group continues to look for viable fund raising activities to
finance its existing businesses and future and potential developments.
Subsequent to this financial year, in July 2015, the Group entered into
a placing agreement with a placing agent to place, on a best-effort
basis, an aggregate of up to 1,150,000,000 new shares at a placing
price of HK$0.40 per share. The estimated net proceeds from the
placing of these 1,150,000,000 new shares is approximately HK$456
million.

FUTURE PROSPECT

The Group continues to strive for opportunity to widen its business
scope in the bio-medical area, as well as strengthening and
maintaining as one of the leading pioneers in the medical and related
industries. The Group is negotiating with renowned scientists,
clinicians, hospitals and medical groups, and/or leading institutions
for long-term collaborations to seek new development in the bio-
medical and/or medical related industries. The Company is currently
in negotiation with a national medical group in the PRC to establish
a collaborative relationship with their hospitals for the Group’s adult
human tissue storage operations, as well as for the promotion and
applications of our tissue engineering products in the hospitals.

The Chinese government has been committing to provide supports
towards hi-tech industries, including regenerative medicine, a sub-
division of the bio-medical industries. We will continuously strive for
more assistance from the Chinese government to provide additional
resources for broadening our R&D coverage on regenerative
medicine spectrum. If we are able to access more support from local
government, for example high-technology subsidies and relatively
lower land cost, we may consider building additional plants as well
as research centres on other suitable locations for our current and/or
new products.

As the Group continues to identify and invest in suitable business
opportunities, expand and improve in its research and development
capability, facilitate the development of the existing business plan as
well as implementation of the sale and marketing strategy, the Board
may consider fund raising activities if viable fund raising options,
which are in the best interest of the Group and the shareholders of
the Company, are available.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Result

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 April 2015 was
approximately HK$2.82 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$2.31 million, or 452.94%, compared to revenue
of approximately HK$0.51 million for last year. The overall increase
in revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in revenue of
our tissue engineering segment, as the Group introduces the CBB
products into the market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont’d)

Result (Cont’d)

During the year under review, the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$255.39 million, as compared to a loss of
approximately HK$271.30 million for last year. The loss was
attributable to (i) the impairment of goodwill of approximately
HK$60.40 million (2014: HK$141.66 million); (i) the impairment of
other intangible assets of approximately HK$41.43 million (2014: Nil);
(iii) the amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$37.50
million (2014: HK$24.20 million); and (iv) the increase in general
administrative expenses, namely staff cost and office rental.

Net Assets

Net assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$1,844.22
million as at 30 April 2015, as compared to approximately HK$780.05
million at 30 April 2014, representing an increase of 136.42%. The
increase was attributable to the share-based acquisition transaction
and shares placements during the year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 30 April 2015, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$1,008.98 million (2014: HK$119.02 million). The
increase in cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK$889.96
million was mainly due to proceeds obtained from shares placements.

As at 30 April 2015, the bank borrowings of approximately HK$59.03
million (2014: HK$37.46 million) were secured by property, plant and
equipment, land use right and pledged bank deposit.

Working Capital and Gearing Ratio

As at 30 April 2015, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$1,187.86 million (2014: HK$177.12 million), while its current
liabilities stood at approximately HK$117.70 million (2014: HK$91.65
million), representing a net current asset position with a working
capital ratio (current assets to current liabilities) of 10.09 (2014: 1.93).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 30 April 2015, calculated as net
debt to equity was 0.03 (2014: 0.05).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont’d)

Capital Structure

During the year, the issued shares of the Company were increased
by 4,679,300,000 shares to 16,442,180,000 shares as results of (1)
issue of 252,000,000 new share for the acquisition of Tianjin Weikai
and (2) share placements during the year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The Directors consider
the impact of foreign exchange exposure of the Group is minimal.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The change of the Company’s name from “China Bio-Med
Regeneration Technology Limited B4 E 2B LR AR AR "
to “China Regenerative Medicine International Limited /1 Bl 5 4- 22 E2
BIBR A PR A 7] was approved by the shareholders of the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 January 2015.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

On 9 January 2015, Enlighten On Enterprise Limited (the “Purchaser”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Professor Zhanfeng Cui
(“Prof. Cui”) and an independent third party (the “Vendor”) entered
into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser
conditionally agreed to purchase from the Vendor, and the Vendor
conditionally agreed to dispose of up to 82.353% of the equity
interest of Frame Sharp Limited (“Frame Sharp”), which effectively
represents 70% of equity interest of &)l (/) EWHRMAR R 7]
(AK (Suzhou) Biomedical Ltd.") (“AK Suzhou”) beneficially attributable
to Prof. Cui prior to a restructuring exercise (“AK Acquisition”). The
consideration will be satisfied in cash of HK$42.5 million payable to
the Vendor or its nominee(s). The related restructuring exercise of
AK Suzhou is still in progress, and a supplemental agreement has
been signed to extend the completion of the AK Acquisition. Such
completion is targeted to be in or before August 2015.

Frame Sharp is an investment holding company incorporated in
the BVI with limited liability, which will acquire the entire right of the
control, economic interests and benefits of AK Suzhou and has
de facto 100% ownership in AK Suzhou through the contractual
arrangements upon completion of the restructuring exercise. AK
Suzhou focuses on providing services and equipment for cell and
stem cell related clinical applications in the PRC.

# for identification only

2014 /2015 F3f PEBLEELEEFRAG

S5 el e (%)

BAAH

ARABZEBTRODEERFREMT
4,679,300,000 % Z 4 16,442,180,000 % - 11t A&
A (1) ph U KR E 8L B 17 252,000,000 BT
B R BNEEZER -

BIIE JEL i

AEBNEBRRS  EENBBEIBZUARER
ABILAHE - EFRAAKEZINERBRER -

B AR

ARBIREER-_ZE—RF—A=Z+BH8T2K
REFRIAE _E#ER QT ETEA [China Bio-Med
Regeneration Technology Limited A B 4 ¥ &8 £
BAERFEERRAR] EA [China Regenerative
Medicine International Limited A B0 75 4 &8 E3E R
BRAA]] -

ol g 2 ) M Sk g > ] - R WU B
R

R-ZZE—AF—ANR  ARRZEMBRRL
MEEFRAG ([BEH]) - EhHERT ([#Ek
T R—Z2BIYE=F([EH])TIE=EH
FoOBRYE O BFEREREAEFBEA MEAS
A & 14 [ B 1 & Frame Sharp Limited ( [ Frame
Sharp| ) 5% 82.353% i1 + BI B G REBEMR
AR T EREM RS (BIMN) EWRITAR AR
([EglERM ] ) 70% ixkE ([RIWIESEIE] ) - K
842,500,000 BT UNIRE I FEHKERE
A BYEMNZ ABAREEANEETH KB
B EED AR BEEETK - WEHR
—E-RAENARZATEK

Frame Sharp &— IR KB R L BT Z
REEBRBRAR REEEAZTKNEBERSE
RSB ERMN T BTG - &S A
o WEBREARIYEMN100% 2 HAEE - Bl
BR N EE R P B IR LA BB K B A B AR B R R B R
2 BRI A o




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B v i e 0T

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
(Cont’d)

Details of AK Acquisition was disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 January 2015.

On 12 March 2015, the Purchaser, the Vendor and Prof. Cui entered
into another sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase from the Vendor, and the
Vendor conditionally agreed to dispose of 70% of the equity interest
of Passion Stream Limited (“Passion Stream”), which effectively
represents 70% equity interest of KEF LY TIEZAR AR (Tianjin
Weikai Bioeng Ltd.") (“Tianjin Weikai”) (“Weikai Acquisition”).

The Weikai Acquisition was completed on 21 April 2015. Total
consideration had been satisfied (i) in cash of HK$6.9 million and (i)
the issue of 252,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
issued share capital of the Company at the issue price of HK$0.25
per share payable to the Vendor upon completion and under the
general mandate granted to the Directors at the Company’s annual
general meeting held on 27 October 2014. The fair value of the newly
issued shares of the Company, determined using the closing price of
HK$0.56 per share quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 21
April 2015, amounted to HK$141,120,000. Following the completion
of the Weikai Acquisition, Passion Stream and its subsidiaries
(including Tianjin Weikai) have become indirect 70% owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

Passion Stream is an investment holding company incorporated
in the BVI with limited liability, which has the entire right of the
control, economic interests and benefits of Tianjin Weikai and has
de facto 100% ownership in Tianjin Weikai through the contractual
arrangements. Tianjin Weikai is a company incorporated in the PRC
to engage in the business of designs and manufacturing of pre-clinical
cell and stem cell related equipment, especially in 3D cell culture bio-
reactors and their related consumables, as well as providing contract
research (CRO) services.

Details of the WeiKai Acquisition were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 12 March 2015 and 21 April 2015.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the year.
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CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

On 9 January 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire up to 82.353% equity interest of Frame Sharp
Limited, which effectively represents 70% equity interest of 28l (&%
M) I ARAR], at the consideration of HK$42.5 million. This
acquisition is subject to certain conditions stated in the sale and
purchase agreement and not yet completed up to the report date.

The Company signed two sponsorship agreements with the University
of Oxford for the research of stem cell therapy and tissue engineering.
The Company agreed to provide GBP9 million (equivalent to HK$107
million) to the University of Oxford by instalments over the period
covered by agreements. Up to 30 April 2015, the Company has
paid GBP1.5 million (equivalent to HK$18 million) to the University of
Oxford.

CHARGES ON ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 30 April 2015, bank loans of HK$59.03 million are secured
by the Group’s property, plant and equipment and land use rights
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$90.00 million (2014:
HK$91.23 million) and HK$4.90 million (2014: HK$4.98 million)
respectively, and the Group’s pledged deposits of HK$22.62 million
(2014: Nil).

As at 30 April 2015, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2014: Nil).

DETAILS OF FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed above, the Directors do not have any plans for
material investment or capital assets in the near future.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 April 2015, the Group had 414 (2014: 352) employees
located in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As an equal opportunity
employer, the Group’s remuneration and bonus policies are
determined with reference to the performance and experience of
individual employees. The total amount of employee remuneration
(including that of the Directors and retirement benefits scheme
contributions) of the Group for the year was approximately HK$66.37
million (2014: HK$40.81 million).

In addition, the Group may offer options to employees as a
recognition of and reward for their efforts and contributions to the
Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

5 RAT BRI

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dai Yumin (“Mr. Dai”), aged 54, is an executive Director.
Mr. Dai joined the Group in March 2009 and was appointed
as authorised representative and compliance officer of the
Company in the same year. He also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, he is an executive Director
of E-Rental Car Company Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1822).
Mr. Dai holds a bachelor degree in Finance. Currently, he is a director
of the Company’s substantial shareholder, namely All Favour Holdings
Limited.

Ms. Wang Yurong (“Ms. Wang”), aged 53, is an executive
Director. Ms. Wang joined the Group in May 2013. She also holds
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Currently,
Ms. Wang is a director of the Company’s substantial shareholder,
namely China Sheng Rong Investment Holding Limited. She
graduated from Harbin University of Commerce with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics. Ms. Wang previously worked for Harbin,
Heilongjiang Province Bureau of Statistics, and had held various
positions in or taken charge of different divisions including industrial
council, social affairs, human resources and education department.
After then, she worked for the Human Resources Department of
the Bank of China Beijing Branch Office. After having been working
for different divisions within the government agency and large
state-owned enterprise, Ms. Wang accumulated nearly 20 years of
extensive experience and knowledge in macroeconomic analysis,
social research, human resources management and training. She
was a partner and director of companies which engaged in clothing
& apparel businesses, and in agricultural science & technology areas.
Ms. Wang has strong leadership capabilities and good experience in
brand designing, external collaboration, business planning, marketing
network development and management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Sai Hung (“Mr. Wong”), aged 60, is a non-executive
Director and the Chairman. Mr. Wong joined the Group in June 2008
as non-executive Director. He had been re-designated as executive
Director between August 2012 and April 2013, as the Vice Chairman
between July 2009 to August 2012 and May 2013 to July 2014.
Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
Higher Diploma in Business Studies (Marketing). Currently, he is an
independent non-executive director of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 388), Ping An Insurance
(Group) Company of China, Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2318) and
JPMorgan Chinese Investment Trust plc (an investment trust listed
on the London Stock Exchange); a non-executive director of Credit
China Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8207) and a
director of One Asset Management Limited (a company incorporated
in Thailand). Previously, Mr. Wong was an executive director of LW
Asset Management Advisors Limited; a non-executive director of ARN
Investment SICAV (an investment company listed on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange) and ARN Asian Enterprise Fund Limited (formerly
listed on the Irish Stock Exchange); the chief executive officer and an
executive director of ICBC (Asia) Investment Management Company
Limited; the chief executive director of BOCI Prudential Asset
Management Limited and a regional managing director of Prudential
Portfolio Managers Asia.

Professor Deng Shaoping (“Prof. Deng”), aged 54, is a non-
executive Director. Prof. Deng joined our Group in May 2013, and had
been as Chairman between May 2013 and July 2014. He graduated
from Chongaging Medical University Department of Medicine in 1983,
and commenced his work at the Sichuan Provincial People’s Hospital
the same year. In 1990, while having served as an attending doctor
in the Hepatobiliary Surgery Division, Prof. Deng was designated and
engaged in clinical and research work in transplantation field of the
University of Geneva, Switzerland. During the period in Switzerland,
he was awarded the Swiss Federal Scholarship and received his
Doctor Degree of Medicine. In 1995, Prof. Deng had been transferred
to the University of Pennsylvania for post-doctoral research work, and
was awarded U.S. Organ Transplant Outstanding Young Scientific
Research Awards for four times. During 1999 to 2000, he engaged
in islet transplantation and xenotransplantation clinical and basic
research at the Surgical Transplant Center of the University of Western
Ontario, Canada. In 2000, Prof. Deng returned to the Surgical
Transplant Centers of the University of Pennsylvania and took charge
of setting up the islet transplantation laboratory and the subsequent
clinical and research development, and successfully established a
new pilot project for islet transplantation in the treatment of diabetes.
In 2007, he was invited to the Massachusetts General Hospital for the
establishment of a new islet transplant center and was responsible
for new projects of islet transplantation carrying out in three affiliated
hospitals of the Harvard Medical School.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

During his clinical and research work in organ transplantation in
Europe and the United States, Prof. Deng published more than 100
research papers on high-profile scientific journals and served as a
guest judge on multiple authoritative professional journals. He was
frequently invited to present specific reports in international academic
forums, and was invited by the well-known institutions to return to
China as a visiting professor for academic exchanges. Prof. Deng has
sound and valuable experience in clinical and experimental aspect in
respect to transplantation immunology, xenotransplantation, biology
of induced immunological tolerance, islet cell transplantation. He
was well recognised as one of the academic authorities in organ
transplantation, especially in islet transplantation for the treatment of
diabetes. Prof. Deng has also made outstanding contributions to the
basic research in transplant immunology, particularly on cellular and
molecular mechanisms of anti-CD45RB induced tolerance research
and his research is at the leading-edge of international standard.

At the end of 2008, China had launched the Recruitment Program
of Global Experts “Thousand Talents Program”, with the Sichuan
Province being one of the first comers to make the debut of the
“Hundred Talents Program”. Prof. Deng was the first person to be
introduced in this “Hundred Talents Program” in Sichuan and thus
in 2009, he formally returned to China to act as vice president of
Sichuan Academy of Medical Sciences & Sichuan Provincial People’s
Hospital, and the director of its Institute of Organ Transplantation.
After then, Prof. Deng has become the president of Sichuan Academy
of Medical Sciences & Sichuan Provincial People’s Hospital.

In recent years, Prof. Deng and his research team has obtained
dozen subsidises from National Natural Science Foundation and the
provincial and municipal scientific funds for carrying out a series of a
combination of basic research and clinical work, and has published
a number of authoritative research papers which attract widespread
global and domestic attention.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Mr. Cao Fushun (“Mr. Cao”), aged 52, is a non-executive
Director. Mr. Cao joined the Group in June 2014. Currently, he is a
director of the Company’s substantial shareholders, namely Gold
Fortune Profits Limited. He graduated from the Heilongjiang Radio
& TV University, major in Industrial and Civil Construction. Mr. Cao
had been a Committee Member of the Ninth, Tenth and Eleventh
Heilongjiang Provincial Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”). He had been awarded the titles
of “Heilongjiang the Fourth of the Outstanding Entrepreneurs” and
“Heilongjiang Provincial Reform One Hundred Outstanding Figures”.
Mr. Cao is the founder of Heilongjiang Fortune Group which has
been established since 1998 and engaged in various industries
such as investment, real estate, hotel and small loans financing.
He has extensive experience in investment, corporation and capital
management. Currently, Mr. Cao also serves as the chairman of
the board of Heilongjiang Fortune Investment Management Group
Limited.

Mr. Yang Zhengguo (“Mr. Yang”), aged 56, is a non-executive
Director. Mr. Yang joined the Group in March 2010 as executive
Director. In May 2013, he was re-designated as non-executive
Director. Mr. Yang was a Standing Committee Member of the Eighth
Shaanxi Provincial Committee of CPPCC (PRPE& B /\EEZ) in
1998, a Standing Committee Member of the Ninth Shaanxi Provincial
Committee of CPPCC (PR 78 & B % 58 )1 @ & Z&) in 2003, and a
Committee Member of Yulin Shaanxi Provincial Committee of CPPCC
(PR B BT Z &) in 2000. He was also a Standing Committee
Member of the Shaanxi Federation of Industry & Commerce (PRFEE
TEBAEEZE)in 2002 and has become the vice-chairman since
2012. Since 2008, Mr. Yang has been as a representative of the 11th
and 12th National People’s Congress of Shaanxi Province (Bt 78 &
%£+— + =& A KK RK). He has involved in various industries,
including trading, logistics, catering, real estate development, the
research, development and production of high-tech products, and is
well experienced in investment management, corporate management
and capital funding.

Mr. Wang Jianjun (“Mr. Wang”), aged 56, is a non-executive
Director. Mr. Wang joined the Group in May 2013. He graduated in
1982 with a BA Economics Degree from the Northeast University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC. After graduation, Mr. Wang
worked for the China Council for the Promotion of International
Trade in Beijing. In 1988, he attained his MBA Degree from Durham
University Business School in the United Kingdom. From 1989 to
1999, Mr. Wang worked for China Resources Group in Hong Kong.
In 1999, he joined Shenzhen Xingtuo Industry and Trading Company
as General Manager. In 2003, Mr. Wang was appointed as General
Manager of China Hualu Electronic Import & Export Corp. Since
2006, he has been the director of Mosaic (Beijing) Investment Fund
Management Co. Limited. Mr. Wang has many years of investment
and management experience.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lui Tin Nang (“Mr. Lui”), aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is also the chairman of audit committee and
nomination committee, and a member of remuneration committee
of the Company. Mr. Lui joined the Group in September 2004. He
obtained a Bachelor Degree in Science from the University of Leeds
and a Master degree in Business Administration from the University
of Bradford in United Kingdom, and a Postgraduate Diploma in
insolvency from Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the HKICPA (Practising), the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and The Society of Chinese Accountants
and Auditors. He is also a member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountant, Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Australia and the Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lui has years of
experience in accounting, auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
business advisory. He was an independent non-executive director of
Vital Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited, now known as CGN Mining
Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1164) and National Investments
Fund Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1227). Mr. Lui is currently
an independent non-executive director of Birilliant Circle Holdings
International Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1008) and Noble House (China)
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8246).

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny (“Mr. Pang”), aged 42, is an
independent non-executive Director. He is also the chairman of
remuneration committee (appointed on 23 March 2015), a member
of the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Pang joined the Group in September 2012. He is the managing
partner of Messrs. Pang & Co., in association with Loeb & Loeb LLP.
Between 1997 and 2009, Mr. Pang practiced as a lawyer with several
international law firms in Hong Kong and Sydney. He received his
Bachelor degree in Laws with honours from Bond University, Australia,
in 1996. In 1997, Mr. Pang obtained his Graduate Diploma in Legal
Practice and Master Degree in Laws from The College of Law, Sydney
and the University of New South Wales, Australia, respectively. He
has been admitted as a legal practitioner of the Supreme Court of
New South Wales, Australia since 1997 and as a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong since 2009. Mr. Pang is a member of both the
Law Society of New South Wales, Australia and the Law Society of
Hong Kong. He is currently an independent non-executive director
of Yuanda China Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2789), and
Goldenmars Technology Holdings Limited (the shares of which are
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8036).

W JE AT E S

BREXE([BXRE]) 57 REIIENT
EE - RARARABRZEERREREESE
B URFHMEEENE - afER ST NF
JLAMBARER - FEYSZEE University of Leeds
¥ E 4 B4y - 5B University of Bradford T i &
BETECRBEASSHMAS (BB
)BREEENE e tEREAGHMANRE
(B%) AEHERERFTSFMAE - BF
MEB2eRBEAEAGHAAGE 2 EFEE -
BRIEFTEESTMBPESE  RIMNSFTAD
NEGERBEBTMBKEE - 2EERGH &
%P CEREREBBASIEREESF
K B ABRBEITRERAT (RBEHE
BREEBRAT) (ERMDPERZMERLT - K&
MR 1164) REIRERERSBR AR (AR
MDREERFTER LT - RO - 1227) 2B
FRTEF - L EBRAIAEBRIERBBEERA
A (ARG PR B FTER LT - IRDRSE : 1008)
REE (FE) ERER AR (ERGRE A
ERET  BRIDNRIE - 8246) 2B IEHITES -

EHEEE ([HAE]) 425 BBILEHR
TEZ - WNBARRFHZESGER (R=2Z
—AFZA-+=-HEZT)  BEXRZTEGRIE
ZRECLE TAER-T——FNAMBER
&£ E - % A Messrs. Pang & Co. BB R F 5
I ERMMEREAEA - R—AhLEtFE-ZZT
NEM - ZEAEREEREELZREKREAMER
FTVEAZERM - R — NN NFRENBAF R
HERE BEEESLEEBELEN - R—H N+
F ERAEREBREZER KRR EH B
KBS BER A ENERRRE RN EREE
B - FR— NN EFERAF T HEE B
R AR ARERMN  YTRZZZThFES
BEELRRA BBISEM - ZAERBRAFTE
FERRTEMAgkEBEZMENKE - KH
FRAFBEIZERAR A F (ERMD IR AT ER
EW BRDARSE:2789) RE&GRIFRERER
ANE) (ERDREERATAIZER BT - RGO ARSE:
8036) 2B IFHITES ©

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

3 RAT R

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

Mr. Chan Bing Woon, SBS, JP, (“Mr. Chan”), aged 70, is an
independent non-executive Director. He is also a member of the audit
committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Chan joined the Group in March 2014. Mr. Chan
is a consultant of Yung, Yu, Yuen & Co., Solicitors and Notaries. He
has about 40 years experience in the legal profession. Mr. Chan has
been involved in numerous public duties including being Advisor of
the Joint Mediation Helpline Office. He is also a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, a council member of the Hong Kong
Society of Notaries, a general accredited mediator of Hong Kong
International Arbitration Centre and the Law of Society of Hong Kong,
and the Chairman of the Hospital Governing Committee of Castle
Peak Hospital and Siu Lam Hospital. Mr. Chan was a member of the
Hospital Authority and a past Chairman of the Hong Kong Mediation
Council. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 306).

Mr. Wang Hui (“Mr. Wang”), aged 57, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is also a member of the audit committee,
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang joined the Group in June 2015. Mr. Wang is currently the
CEO of First China Capital, Inc. (“FCC”), the Committee Member
of China Society of Economic Reform and the Governor of Pardee
RAND Graduate School of US RAND Corporation (“RAND”). Mr.
Wang acquires financial and economic knowledge, and has extensive
experience in mergers and acquisitions. Led by Mr. Wang, FCC
provides financial advisory services in mergers and acquisitions,
strategic alliance specifically for Chinese and foreign corporates.
Over the past two decades, FCC served as the financial advisor to
Morgan Stanley, UBS, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, China’s
banks and other financial and business institutions, and some of the
successful transactions, such as UBS acquiring Beijing Securities,
are considered as landmarks in the industry. From 1988 to 1993,
Mr. Wang conducted research at RAND (a non-profit international
research institution), and then became the adjunct researcher of
RAND for a long time. From 1986 to 1988, Mr. Wang was the
Assistant to President of China Institute of Economic Reform, during
the period he completed a research report concerning new economic
order with contract as core and it led to a national reform policy. Mr.
Wang has published more than 20 academic works over the years.
Mr. Wang holds a Master of Economics from China Academy of
Social Sciences and a Ph.D. in Policy Analysis from Pardee RAND
Graduate School.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Shao Zhengkang (“Mr. Shao”), aged 62, is the chief executive
officer. Mr. Shao joined the Company in May 2013 as the general
manager and was appointed as chief executive officer in September
2013. He also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Shao has 10 years’ experience in bio-medical industry.
Prior to joining the Company, he had been the director and the
general manager of a biomedical technology company in the PRC.
From 1999 to 2002, He was an executive director and the general
manager of China Everbright Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 165).
During the period, Mr. Shao also served as non-executive director of
several companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Before joining the Everbright Group, He was a deputy chief of the
International Department of the People’s Bank of China’s Head Office,
and as an economist of the Asia office of International Monetary Fund.
Mr. Shao holds a Bachelor’s degree in Arts from Shanghai Institute of
Foreign Languages, China. He has also obtained a Master’s degree
in Business Administration from the George Washington University,
U.S.A. and a Doctorate’s degree from the International Management
Centre, U.K.. Mr. Shao possesses over 30 years’ experience in
banking, corporate finance, treasury business development and
corporate management.

PR

BEESE ([BEE])
BEER-E

" B25%  BITHBUABH
—=FRAMBARRA RBLEE

ﬁ%:%—zihﬂﬁé&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁoﬁﬁﬁ
$®ﬁ%$%%uﬂ2%$°%%imiwﬁ“

TEBETFNLR - BRMAXRBRER—
R EAEYE Eﬂ& TZi%%&%ﬁ i
—NMNNFE-_ZZ_FH - BEERPEAKX

ERARA T(kaﬁ ERXFTERET OB
RIR:165) CHITESRBLAIE - LU HAM -
AL EEABREBERLEMARINIERITE
FoMAXLKEER  BEABTRARRITE
ﬁl@ﬂ%ﬁ%&l@f%%%@%ﬁ%%%@
o BBLAEFEPE LGINH BB X2

iz~ EE mmﬁﬁﬁxﬂiﬁa@%iﬂu&
BEEREEEREES LI - L EHFRB
=+FEMRT DERE  UF - ERBERED
EEIRKE

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. The Group believes that high standard of
corporate governance provides a framework and solid foundation for
achieving, attracting and retaining the high standard and quality of the
Group’s management, promoting high standards of sound internal
control, accountability and transparency to all shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) and also meeting the expectations of the
Group’s various stakeholders.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
contained in the Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Corporate
Governance Code”) throughout the year ended 30 April 2015, with
the exception of the followings:

i) Under code provision A.6.7 of the Corporate Governance
Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders. A non-executive Director, Mr. Ma
Long, did not attend the Company’s annual general meeting
held on 27 October 2014 (the “AGM”) due to his engagement
in other business commitment. Other Board members,
including members of the audit, remuneration and nomination
committees, attended the AGM and made themselves available
to answer questions to ensure effective communication with the
shareholders of the Company;

ii) Under Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
is required to appoint independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the members of the
Board. Following the resignation of Mr. Chan Wing Hang, an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 23 March
2015, the Company had only three independent non-executive
Directors, in which case the Company fell below the requirement
of Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. However, the Company
has made its best endeavours to identify a suitable candidate
to fill the casual vacancy for the positions of independent non-
executive director within three months pursuant to Rule 5.06
of the GEM Listing Rules. On 18 June 2015, Mr. Wang Hui
(“Mr. Wang”) was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director by the Board. Following the appointment of Mr. Wang
as independent non-executive Director, the Company has fully
complied with the requirement of Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules; and
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Cont’d)

i)

On 28 April 2015, the Company was informed by Mr. Cao
Fushun (“Mr. Cao”), a non-executive Director that he, through
his controlled corporation, Gold Fortune Profits Limited, had
sold a total of 8,885,000 shares (“Shares”) of the Company
on 23 April 2015 and 24 April 2015. Prior to the said dealings
of the Shares, Mr. Cao had neither notified in writing to the
chairman (the “Chairman”) of the Board nor received a dated
written acknowledgement from the Chairman approving the
said dealings. Accordingly, Mr. Cao was in breach of the Rule
5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules and “the required standard of
dealings and procedures for Directors” (“Standard Dealing for
Directors”) established by the Company.

Subsequently, the Company received a letter from Mr. Cao,
in which he admitted his non-compliance of Rule 5.61 of
the GEM Listing Rules and stated that the reason for non-
compliance was due to the management fault of Gold Fortune
Profits Limited. The Company was informed that Mr. Cao had
committed to participate trainings related to the relevant GEM
Listing Rules and will comply with the relevant GEM Listing
Rules and the Company’s Standard Dealing for Directors and
make appropriate disclosure when dealing with the securities of
the Company in the future.

The Company had reported to the Stock Exchange after
occurrence of the incident, and had immediately taken
remedial action by reminding Directors of their obligations and
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s
Standard Dealing for Directors when dealing in the securities of
the Company, and by arranging continuous training for Directors
to avoid occurrence of similar events in the future.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is charged with the duty to put in place a proper corporate
governance structure of the Company. It is primarily responsible for
setting directions, formulating strategies, monitoring performance and
managing risks of the Group. Under the Board, there are currently
3 subcommittees, namely audit committee (“Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”) and nomination
committee (“Nomination Committee”). All these committees perform
their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms of
reference and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of the
senior management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition and Board Practices

The Board is responsible to the Shareholders for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company and its businesses by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Details of the membership of the
Board together with their roles and functions are posted on the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website and such information shall be
updated as soon as practicable whenever there are changes.

The composition of the Board reflects a balance of skills and
experience desirable for an effective leadership of the Company.

As at this financial year ended 30 April 2015, the Board was
comprised of ten Directors, including two executive Directors; five
non-executive Directors, and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Subsequent to this financial year, on 18 June 2015, an independent
non-executive Director was appointed by the Board. Members of the
Board have then been increased to eleven.

Given below are names of the Directors at present:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dai Yumin
Ms. Wang Yurong

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Sai Hung
Prof. Deng Shaoping
Mr. Cao Fushun

Mr. Yang Zhengguo

Mr. Wang Jianjun

(Chairman of the Board)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lui Tin Nang (chairman of the Audit and
Nomination Committee and
member of the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny  (chairman of Remuneration Committee
and member of the Audit and
Nomination Committee)

(member of the Audit, Nomination and
Remuneration Committee)

(member of the Audit, Nomination and
Remuneration Committeg)

Mr. Chan Bing Woon

Mr. Wang Hui
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont’d)

Biographical details of each director are set out in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Chief Executive” on pages 26
to 32 of this annual report.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship amongst the Directors.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group.
The principle functions of the Board are to:

° establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

° determine the broad policies, strategies and objectives of the
Group;

° approve annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment
and divestment proposals;

° oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy and integrity
of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and
compliance;

° approve the nominations of Directors by Nomination Committee
and appointment of external auditors;

° ensure accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and
communication with Shareholders;

° monitor and manage potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and Shareholders, including
misuse of corporate assets and abuse in related party
transactions; and

° assume responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board delegates day-to-day management, administration
and operations of the Group to the executive Directors and
senior management, while reserving certain key matters for its
approval. The management is responsible for the implementation
of the Company’s strategies and policies, while the progress and
development are periodically reviewed by Directors. During this
financial year, the management provided all members of the Board
with monthly management updates (“Monthly Management Updates”)
in accordance with the code provision C.1.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The Monthly Management Updates contained
latest financials with summaries of key events of the Group, giving
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont’d)

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
the boardroom and has adopted the board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board.

The Board has set measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee has primary
responsibility for identifying and giving recommendation suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate Board decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year, Mr. Chan Wing Hang (“Mr. Chan”) had been
appointed as the group financial controller of the Company on
23 March 2015. As a result, Mr. Chan considered that he would
cease to be independent for the purpose of Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Therefore, Mr. Chan tendered his resignation as an
independent non-executive Director. He also resigned as a chairman
of the Remuneration Committee, a member of Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee.

The Company has made its best endeavours to identify a suitable
candidate to fill the casual vacancy for the positions of independent
non-executive Director within three months pursuant to Rules 5.06 of
the GEM Listing Rules, and subsequent to this financial year, on 18
June 2015, as nominated by the Nomination Committee, Mr. Wang
Hui (“Mr. Wang”) was appointed by the Board to act as independent
non-executive Director, as well as a member of Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Wang
acquires financial and economic knowledge, and has extensive
experience in mergers and acquisitions, which will provide a broader
range of experience to the Board, and the Board believes that the
appointment of Mr. Wang is in the best interests to the Company.

The Board has also regularly reviewed the contribution of each
Director as to whether the Director is spending sufficient time to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Board.

Since January 2015, the Company had not been able to get in
contact with Mr. Ma Long (“Mr. Ma”), the non-executive Director for a
consecutive period of more than 3 months.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont’d)

The Board considered that Mr. Ma had failed to perform his duties by
giving sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company as a
Director. A written notice (the “Notice”) to remove Mr. Ma from a non-
executive Director (the “Position”) was issued on 14 April 2015 and
was signed by ten Directors, being more than three-fourths of the
total of eleven Directors then in office, constituted valid notice under
and for the purposes of Article 106(vi) of the articles of association
of the Company, and the Board passed a resolution that Mr. Ma be
removed from his Position with effect from 14 April 2015.

The Board considers that the current composition of the Board, with
a mix of gender and core competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management, medical science, legal
profession, marketing management and mergers and acquisitions,
appropriates to effectively lead the Board and the requirement of the
business of the Company. The Board will review its composition from
time to time taking into consideration of the specific needs for the
overall Company and its subsidiaries’ business.

Thoughtout most of this financial year, there were four independent
non-executive Directors so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board to exercise independent judgment and of
sufficient caliber and number for their views to carry weight. Amongst
them, at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors have the same duties of
care and skill and fiduciary duties as the Executive Directors. Their
functions include, but not limited to:

° participating in Board meetings to bring in independent
judgment to bear on issues of corporate strategy, corporate
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standard of conducts;

° taking the lead when potential conflicts of interests arise;

° serving on Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, if invited; and

° scrutinising the Group’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of
performance.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors of their independence to
the Company. The Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont’d)

The Board schedules four meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals and will be met as necessary. The Directors can
attend meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association. Notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular Board
meeting to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notice time is generally given.
During this financial year, the Board held twelve meetings, of which 4
were regular meetings. The following table shows the attendance of
individual Directors at the meetings held during the year:

EHE (M)
HEGL AR EFETHH ()

EEeEELHERERE  ANEBFHT—R
YTHRNEFERBTEH EFURAREBN
AAABERARAAFCEMEFBAT AL
Fe# -  ARABEEHEFTEEHRARI TH
R RAMBEEHLEN FHAKEGHLFS
o HMEFEMZE SR RENAERRE
ZHBH RAMBEERE  EFGHBTT K
% HEPOAREHER - TREJIENES
FALFEHRZBER -

Attendance/ Attendance/

Number of Number of

General Meeting Board Meetings

entitled entitled

to attend to attend

Name of Directors EE# % HE/ BRLE HE/ BRLE
(From 1 May 2014 to 30 April 2015) (ZZ—MEh A—BZE-T-hEMA=+ R ) BRRAEHE Exee3uE
Cao Funshun (appointed on 19 June 2014) ERIE (R=F—mFENAT/IAEZE) 1/3 7/11
Chan Bing Woon BRI 3/3 10/12
Chan Wing Hang (resigned on 23 March 2015)  BRX1E (R -F—AF=F -+ =HFL) 3/3 10/10
Dai Yumin HEH 3/3 12/12
Deng Shaoping AT 1/3 10/12
Lui Tin Nang SN2 2/3 11/12
Ma Long (removed from 14 April 2015) B (R=ZF—AFHA1+HARESR) 0/3 5/12
Pang Chung Fai Benny wHE 2/3 12/12
Wang Hui (appointed on 18 June 2015) IR (R=F—"F AT/ HEZF) N/A T N/A T
Wang Jianjun IgE 2/3 8/12
Wang Yurong ITEZ 1/3 11/12
Wong Sai Hung gL 3/3 11/12
Yang Zhengguo BIEE 1/3 12/12

According to the code provision A.2.7 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the chairman should at least annually hold meeting with the
non-executive directors without the executive directors present.
During this financial year, the Chairman had held one meeting with the
non-executive Directors without the executive Directors present.

Board papers are circulated at least 3 days (or other agreed period)
before the regular Board meetings and/or other Board/Committees
meetings to enable the Directors to make informed decisions on
matters to be raised at the Board meetings. In addition, the Company
has maintained a procedure for the Directors to seek independent
professional advice, in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense in discharging their duties to the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont’d)

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
prepares minutes and/or written resolutions and keeps records of
matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board meetings.
The Company Secretary also keeps the minutes, which are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.

Continuing Professional Development

The Company Secretary is responsible for updating the Board on
governance and regulatory matters.

Training will be given to newly appointed director to his/her individual
needs. This includes introduction to the Group business activities,
their responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements.

The Company will arrange and/or introduce some Director’s training
courses and/or reading materials for them to develop and explore
their knowledge and skills.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance
Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills,
ensuring that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. During this financial year, all Directors participated in
continuous professional development and had provided the Company
with records (if any) on their participation. The individual training
record of each Director for this financial year is set out below.

Directors and Types of continuous professional development
programmes

Cao Fushun (appointed on 19 June 2014) B, C
Chan Bing Woon A B, C
Chan Wing Hang (resigned on 23 March 2015) N/A
Dai Yumin B,C
Deng Shaoping B, C
Lui Tin Nang A B, C
Ma Long (removed from 14 April 2015) N/A
Pang Chung Fai Benny A B, C
Wang Hui (appointed on 18 June 2015) N/A
Wang Jianjun A, C
Wang Yurong B, C
Wong Sai Hung A B,C
Yang Zhengguo B,C
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Continuing Professional Development (Cont’d)

A attending seminars/meetings/forums/conferences/courses/workshops
organized by professional bodies or regulatories

B: reading journals/newsletters/seminar materials/publications/magazines

C: reading memoranda issued or materials provided by the Company

All information and materials aforesaid relating, but not limited to the
latest development of the GEM Listing Rules, other applicable legal
and regulatory matters as well as directors’ duties and responsibilities.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities of the Directors that may arise out of the corporate activities,
which is in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Appointment, Election and Re-election

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. It reviews the profiles of the candidates
and makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
nomination and retirement of the Directors.

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once in every three years. The Directors who will
retire at the annual general meeting of the Company shall be those
appointed by the Board during the year and those who have been
longest in office since their last election or re-election.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The following sets out the responsibilities for the Directors in relation
to the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements.

Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which gives a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the quarterly,
interim and annual financial statements, and announcements
to Shareholders, the Directors aim to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
(Cont’d)

Accounting Policy

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements,
the Group uses appropriate accounting policies that are consistently
applied, and that all applicable accounting standards are followed.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and which enable the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards as promulgated by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent or detect
fraud and other irregularities.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the year, the roles of the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
and the chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEQ”) were
segregated and performed by different individuals.

On 17 July 2014, Prof. Deng Shaoping had tendered his resignation
as the Chairman with effect from 18 July 2014 to commit more time
to his medical work. Mr. Wong Sai Hung was re-designated from
Vice-Chairman to Chairman effective on the even day.

Mr. Shao Zhengkang has been as the CEO during this financial year.

The segregation of duties ensures a clear distinction between the
Chairman and the CEO responsibilities which allows a balance of
power between the Board and the management of the Group, and
ensures their independence and accountability. There is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship between the
Chairman and the CEO.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Cont’d)

Mr. Wong Sai Hung, as the Chairman with effect from 18 July 2014
and during this financial year, has overall taken the responsibility for
providing leadership for the Board. He ensures that:

° the Board functions effectively, and that all key and appropriate
issues are properly briefed and discussed by the Board in a
timely manner;

° the responsibilities for drawing up the agenda for each Board
meeting and, where appropriate, taking into account any
matters proposed by each Director for inclusion in the agenda;

o good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and encourages all Directors to make full and active
participation to the affairs of the Group; and

° the Board acts in the best interests of the Group.

Mr. Shao Zhengkang was responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attended to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumed full accountability to the
Board for all operations of the Group.

Mr. Shao possesses over 30 years’ experience in banking, corporate
finance, treasury, business development and corporate management.
He has given valuable experience and contribution to the Group.
Working with the management team of each core business division,
he ensures the smooth operations and development of the Group. He
maintains a continuing dialogue with the Chairman and all Directors
to keep them fully informed of all major business developments and
issues.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
the Board procedures are followed and for ensuring that the Board
is fully briefed on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regarded to them when making
decisions. The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for
the Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-
backs, Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures Ordinance and
other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

According to Rule 5.15 of GEM Listing Rules, in each financial year
an issuer’s company secretary must take no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training. During this financial year, the Company
Secretary has complied with the rule by participating over 15 hours of
relevant training courses and seminars.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to code provision A.5.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the Company has to set up a nomination committee with a
majority of the members thereof being independent non-executive
Directors. The Nomination Committee has been established since 22
July 2005 with written terms of reference which was revised on 15
March 2012 in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
On 28 March 2015, Mr. Chan Wing Hang was resigned as a member
of the Nomination Committee. On 18 June 2015, Mr. Wang Hui was
appointed by the Board as a member of the Nomination Committee.
Following the appointment of Mr. Wang Hui, the total members of
the Nomination Committee are four, comprising all independent non-
executive Directors, with Mr. Lui Tin Nang acting as the chairman.
The Nomination Committee is scheduled to meet at least once a year.
The quorum necessary for the transaction of business is two.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee has been
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The principal functions of the Nomination Committee include:

° to make recommendations to the Board on all new
appointments or re-appointments of Directors, the establishment
of a succession plan for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the CEO and the composition of the Board;

° to identify and nominate qualified individuals, subject to the
approval of the Board, to be additional Directors or to fill
vacancy in the Board as and when they arise;

° to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution by each Director to the Board;

o to review the Board structure, size, composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) and diversity as well as the
independent element of the Board on an annual basis and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° to develop the criteria for selection of Directors; and

° to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

The chairman of the Nomination Committee will report to the Board
on its proceedings and recommendations after each meeting.

During this financial year, two meetings of the Nomination Committee
were held to review and recommend the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board. Subsequent to this financial year, Mr. Wang
Hui (an independent non-executive Director) was nominated by the
Nomination Committee and was appointed by the Board. Altogether
the members of the Board bring a wide range of knowledge and
professions to the Board, which contributes to the effective direction
of the Company. The following table shows the attendance of
the members of Nomination Committee at the meetings of the
Nomination Committee held during the year:
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Number of

Meetings

entitled

to attend

Name of Nomination Committee Members {22 Z8E€HEH & HEBREE
(From 1 May 2014 to 30 April 2015) (ZZE—NFHA—HBE_F—HFMA=THHMH) 2E¥E
Chan Bing Woon [ yoapes 2/2
Chan Wing Hang (resigned from 23 March 2015) [RXIE (RZ-ZF—AF=H=+=HEF) 2/2
Lui Tin Nang (chairman of the Committee) BREe (RAEEEFE) 2/2
Pang Chung Fai Benny TR 2/2
Wang Hui (appointed on 18 June 2015) E18  (R=ZF—AFNA+/HEZF) N/A i A

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has to set up a
remuneration committee with a majority of the members thereof being
independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
has been established since 22 July 2005 with written terms of
reference which was revised on 15 March 2012 in compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code.

Following the resignation of Mr. Chan Wing Hang on 23 March 2015,
the total members of the Remuneration Committee were three. Until
18 June 2015, Mr. Wang Hui was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee. As a result, the total members are four,
comprising of all independent non-executive Directors. During this
financial year, Mr. Chan Wing Hang had been as a chairman of the
Remuneration Committee until his resignation on 23 March 2015, Mr.
Pang Chung Fai, Benny was immediately appointed by the Board and
becomes the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee has been
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the board’s corporate goals and
objectives.

° to recommend a fair and transparent framework of executive
remuneration for the Board and senior management of the
Company, including share option scheme, based on the
skill, knowledge, involvement in the Company’s affairs and
by reference to the Company’s performance and profitability,
as well as remuneration benchmark in the industry and the
prevailing market conditions;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits-in-kind, pension rights, and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the non-executive Directors.

No Directors can determine their own remuneration package. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee will report to the Board
on its proceedings and recommendations after each meeting. In
developing remuneration policies and making recommendation as
to the remuneration of the Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee takes into account of the corporate goals
and objectives of the Group as well as the performance of those
individual Directors and senior management.

The remuneration package of Directors and senior management
includes the following:

(a) Basic salary

The basic salary (inclusive of statutory employer contributions to
Provident Fund) for each Executive Director/ senior management
is recommended by the Remuneration Committee, taking into
account the performance of the individual, the inflation price
index and information from independent sources on the rates
of salary for similar jobs in a selected group of comparable
organisations.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Fees

Fees paid/payable to the Executive Directors are determined by
the Board after considering the individual’s relative performance
against the comparable organisations. The fees paid/payable to
the Non-Executive Directors takes into account factors such as
effort and time spent, and responsibilities of these Directors.

Bonus scheme

The Group operates a bonus scheme for all employees,
including the Executive Directors and senior management.
The criteria for the scheme is the level of profit achieved from
certain aspects of the Group’s business activities against
targets, together with an assessment of corporate and
individual’s performance during the year. Bonuses payable to
the Executive Directors/senior management are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board to ensure
alignment of their interests with those of Shareholders.

Benefits in kind

Other customary benefits (such as private medical cover) are
made available as appropriate.

Share options scheme

The Group operates a share option scheme for participants,
including Directors, senior management, employees, suppliers
and customers. The terms of the scheme are set out in note 34
to the financial statements. No share options under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 September
2011 were granted, outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised
at any time during the year ended 30 April 2015.

Directors’ emoluments comprise payments to the Directors by the
Company in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company. The amounts paid to each Director for the year ended 30
April 2015 are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

During this financial year, four meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to review the remuneration package of the
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Board and the senior management. The following table shows the JFIHFHMZEEE s K EFALHETMNEZESSHE 2
attendance of the members of Remuneration Committee at the  BJt :
meetings of the Remuneration Committee held during the year:
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
entitled
to attend
Name of Remuneration Committee Members M ZE K EH & HEBREE
(From 1 May 2014 to 30 April 2015) (ZE—NFRA—HAE-T—AFMNA=1+HHM) 2E¥E
Chan Bing Woon yapes 4/4
Chan Wing Hang (resigned from chairman of BRoxiE (R=ZF—aAF=-H=+=H 3/3
the Committee on HEAZEET/E)
23 March 2015)
Lui Tin Nang EPNIE 4/4
Pang Chung Fai Benny (appointed as chairman of ZHE (R=ZF—aF=-H=+=H 4/4
the Committee on BEERBAZESTE)
23 March 2015)
Wang Hui (appointed on 18 June 2015)  E¥E  (RZF—AFANAT/HEZ(F) N.A TE A
AUDIT COMMITTEE BEUEHY

According to the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has to establish
an audit committee comprising at least three members who must
be non-executive directors only, and the majority thereof must be
independent non-executive directors, at least one of whom must
have appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Audit Committee has been
established since 4 July 2001 with written terms of reference which
was revised on 15 March 2012 in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code.

Following the resignation of Mr. Chan Wing Hang on 23 March
2015, the total members of the Audit Committee were three until 18
June 2015, Mr. Wang Hui was appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee, as a result, the total members are four, comprising of all
independent non-executive Directors. During this financial year, Mr.
Lui Tin Nang has been as a chairman of the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont’d) FREEE ()

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee has been posted on  F1%Z B & 2 B 7 &0 & 5 70 B X P R AN A 7] 48
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal I °c BZZE & 2 X EBLEIE -

functions of the Audit Committee include:

° to consider and recommend the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditors;

° to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditors, any questions of resignation or dismissal of
external auditors;

o to review and monitor external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

° to discuss with external auditors the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

° to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditors to supply non-audit services and to make
recommendations on any measures for improvements to be
taken;

° to review the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports before submission
to the Board, focusing particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;
(i) major judgmental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting principles and standards;
and

(vij compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

o to review the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems and ensure that the management has
performed its duty to have an effective internal control system;

° to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

° to review the internal audit programme, ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

° to review the external auditors’ management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditors to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response and to ensure that the Board will
provide a timely response to the issues raised; and

° to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate into any
matter under the scope of its duties and the authority to obtain
independent professional advice. It is given full access to and
assistance from the management and reasonable resources to
discharge its duties properly.

During the financial year, the Audit Committee has met once with the
external auditors without the presence of the management.

The Group’s results for the three months ended 31 July 2014, six
months ended 31 October 2014, nine months ended 31 January
2015 and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 April 2015 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

During the financial year, four meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control of the Group. The following table shows the
attendance of the members of Audit Committee at the meetings of
the Audit Committee held during the year:
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Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

entitled

to attend

Name of Audit Committee Members B EZEEHEH H HE BREE
(From 1 May 2014 to 30 April 2015) (ZZ—NERA—HE-Z—AFNA=+HHH) gREA
Chan Bing Woon Eyoge 4/4
Chan Wing Hang (resigned on 23 March 2015) BoxE (R-E-AF=ZA-F=HFHF) 4/4
Lui Tin Nang (chairman of the Committee) axge (AZEE+E) 4/4
Pang Chung Fai Benny THE 4/4
Wang Hui (appointed on 18 June 2015) I8  (RoFE-—aFNA+HEZF) N/A TNEFA
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

Full minutes of the Audit Committee are kept by the Company
Secretary. Minutes are drafted and finalised in sufficient details and
are circulated to all members of the Audit Committee, as the case
may be, for their comments and records within reasonable time after
the conclusion of the meetings.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of HK$580,000 (2014: HK$530,000) was charged to the
Group’s for the year ended 30 April 2015 for the auditing services
by BDO Limited, the existing auditor of the Company who was
appointed on 13 December 2010. Fee for non-audit services provided
by BDO Limited during the year amounted to HK$650,000 (2014
HK$220,000) relating to proposed and potential acquisition.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

According to code provision D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company in accordance with the written terms of
reference adopted by the Board on 15 March 2012. The Board
shall have the following duties and responsibilities for performing the
corporate governance duties of the Company:

° to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
and disclosure in the corporate governance report in annual
report of the Company.

During this financial year, the Board has performed the above
corporate governance functions through discussion in the Board
meeting and by reviewing the Company’s policies and practices from
time to time in accordance with the legal and regulatory issues.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and
effective internal control system of the Group. The Group’s system of
internal control includes a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help the achievement of business objectives,
safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensure
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The system is
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted reviews of
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control. The Board,
through the review of the Audit Committee, based on the discussions
with the external auditors and based on the report prepared by the
internal auditor of the Company, is satisfied that the Group has fully
complied with the Code Provisions on internal controls during the
year under review as set forth in the Corporate Governance Code.

Organisational Structure and Reporting System

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The Division/Department Heads of each core business division is
accountable for the conduct and performance of each business in the
division within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and
the Board together, and report directly to the Board.

Authority and Control

The relevant executive Directors and senior management are
delegated with respective levels of authorities with regard to key
corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments.
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CODES AND POLICIES

Securities Dealing Code

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions as set out in the GEM Listing Rules as the
required standard for securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, each of the Directors, has
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standards
of dealings regarding securities transaction by the Directors as
set out on the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 30
April 2015, except Mr. Cao Fushun, the non-executive Director,
the non-compliance of which has been disclosed in the section of
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE” on page 34.

Code of Ethics

The Company adopts a Code of Ethics that applies to the
Company’s principal executive officer and senior financial officers
in the conduct and practice of financial management and lays
down the key principles that they shall follow and advocate, which
include honest and ethical conduct; full, fair, accurate, timely and
understandable disclosure; compliance with the GEM Listing Rules
and accounting standards and regulations; prompt internal reporting;
and accountability for adherence to the code. The Code of Ethics is
also intended to promote the ethical standards of all the employees,
officers and Directors in the workplace, and advocate high standards
of professional conduct and work performance.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

The Company values communication with Shareholders and
investors. The Company uses two-way communication channels to
account to Shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. Enquiries and suggestions from Shareholders or investors
are welcomed, and enquiries from Shareholders or investors may
be put to the Board through the following channels to the Company
Secretary:

1. By mail to the Company’s head office at 10th Floor, Dah Sing
Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By telephone at telephone number (852) 3966 8388;
3. By fax at fax number (852) 2802 0026; or

4. By email at info@crmi.hk
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (Cont’d)

The Company uses a number of formal communications channels
to account to Shareholders and investors for the performance of the
Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports; (i) the annual general meeting or extraordinary general
meeting providing a forum for Shareholders to raise comments and
exchanging views with the Board; (jii) updated and key information
of the Group available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering communication
channel between the Company and its Shareholders and investors;
and (v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its Shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a
regular basis information of the Group to Shareholders through the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports and/or dispatching
circular, notices, and other announcements.

The Company strives to take into consideration its Shareholders’
views and inputs, and address Shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which at
least 20 clear business days’ notice is given. The Chairman as well
as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, the Directors
are available to answer Shareholders’ questions on the Group’s
businesses at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code, the management will ensure the
external auditors to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditors’ report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence. All Shareholders have statutory rights to call for
extraordinary general meetings and put forward agenda items for
consideration by Shareholders.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (Cont’d)

According to the Company’s articles of association, general meetings
shall be convened on the written requisition of any two or more
Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. The poll will be conducted by
the share registrar of the Company and the results of the poll are
published on the Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s websites.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”) for
election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a
written notice (the “Notice”) at the Company’s head office in Hong
Kong at 10th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Notice (i) must include the personal
information of the Candidate as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules and his/her contact details; and (i) must be signed by
the Shareholder concerned including the information/documents to
verify the identity of the Shareholder and signed by the Candidate
indicating his/her willingness to be elected and consent of publication
of his/her personal data. The period for lodgement of the Notice shall
commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting. In order to ensure
the Shareholders have sufficient time to receive and consider the
proposal of election of the Candidate as a Director without adjourning
the general meeting, Shareholders are urged to submit and lodge the
Notice as soon as practicable, say at least 15 business days prior to
the date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

The Board has established a shareholders communication policy
on 15 March 2012 and will review it on a regular basis to ensure
its effectiveness to comply with the code provision E.1.4 of the
Corporate Governance Code.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website (www.crmi.hk) which includes the latest
information relating to the Group and its businesses.
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The Directors present to the Shareholders the Company’s annual
report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 April 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are engaged in research and development
of bio-medical and healthcare products, and medical techniques; the
provision of the production and sales of tissue engineering products
and its related by-products; as well as sales and distribution of
medical products and equipment.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2015 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 70.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 152.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

The Company reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at
30 April 2015 amounted to approximately HK$2,116,544,000 (2014:
HK$1,374,765,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 73 and note 31 to the financial statements,
respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Dai Yumin
Wang Yurong

Non-Executive Directors

Wong Sai Hung (Chairman) (re-designated from Vice-Chairman
to Chairman on 18 July 2014)
Deng Shaoping (resigned from Chairman on
18 July 2014)
Cao Fushun (appointed on 19 June 2014)
Yang Zhengguo
Ma Long (removed from 14 April 2015)
Wang Jianjun

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Lui Tin Nang
Chan Wing Hang (resigned on 23 March 2015)

Pang Chung Fai Benny
Chan Bing Woon
Wang Hui (appointed on 18 June 2015)

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Wang Yurong, Prof. Deng Shaoping, Mr. Wang
Jianjun and Mr. Lui Tin Nang shall retire from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

In accordance with article 99 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Wang Hui shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 32 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of two years commencing from the date
of appointment, renewable for successive terms of one year, until
terminated by either party serving not less than three months’ notice
in writing to the other.

Each of non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of two years commencing from the date of appointment. After
the expiry of the appointment letter(s), the Director(s) shall agree to
continue to hold office as a Director, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the articles and association of the Company. In the
event that the Director(s) is successfully re-elected at the conclusion
of the annual general meeting of the Company, the Director(s) shall
enter into a supplemental letter with the Company for continuation of
his/her appointment for a term of two years.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as those set out in note 36 to the financial statements and
under heading “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” below, none of
the Directors had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year were the
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or chief executive
of the Company or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights or benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS

As at 30 April 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”)), which were
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he or she was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to the required standards of dealings by
directors as referred to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,
or to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long Positions

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
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Aggregate long
position in

Approximate
percentage of

the shares and the issued
Name of Directors Capacity underlying shares share capital
%13 &% AE B8 AR 12 ERITRA
EEnE 54 BEt2HR BHAED
Dai Yumin (Note 1) Held by controlled corporation 4,445,320,319 27.04%
B2 (P5E1) BXEEERE
Wang Yurong (Note 2) Held by controlled corporation 1,200,000,000 7.30%
FEE (M7 2) BXEEERE
Cao Fushun (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation 991,115,000 6.03%
ERIE (H7E3) BXEEERE
Beneficial owner 22,220,000 0.13%
EnlEEA
Wong Sai Hung (Note 4) Interests held jointly with another person 30,000,000 0.18%
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[
2R
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DIR
INT

Notes:

1.

ECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
ERESTS (Cont’d)

All Favour Holdings Limited (“All Favour”) is beneficially owned as to (i)
40% by Nat-Ace Wood Industry Ltd. (formerly known as Forerunner
Technology Limited) (“Nat-Ace Wood Industry”) and 20% by Honour
Top Holdings Limited (“Honour Top”), both of which are wholly-owned
by Mr. Dai Yumin (“Mr. Dai”), an executive Director; and (i) 40% by Mr.
Hu Yonggang (“Mr. Hu”), respectively.

On 5 March 2015, the Company has granted to All Favour an option
(“Option”) which will carry a right to subscribe for up to 360,000,000
new shares of the Company at the initial exercise price of HK$0.25
per share (subject to adjustment) upon exercise of such Option by All
Favour.

By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Dai, Mr. Hu and Nat-Ace Wood Industry are
deemed to be interested in 4,085,320,319 shares of the Company held
by All Favour as at 30 April 2015. Assuming exercise of the Option in
full, All Favour shall hold 4,445,320,319 shares of the Company, by
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Dai, Mr. Hu and Nat-Ace Wood Industry shall be
deemed to be interested in 4,445,320,319 shares of the Company to
be held by All Favour.

The Company is informed by All Favour that it has pledged its interests
in 1,685,320,319 shares of the Company in favour of Optimus Prime
Management Ltd..

China Sheng Rong Investment Holding Limited (“Sheng Rong”) is
beneficially owned as to (i) 51% by Mr. Guan Baker Guo Liang (“Mr.
Guan”); and (i) 49% by Ms. Wang Yurong (“Ms. Wang”), an executive
Director. Mr. Guan and Ms. Wang are spouses. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Guan and Ms. Wang are deemed to be interested in 1,200,000,000
shares of the Company held by Sheng Rong.

The Company is informed by Sheng Rong that it has pledged its
interests in 1,200,000,000 shares of the Company in favour of Dundee
Greentech Limited.

Gold Fortune Profits Limited (“Gold Fortune”) is wholly owned by Mr.
Cao Fushun (“Mr. Cao”), a non-executive Director. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Cao is deemed to be interested in 991,115,000 shares of
the Company held by Gold Fortune. In addition, Mr. Cao personally
holds 22,220,000 shares of the Company and together with his
deemed interest in the shares held by Gold Fortune, by virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Cao is interested in 1,013,335,000 shares of the Company in
aggregate.

Mr. Wong Sai Hung (“Mr. Wong”) is a non-executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board. Mr. Wong’s interests are held jointly with his
spouse. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Wong and his spouse are deemed to
be interested in 30,000,000 shares of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS (Cont’d)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company or their respective associates (within the meaning of
GEM Listing Rules) had, as at 30 April 2015, any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which he or she was
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted
on 14 September 2011 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible employees of the Company.

No share options under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 14 September 2011 were granted, outstanding, lapsed,
cancelled or exercised at any time during the year ended 30 April
2015.

On 5 March 2015, pursuant to a placing agreement dated 10
November 2014 between the Company and a placing agent,
495,000,000 share options with exercise price of HK$0.25 per share
and exercisable period from 5 September 2015 to 4 September 2016
are issued to All Favour and independent parties.

The summary of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 April 2015, other than the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company disclosed above,
persons or companies who had, or deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

2014 /2015 F3f PEBLEELEEFRAG

ERAEETHAR LR (8])

B EXHHWEN R_ZE—RFENA=Z+H 8
EAMESKARRETBETRAERBESEEAN
BEA(EERAER EMR)RAQRHEE
AR EE (EERFBHSLBERMNEXVE) 2
f&fn - ARG MERETRE BAREESF KB
EIEGISEXVERE 7 M85 EB i A& AR A) R B
s ke (BEREREES RS EM
BB EESEERE 2 RS IAR) - K
BRI AR A R IR IR B 5 I B = 5 15) 58 352 16 3R
EFEBEZELM - siRIBAIER EMRAISE5.46
E5.67EMABME AR R KRBT 2 ERSTAR ©

i IR e

ARAR_F——FNA+HBMRAZBRE
HE ([t El)) TEBNNIAARAE
SR EREERMIER -

REBEZ-_ZT-AFEA=THILFE  BERE
ARBR_F——FNATHBMRA B
&R A o] 8 AU S P B RS B BB B 1 R
176 - BR - EHKEITE -

R-Z—RAF=—AHB  REBHAE-_ZT—NF
+—A+TRALFHEREEREZAREEHRE
288 N g8 L A T E17 495,000,000 17 BEAS#E - 77
FEAEROLEBLLITFEHA-ZT—AFNA
RHEZZT-XFLAEA -

BRE B R E N KM 34

FRBRZ A

R-Z-—AFEA=+A  REXHEBEFS
ARAEBARABZHE AR  RARA
Befp  HEBBARS R (B R A S R e A B
1.8 58 55 T BT 601 3 XV B 2 12 3 9 BB I X )
ARFEE 2 BELKE - READ TR EES
T 505 5.1 9 336 77 B 2 B R M AT R4k 2
SABIT




DIRECTORS’ REPORT
B HE R

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS FERRZ R4 ()
(Cont’d)

Long positions WA
Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company TR A Al J@ 1 R R IR 1 2 HE 7
Aggregate long Approximate
position in percentage of
the shares and the issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity underlying shares share capital
PR 45 2 AE B R A7 EERITRAE
BRREA 14 BEt2HR BHAED
Nat-Ace Wood Industry Held by controlled corporation 4,445,320,319 27.04 %
(Note 1 above) SR NEES Y=
FaaAl BRA A
(EXCPEET)
Hu Yonggang (Note 1 above) Held by controlled corporation 4,445,320,319 27.04 %
FASK M (_ESCHEE) BXEEERE
All Favour (Note 1 above) Beneficial owner 4,445,320,319 27.04 %
28 (EXXHEE1) EREAA
China Orient Asset Held by controlled corporation 1,685,320,319 10.25%
Management Corporation — FS21EA@#H A
(Note 5 below)
TERTEEEEAQA
(T3 B5ES)
Guan Baker Guo Liang Held by controlled corporation 1,200,000,000 7.30%
(Note 2 above) R NEES Y=
Rz (EXBtEE2)
Sheng Rong (Note 2 above)  Beneficial owner 1,200,000,000 7.30%
REL (EXHEE2) EnlEA
Dundee Greentech Limited Person having a security interest in shares 1,500,000,000 9.12%
(Note 6 below) HROFEREFEROA
(3 Hf5Ee6)
Liu Hailong (Note 6 below) Person having a security interest in shares 1,500,000,000 9.12%
28 (TxXMsE6) HRO A RBERDOA
Gold Fortune (Note 3 above) eneficial owner 991,115,000 6.03%

B
(EXXHIEES) Emfa A
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
(Cont’d)

Notes:

58 Based on Form 2 dated 10 February 2015 filed by China Orient Asset
Management Corporation (‘COAMC”), COAMC has a security interest
in 1,685,320,319 shares of the Company and its interests are held
through controlled corporations.

Optimus Prime Management Ltd. (“Optimus”) is wholly owned by China
Orient Asset Management (International) Holding Limited (“COAMI”).
COAMI is owned as to (i) 50% by Wise Leader Assets Ltd. (“Wise
Leader”) which is wholly owned by Dong Yin Development (Holdings)
Limited (“Dong Yin”); and (i) 50% by Dong Yin which is wholly owned
by COAMC. By virtue of the SFO, Optimus, COAMI, Dong Yin, Wise
Leader and COAMC are deemed to be interested in 1,685,320,319
shares of the Company.

6. Based on Form 2 and Form 1 dated 30 March 2015 filed by Dundee
Greentech Limited (“Dundee Greentech”) and Mr. Liu Hailong (“Mr.
Liu”) respectively, both Dundee Greentech and Mr. Liu have a security
interest in 1,500,000,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executives of
the Company are not aware that there is any party who, as at 30
April 2015, had, or deemed to have, interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company, which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 10 November 2014, the Company and Sheng Yuan Securities
Limited as the placing agent entered into a placing agreement (the
“Placing Agreement”) in relation to the placing of up to 6,000,000,000
new shares (the “Placing Shares”) in the share capital of the Company
at the placing price of HK$0.25 per Placing Share on a best-effort
basis. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, on the completion date
of the Placing, in respect of the issue of the Placing Shares to each
placee (the “Placee(s)”), the Company agreed to issue the options (the
“Options”) at an aggregate nominal consideration of HK$1 payable
by each Placee to subscribe for additional shares of the Company,
representing 15% of the number of Placing Shares subscribed by the
Placees on and subject to the terms and conditions of the Options
(the “Option Shares”). Each Option carries a right to subscribe for
the relevant Option Shares at the initial exercise price of HK$0.25 per
Option Share (subject to adjustments) (the “Initial Exercise Price”).
The placing of the Placing Shares and the grant of the Options to the
Placees are hereinafter referred to as the “Placing”.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Cont’d)

All the conditions of the Placing Agreement were fulfilled and the
completion of the Placing took place on 5 March 2015 in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Placing Agreement and the
resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 6 February 2015. An aggregate of 3,300,000,000
Placing Shares were allotted and issued to the Placees at the placing
price of HK$0.25 per Placing Share, among which 2,400,000,000
Placing Shares were subscribed by All Favour Holdings Limited
(“All Favour”), and the remaining 900,000,000 Placing Shares were
allotted and issued to not less than six independent Placees (the
“Independent Placees”) pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Placing Agreement.

In addition, based on the 2,400,000,000 Placing Shares subscribed
by All Favour, the Company had issued to All Favour the Options
which carry a right to subscribe for up to 360,000,000 Option Shares
at the Initial Exercise Price upon exercise of such Options by All
Favour. Based also on the 900,000,000 Placing Shares subscribed
by the Independent Placees, the Company had issued to the
Independent Placees the Options which carry a right to subscribe
for up to an aggregate of 135,000,000 Option Shares at the Initial
Exercise Price upon exercise of such Options by the Independent
Placees.

The Placing of the Placing Shares to All Favour and the grant of the
Options to All Favour are hereinafter referred to as the “All Favour
Placing”.

All Favour is indirectly owned as to 60% by Mr. Dai Yumin, an
executive Director, through his shareholding interests in Nat-Ace
Wood Industry Limited (formerly known as Forerunner Technology
Limited) and Honour Top Holdings Limited, and is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company. As such, All Favour was a connected
person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules and therefore,
the All Favour Placing constituted a connected transaction for the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the Placing (including the reasons for the Placing and the
use of proceeds from the Placing) are published in the Company’s
announcements dated 10 November 2014, 6 February 2015 and
5 March 2015, and the circular of the Company dated 20 January
2015.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest

paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 9 to the financial
statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders of the Company,
or any of their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 54.9% of the Group’s total turnover for the year. In
particular, sales to the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 15.4% of the Group’s total turnover for the year.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 44.5% of the Group’s total purchases for the year. In
particular, purchases from the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 11.2% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company, their close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors of the Company own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interests in the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 16 September 2014, the Company issued 150,000,000 new
shares pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 4 September
2014 with net proceeds of approximately HK$38.84 million after
deducting various issuance costs. As at 30 April 2015, the Group had
used all proceeds as intended.
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On 5 March 2015, the Company issued 3,300,000,000 new shares
and granted share options pursuant to a placing agreement dated 10
November 2014 with net proceeds of approximately HK$817 million
after deducting various issuance costs. As at 30 April 2015, the
Group had used 4.76% the proceeds as intended.

On 22 April 2015, the Company issued 977,300,000 new shares
pursuant to a placing agreement dated 23 March 2015 with net
proceeds of approximately $276 million after deducting various
issuance costs. As at 30 April 2015, the Group had not used the
proceeds.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 33 to 55. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of long term objectives.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has four members, comprising all independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lui Tin Nang (the chairman of Audit
Committeg), Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny, Mr. Chan Bing Woon and Mr.
Wang Hui. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2015.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dai Yumin
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 July 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

P A% Bl o

|IBDO

Tel : +8522218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EEE 1 +85222188288 EETFHEER1115E
{858 1 +8522815 2239 JKRHI254

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA REGENERATIVE MEDICINE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
PEBEREERERAT

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS CHINA BIO-MED REGENERATION
TECHNOLOGY LIMITED HFEI£ Y B2 HEREBERAF)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Regenerative Medicine International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 70 to 151, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 30 April 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Cont’d)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
30 April 2015 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lam Pik Wah

Practising Certificate Number P05325

Hong Kong, 17 July 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Aok o 18 i S A 2 AR

For the year ended 30 April 2015 B ZE = —AFMHA=THIEFE

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT FET F&T
Revenue I 5 2,817 510
Cost of sales SHE KA (1,431) (352)
Gross profit EF 1,386 158
Other income Eablg A 2,101 5,662
Administrative expenses THFAX (171,125) (136,879)
Finance costs WM ER 7 (3,058) (2,582)
Impairment of goodwill PR (E 19 (60,400) (141,657)
Impairment of other intangible assets HEEpEERE 21 (41,432) -
Loss before income tax BRFriSHi Al &5 18 8 (272,528) (275,248)
Income tax credit FiSHE % 11 17,136 3,951
Loss for the year AEEEIR (255,392) (271,297)
Other comprehensive income Hih2EUWA
Items that may be reclassified subsequently — HiZAJpEE#H 7 IH 7
to profit or loss: PBm s HE -
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of HME B INETE T
financial statements of foreign operations R ER WS, (FiB) 1,707 (10,004)
Total comprehensive income for the year ZAEEZEEAWA (253,685) (281,301)
Loss for the year attributable to: DTN ATEEERFEEES !
Owners of the Company RAFHEA A 12 (250,098) (263,442)
Non-controlling interests FEVEAR AR SR A (5,294) (7,855)
(255,392) (271,297)
Total comprehensive income for the year Ll N ALEEEREE
attributable to: ZEAKA :
Owners of the Company RAREER A (248,351) (273,259)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A R AE = (5,334) (8,042)
(253,685) (281,301)
Loss per share for loss for the year FUNETE 2PN
attributable to owners of the Company REEEFE2EREE 14
— basic (HK cents) — &7 (4l) (2.017) (2.668)
— diluted (HK cents) — BE (BL) N/A F3E A N/A 73 F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A Er I BEIR DL

As at 30 April 2015 R—ZE—HRFMA=1+H

2015 2014
—E—AF —ZT—F
NOt‘eS HK$’000 HK$’000
P FHBT TFHIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREME
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE K& 15 174,900 141,348
Land use rights b fsE A4 16 4,898 4,980
Goodwill (SRS 19 188,081 152,268
Contingent consideration receivable FE S AKAB 20 15,088 —
Other intangible assets HmpaE 21 483,989 485,629
Debt element of convertible bond AR E S 2 B H 22 - =
866,956 784,225
Current assets REEE
Inventories =4 23 4,967 2,247
Trade receivables U E 5 ER1E 24 665 393
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &% - JERZIE K
H b fEUL AR IR 24 150,621 55,459
Options embedded in convertible bond AT AR B < Nk AT 22 - —
Pledged bank deposits BRI T 25 22,622 =
Cash and cash equivalents He MR EEEE 25 1,008,984 119,018
1,187,859 177,117
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables BT E SERIE 26 763 1,097
Accrued charges and other payables st &R K&
H b fETBR IR 27 57,899 53,101
Bank borrowings RITIE X 28 59,032 37,455
117,694 91,653
Net current assets REBEEFRE 1,070,165 85,464
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 1,937,121 869,689
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Other payables H At RS ARIA 27 6,280 —
Deferred taxation IEFEFTE 29 86,626 89,639
92,906 89,639
Net assets EERE 1,844,215 780,050
EQUITY Em
Share capital [N 30 164,422 117,629
Reserves i 1,638,576 659,434
Equity attributable to owners AARHEEAELER
of the Company 1,802,998 777,063
Non-controlling interests JE 1 IR IR R 41,217 2,987
Total equity R 1,844,215 780,050
Director Director
EE EZE
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CURC SN

As at 30 April 2015 RZZE—RFMA=+H

2015 2014
—E-HF —T—pE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(= FET FHIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREME
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - B MR 15 3,829 5,554
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR & 17 200 200
4,029 5,754
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments E& RIBANFKIE 24 12,733 5,738
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE KT BfT /B A B 5K IE 18 1,844,622 1,477,331
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeSEER 25 439,490 19,296
2,296,845 1,502,365
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued charges and other payables FERTE A R B A FE T BRI 6,584 2,359
Amount due to a subsidiary FER —EMI B A R FUR 13,324 13,366
19,908 15,725
Net current assets RBEEFE 2,276,937 1,486,640
Net assets EEFE 2,280,966 1,492,394
EQUITY s
Share capital AR AR 30 164,422 117,629
Reserves Gl 31 2,116,544 1,374,765
Total equity R 2,280,966 1,492,394
Director Director
Ea Ea
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
¥
AAEEEAER RikREE ait
Share Share  Translation Special Other Share option Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total
RE  RHEE AERE  GEEE  HtdE BRERE  EHEE ait
HK000  HKB000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
T ThETL ThEL ThL Tihn Tin Tin Tin Thn Tin
(note 30)
(K3t 30)
At 1 May 2013 R-E-=F1A-A 90,119 707,390 12,506 (200 33,137 - (220520 622,432 8,486 630,918
Loss for the year REEER - - - - - - (63440 (263442) (7,855 (271,207)
Other comprehensive income Hp2ERA
Exchange loss on translation of financie AR ERR ELER
statements of foreign operations - - (9.817) - - - - (9817) (187)  (10,004)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2EANA - - 9,817) - - - 83440 (73259) (8.042)  (281,301)
Acquistion of non-controling interests WiEsHRR R RS (I3ka7)
ote37) 12510 431595 - - (3600 - - 505 i505) -
Acaquisiton of subsidlaries (note 35(b)) B AR (W3 35() 15000 412500 - - - - - 4750 - LrE0
Capital contributions from non-controling —BRBAR SRR A
interests of a subsicfiary - - - - - - - - 3,048 3,048
Share issue expense RiVgR% - (115) - - - - - (115) - (115)
At 30 April 2014 and RZE-MEMA=TAK
1 May 2014 R-2-MEA-B 169 15130 2689 PO (410469 - %) TR 2087 780080
Loss for the year REEFR - - - - - — (250098 (250,008) (5:294  (255,39)
Other comprehensive income Hfp2ERA
Exchange loss on translaton of financial REBERuRaR BN BR
statements of foreign operations = = 1747 = = = = 1,747 (40) 1,707
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2FANA - - 1,747 - - - (50098 (o48,%51) (5,334 (2563,689)
Shares issued at premium RREERHG 4273 1073579 - - - - - 1117852 - 1117882
Issue of share options BTRhiE - - - - - 2,678 - 2,678 - 24678
Acquisiton of subsidlaries (note 35(a) e GEINIGRESTE) 250 138,600 = = = = - 1120 15,774 156,804
Capital contrbutions from non-controling —RRBAT SRR A
interests of a subsidlary - - - - - - - - 21,790 21,790
Share issue expense O - (9,364) = = = = - 9,364 = (9,364)
At 30 April 2015 RZE-REMA=1A 164,422 2,754,185 4,436 (200)  (410,463) 24678 (734,060) 1,802,998 4217 1844215
The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal  FikFEHEEAEER T —FHAK - HIKE

B8 A R D E R B A R RIS U B % F T B A 7
M ABITZARBRNEEZLER °

value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued for their acquisition at the time of the
Group’s reorganisation in 2001.

HiEEERE8Ez2=2—F 2 — =Kk =
T NEMA =+ HIEFERE R —EHBA
A (BRAXBEASTREER AR 2 REMNAR
B AFEEIETERBR R ESFAECRE =5 -

The other reserve represents the difference between the fair value
of consideration paid to increase the shareholding in a subsidiary,
Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering Co., Ltd., and the amount of
adjustment to non-controlling interests during the years ended 30
April 2011, 2013 and 2014.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A Bl R

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT FET F&T
Cash flows from operating activities RETH 2 HESRE
Loss before income tax BrPT1STRATE 1B (272,528) (275,248)
Adjustments for: R -
Amortisation of land use rights o 3 (55 PR AR 5 112 112
Amortisation of other intangible assets EoAth & A G 37,495 24,191
Depreciation e 11,369 6,161
Interest income FEUA (1,476) (199)
Impairment of goodwill EERIE 60,400 141,657
Impairment of other intangible assets Hib & ERE 41,432 —
Imputed interest income AR ESH <
on convertible bond HEEFEWA (256) (242)
Loss on disposals of property, plant HEWE  BEL
and equipment, net Rz EE OFF) - 105
Change in fair value of derivatives ABRESF A
embedded in convertible bond RN AT E 2 EH) - 2
Provision for debt element AR ES 2
of convertible bond BRI D 2 Bh 256 4,503
Interest expenses FEEA 3,058 2,532
Other receivables written off o e UK AR TR 5H - 55
Operating loss before working EELSSEBHIZKEFE
capital changes (120,138) (96,371)
Increase in inventories FEM (2,706) (1,163)
Increase in trade receivables eI E 5 BRI IS N (254) (367)
Increase in deposits, prepayments e - EREREM
and other receivables JE U BRI S N (95,027) (17,260)
Decrease in trade payables B E SR E R (354) (216)
Increase/(Decrease) in accrued charges BT E A R EMER
and other payables BRIEE N, G d) 484 (10,564)
Cash used in operations REEREACRS (217,995) (125,941)
Income taxes paid B TSR (330) (92)
Net cash used in operating activities KREETHEARSRE (218,325) (126,033)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Aa Bl iRk

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—-OF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE FET FETT
Cash flows from investing activities RETE2HERE
Interest received B U F & 1,476 199
Increase in pledged bank deposits B IRIR 1T 7 SR80 (22,622) —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BEKE&HE 15 (36,484) (16,860)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEEMBEREE 21 (7,293) (5,671)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, G =NEIIE
net of cash acquired EHREWEIIRS 35 (6,898) 1,398
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets HEEEEEMS IR 332 492
Net cash used in investing activities RETEBFEARSTH (71,489) (20,442)
Cash flows from financing activities METE2HERE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT K B AR
and share options FTiS 708 1,142,530 =
Share issue expenses paid TSR BT (9,364) (119)
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRITEFTS A 59,032 37,455
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITERK (37,455) (37,980)
Decrease in amounts due to non-controlling  FEH BT A I 3F3 AL A%
interests of subsidiaries RIS IR A - (6,440)
Capital contributions from non-controlling I8 A a2z EIEAR
interests of subsidiaries fR e EE 27,790 3,048
Interest paid on bank borrowings BRITERZFIE (3,041) (2,486)
Other interest paid B EAMF S (17) (46)
Net cash generated from/(used in) mMEEZEHE, (FER)
financing activities REFE 1,179,475 (6,564)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBELEEERZ
and cash equivalents #in, GBd) FEE 889,661 (153,039)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHZRERBEELEE
of the year EHEB 119,018 272,327
Effect of exchange rate changes EXSHHRER
on cash and cash equivalents REeEEERA2EE 305 (270)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZEEZR
of the year HEeEEER 1,008,984 119,018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 2015 & ==&

1.

—HFEWNA=THILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited (formerly
known as China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited)
(the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law (Revision 2001) of Cayman Islands on 20 April 2001. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Island and its principal
place of business is 10th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 108
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to
the financial statements. The Company and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as the “Group” hereafter.

The financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2015
were approved for issue by the board of directors on
17 July 2015.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements on pages 70 to 151 have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). The financial
statements also include the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.
The adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the
impacts on the Group’s financial statements, if any, are
disclosed in note 3.

iR

TEBLEBRSERER AR (AIHEPEE
MBEBERKAERAR) ([RRAF]) EA
—TE-FHA-_THRBREHSA
E(ZEE—F& ;.THJi) ERE ﬁ%?ﬂ%
BRI REHREERLDA - HAMPER KR
TEE %iﬂz!ﬁzi@ﬁt E\J%Po Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Island [z & 7 & {1 & T 38 108 5%
RSP OI10E - RRARMHNEFE
BMAERXSHAERRAR ([BRA]) BIZER
(TRIZMR]) £ -

ARB—HEREERAR - HXEHBA
A2 EBFBEEN M BHRERMEI? - AR
ANEMBARTXSEA [AEH] -

BE_ZT—
RER=F—
i3 -

EEA BB

FEMA=1TRHIFEZMHBR
ALt ATEtRBRESSMHE

2.1 HiRHE

HNFE70E 151 AZ HIEMRTIIKE
ARV BRELER ([EBMBEHRESE
8] BREAFEGMA® ([EHE
SRR AR ) B ZAMEERERNE
B BREER - BEGTERNR
B) MRE - BHRERNBEEER
ARG 2 3% B8 4R E M B S P B AR
F ETARA (TRIZFEAR ETARA]) -

AARAENEM B RRZIES quESZ
REGRN T - REBINRESN
%B{%ﬁEE%&J@ﬁHE@Pﬁﬁ%%&@E ©
RAFRI N ERI BB B MEE
AIRBAREMBERRZTE (WA)
JEECWESEP?&E% C
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for options embedded in
convertible bond and contingent consideration receivable,
which are stated at fair value. The measurement bases
are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ
from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in note 4.

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

2.

LR BRI (41)

2.1 RIS (H)

R BERRTHRE L AN E RS -
HE AT 2 B A8 25 2 PO iR A B B s A
REARXFEIE - sFEEEFER
TXZEFERRF -

BEaE RUMBREFEHEAS
AT RBR - BELEMETIER
EEEBHEREHERTEZSRIE
BRAEmMIEL  HEBRERFEK
EHEBRGETZER - S RSE HE
FEHEZ BB S R BREE
BEAFEZBRERGBIZEBEER
B4 o

2.2 FEHFGOIRGG R

REVBBRREREARARENEBA
AZHBHmER - FERFZHARA
ARG RERARKRER ZEM IR
REGRET BRI ELIH - BRIE
RopBLMEEcEERTRE %
BREENBETER  TRRERE
BRI

FRARBAHEZHMBLRR - HXEE
mUEBER B R T E R EER
BHLE (2ER) FIALR S 2 EBAR
RN - BEFER - WERRZHBH
REWHAE  FHETHRELKE
Hip B ABMRAE K -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HA B 2R i aE
For the year ended 30 April 2015 HZ2 —ZE—AFMA=+H L FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.2 EHGOHREGHNE (H)

2.2 Business combination and basis of

consolidation (Cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date
fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, to measure the non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-
related costs incurred are expensed unless they are
incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date)
about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other
subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit
or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

WREKM B R B REBREBEFHAA
B o WA TSI B IS8R
BE MELAZBERARE (R
W) BT 2z A EAER
B KRB A BREERMAAER
BEBEZRBEEHZAFEHE - &
S BITR TR R 77 2 B DA B
BHENAFEENRGE: MAELZ
W B RN BT ER - AKE
SRR ZERRE A FERLRES
WUEET Al BRI EEFELZ LA E
HERBATRME R EEEZIFE
BRBCR#E AR o P B H Mo SRR AR AR R A2
SR ATV EFE - RIFFEMHR
FERNBKZ B EEE - HER
o BUBHEANKANEELERX
- BRIEEEBRTRATARZA
EZIBERT - BRAKARER TR -

WRE 77 T 88 2 (B AREDIR
WiE B R ERR - HRRER
EENFEHR (RERAWERME
12 A) RATEVS B BRI RE A
HORFEZHENE  HTAREE
TR PER/EENABIZHANR
B AEHMERFAEGN B’

=7
e ©

AEERKBARNEREE (LE
BHREENE) IERERZA
B NEE R EIEER AR E R
ZAREEY TARE - URRERH
BRARSEGE cEE o FFERRR
B ARSHEECHAEHRER
FEZENEAEZEHDERRERT
MR WEE TARAEAA o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.2 Business combination and basis of

2o

consolidation (Cont’d)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would be
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed
of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able
to exercise control. The Group controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever
facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a
change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of the subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

2.

LR BRI (41)

2.2 REGOI R GHESE (H)

AEBERENB AR 2 ZEHIHE - H
EZBR IR TIME 2 ZEAE -
() BEWHKE A FERETFAREES
ZRAFEBE Ri)ZMBARZE
E (BREBE) hABEEERIFERK
RiEs Al 2 BREE © S AT &
REAREMEEBAERZ 2 RIZH
EHBEEEXABMREZHERLTA
N

WK - HERBAIRMERARES
RZIFERBRER ZREERZSE
RN VIR TR 2 @7 IR
BEREREEEREREE 2D -
BN & B B R R 2 3R B A
B TEWARBEDRBRIFER
PR

2.3 ME s Al

Y /B 2~ B R AN 5 B e 4 S EL AT (b 42 o
B2EIRET - MRFTAETIEE
—EERE AIAKEEZEHNZRIRE
7 AHESRESITERND  AE
RERXREN ZRRBRABEERK
BEXRETZAEBHOHR - MR
ERERNKRTZEEEAEZFH DR -
BESFERBABREAZEHERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 e Pt
For the year ended 30 April 2015 BiZ=Z—RAFMA=+HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.4 IMNEF#E

2.4 Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that
date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into HKS$.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HKS at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into HK$ at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rate over
the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do
not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in the translation
reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

ABBERRTDIUABT([HBT]) 2
B BILINAKRRAR ZINEEEEE -

E@-?é% i%iZ{IE‘JﬁMK#&%EP 9\\%

TE'JE%EZUJ%EE% S E%El A
SNEFTECEREERABRKRREE
BRBITOEXHRE REEZERH
ERHERERBREEKEELAR
MEL ZINEBRRINIBEPHER
WELRAAINETHERIFFERIRE

REEEMBRERT  BIEKAAER
FEATARAEEZREE 25 2 @&
MMBRE  AEFER/BT - BE
RBBEANRREAZETEXRRER
BT WARRXERXZERZE
RRHERZ FHER (HERILE
AR ER/BT - RREFELE
ZEfT%%ﬁi’J/AEAﬁ1ﬁ1ﬁH§Z)\¢ﬁE
REN SRz BEFHE RETRE

RBINEBEER  ZZEXZET
E%ﬁﬂﬂg/\iﬂ P miER  EREEE
JmZ_ﬁB

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of the
leasehold land at the inception of the lease, and other
items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an asset comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided
to write off the cost less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, at
the following rates per annum:

Buildings over 50 years or the
terms of the leases,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvement 33%

Furniture and equipment 5% - 25%

Computer equipment 33%

Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs,
such as repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 2015 & ==&

2.

—HFEWNA=THILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.6

2.7

Land use rights

Upfront payments made to acquire land held under an
operating lease are stated at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The determination if an arrangement is or contains a lease
and the lease is an operating lease is detailed in note 2.13.
Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line method
over the term of the lease/right of use except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern
of benefits to be derived by the Group from use of the
land.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess
of the aggregate of consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the
fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration
paid, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for impairment (see
note 2.17).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and 2.8 JEEEE (BEEIN) RUF#iE

research and development activities

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are
available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Trademark 15 years
Patents 7-15 years

Expenditure on internally developed products is
capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:

° It is technically feasible to develop the product for it
to be sold;

o Adequate resources are available to complete the
development;

° There is an intention to complete and sell the
product;

o The Group is able to sell the product;

° Sale of the product will generate future economic
benefits; and

° Expenditure on the project can be measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria
and expenditure on the research phase of internal projects
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HA B 2R i aE
For the year ended 30 April 2015 HZ2 —ZE—AFMA=+H L FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.9 £HEFE

2.9 Financial assets

The Group’s accounting policies for financial assets other
than interests in subsidiaries are set out below.

Financial assets are classified into loans and receivables
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired and where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at
every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only
when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and
sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable
transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to
assess whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is determined
and recognised based on the classification of the financial
asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments or financial
guarantee contracts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Cont’d)

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the embedded derivative does not
significant modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria
are met:

—  The designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

— The assets are part of a group of financial assets
which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management strategy and
information about the group of financial assets
is provided internally on that basis to the key
management personnel; or

—  The financial asset contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets
included in his category are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 e Pt
For the year ended 30 April 2015 BiZ=Z—RAFMA=+HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d) 2.9 BHEE (#)

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to
determine whether there is any objective evidence of
impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial
assets includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the following
loss events:

—  Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— A breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— It becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

— Significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from the group of financial assets. Such observable
data includes but not limited to adverse changes in the
payment status of debtors in the group and, national or
local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in profit
or loss of the period in which the impairment occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a
carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss
of the period in which the reversal occurs.

For financial assets other than financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and loan and receivables that are
stated at amortised cost, impairment losses are written
off against the corresponding assets directly. Where the
recovery of trade receivables is considered doubtful but
not remote, the impairment losses for doubtful receivables
are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery of trade receivables is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off
against trade receivables directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account in respect of that receivable are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

2.10 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. For the year ended 30 April 2014, cost is
determined using first-in, first-out method. With effective
from 1 May 2014, the Group changed its accounting
policy on its valuation to the weighted average method
(note 3). In the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprise direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated cost of completion and
applicable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

2.

88

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.11Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in
hand, time deposits with banks within original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.12Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
accrued charges and other payables and bank
borrowings.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All interest related charges are recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see note 2.19).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowing using effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.13 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(1)

(i1)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as being
held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, with the following exception:

— land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon, at the inception
of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease (see
note 2.6). For these purposes, the inception
of the lease is the time that the lease was first
entered into by the Group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight
line basis over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
assets. Lease incentives received are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made. Contingent rental are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 e Pt
For the year ended 30 April 2015 BiZ=Z—RAFMA=+HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.14 Share capital 2.14 /8K

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing
of shares are deducted from share premium (net of
any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.

2.15 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods, the rendering
of services and the use by others of the Group’s assets
yielding interest, net of rebates and discounts. Provided
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

Sales of goods are recognised upon transfer of significant
risks and rewards of ownership to the customer. This is
usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered
and the customer has accepted the goods.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs
are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate. Government grants relating
to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are
included in non-current liabilities as deferred government
grants and are recognised in profit or loss on a straight
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. BEGHEORME (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.17 FEE i B A D e

2.17 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of subsidiaries, other
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, land
use rights and interests in subsidiaries are subject to
impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they
are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is allocated to
those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from synergies of the related business combination and
represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units,
to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited
initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining
impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in
the cash generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less cost to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.17Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods including impairment losses
recognised in an interim period. In respect of other
assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss has
been recognised.

2.18 Employee benefits

(i)

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer’s contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.18 Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(ii)  Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

2.19 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction
or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset
is an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Other
borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost
of a qualified asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.

2.20 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, tax authorities relating
to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid
at the reporting date. They are calculated according to
the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods
to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the
year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are
recognised as a component of tax expense in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 e Pt
For the year ended 30 April 2015 BiZ=Z—RAFMA=+HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.20 T f#mi2 it 75 i (#)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to
be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including
existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
difference arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged
or credited to other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented
in net if, and only if,

(@  The Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. BEGHEORME (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.20 i3z g it oy ik (4)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes (Cont’d)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@ the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

()  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered.

2.21 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

Tissue engineering — production and sale of tissue
engineering products;

Stem cell — production and sales of stem cell products;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HA B 2R i aE
For the year ended 30 April 2015 HZ2 —ZE—AFMA=+H L FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEGIHEORME (4)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.21 Segment reporting (Cont’d) 2.21 #EFE ()

Cosmetic and health products — production and sales of
cosmetic and health products; and

Medical products and equipment — trading of medical
products and equipment.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSSs,
except that:

— finance costs
—  income tax

— corporate income and expenses which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except debt element of
convertible bond, option embedded in convertible bond,
contingent consideration receivable and corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment,
which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.
These include deferred tax liabilities and liabilities incurred
for financing rather than operating purposes.

ek M@ FRE M — {bikdn RE2RE
mEERHE « &

BEEMMRE — BFERLREE
% o

AEERBEEEMEREEDESHR
L E D EREMRAMNERE
HRBEEEWBREENRIBRE
PRERAEAER - A TPt & BRI -

— HBEMA
— B

— WIHERBRERKEDBIED

mENR WA KRR

SA L A 4R A A @ A M 4 p ¢
R ERED IR EEERFT T~

EBEA °

BAEEBBRNEAREN XD
BE Z ABRER ZER D - AR
BBz AR - BB R
CEEESTHERNE — 28 (NE
TERANEBEIMAA) I DHE
EBRMBERE -

DHMEETERAERRBRNEME
EDMZEBEHBEL TERENE—
NHZEEAE - RFEOMABERE
EEHEABELRAME (MIFLER
B) MEEXZAE -

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HZ=—F

2.

—HFHA=THILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.22 Related parties

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(i
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

)

(i)

(i)

V)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.22 Related parties (Cont’d)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iiy  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HKFRSs

Change of accounting policies

For the year ended 30 April 2014, the cost of the Group’s
inventories was determined using first-in, first-out method. With
effective from 1 May 2014, the Group changed its accounting
policy on its inventory valuation to the weighted average
method. The Group considered that the weighted average
method can better reflect the cost of inventories expensed
during the year as well as simplifying the inventory valuation
procedures.

In accordance with HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors”, change in accounting policy
should be accounted for retrospectively. The directors have
assessed and concluded that the change in accounting policy
has had no material effect on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 May 2013 and 30 April 2014 in view
of the insignificant amount of inventories held by the Group
during the years ended 30 April 2013 and 2014. Accordingly,
the comparative figures have not been restated and the
third statement of financial position as at 1 May 2013 is not
presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

3.

CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HKFRSs (Cont’d)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs

During the year, the Group has adopted all the amended
HKFRSs which are first effective for the reporting year and
relevant to the Group. The adoption of these amended HKFRSs
did not result in material changes to the Group’s accounting
policies.

At the date of this report, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have not
been early adopted by the Group.

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of the
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policy for the first period beginning after the effective date of
the pronouncement. The Directors are currently assessing
the impact of the new and amended HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Directors have preliminarily concluded
that the initial application of these HKFRSs will not result
in material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements. Information on new and amended HKFRSs that are
expected to have an impact on the Group’s accounting policies
is provided below.

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments

This standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows (the business model test) and that have contractual
terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
(the contractual cash flow characteristics test) are generally
measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the
contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold
and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial
assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election at initial
recognition to measure equity instruments that are not held for
trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments are
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

3.

B Rt BOR S B DL R AR AT s
(CHESCE R 2 SR N )

FRANBT ] BACNE 7T 25 78 1 25 7 o o
Ay

FA - AERECRAMBENBEFEERE
A EARNEEF R < RETEH B BRELE
Al - MNZFKIERT B BM B REERL A
SEYAEB SRR ZERE -

RABmEBH - BT REIEFT BB
WEENSHEMERER - BAKE L EIT
BER® -

AAREEEY  AEERRBERERAH
‘A BEMERKAEHER 2GR
R - ERREFTHEREAIM REETR
BUBREERNZHE - 25 EFFHZ
N Ewmn B RERLEEEMFRELER
BA e8GR B RRENEANBTE
BEHR e U AKRE ST RRBREE AT
RASIERT BB B IRELER 2 BRI T &

S

}Jl[o

BB ERF 99 — i TR

WIREAR —F—N\F—A B &K
ZERTHIMAER - BRMERELERNE R
SESRMEEDBNFEZHRE - BEHK
BABEMENAKRBENRSRZEHT
B (XBEANG) URAEERSRZAE
WIEFERERE/RIN A RABELS
MEZEBTA (BHRSR/FEAH)
—RRIDESHR AT E - MR EBRBRAZ
BHARERKBAHRERAREESE
BE  AIFfAEHNRSRFEEAACERT
BEURAHEIIARMEEKAGE - BiE
AT R A HERR B 1R T A B 208 12 - IAIR
NHEIARMEERAELIFFHEER
AT R - B EMER RRA T AR
NHERERYIRETE -

2014 /2015 F3f PEBLEELEEFRAS




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

3.

CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HKFRSs (Cont’d)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model
for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the
incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge
accounting requirements to allow entities to better reflect their
risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS 39,
except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, where the
amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit
risk of the liability is recognised in other comprehensive income
unless that would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch.
In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This standard is effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2017. The new standard establishes a
single revenue recognition framework. The core principle of
the framework is that an entity should recognise revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and
services. HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to
revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each performance
obligation

Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation
is satisfied
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

3.

CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HKFRSs (Cont’d)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken
under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the impairment of trade
and other receivables on a regular basis. This estimate is based
on the credit history of its customers or debtors and current
market conditions. Management reassesses the impairment of
trade and other receivables at the reporting date.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
note 2.17. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on fair value less costs to sell
calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates
about future cash flows and discount rates.

3.

B wt BOR S B DL AR AT el
(CHESCE R 2 SR N )

FRANBT ] BACNE 7T 25 78 1 25 7 o o
A ()

BB B A ERFE 15 9 — K oAWK as
(#)

FREMBRELERNFESRE S R FE Wa
HAMEBEZERS  ZFEIIAGERE
BB REERRERAZ X » ZERITR
HEWRABBRBFELRRECEEN
# oo

R gt et SO

AEBERBEBELRLREMBEER  BFEHE
RIEREEB AR ARREFHIAY - 558
FLAEET R A EE TR

AEBRARKAEL T RBE - FERNE
S (RREEE) B RAMERER—
B o AET 3 BN TENHEEYEERS
EEEEELEABRNEARR D& R
BRMBBT :

B S T Rl FE A R I i e

AEEEEETHEEE S MEME YRR
BIE - EEIREEPREBAGEELER
BREMRAEL - EEERNRSAHES NE
T RN AR IR R B B F AT

1o it By 2 0 e

AEBERBEWF2A7FIR S BETFA
ARERRCAMRE - REEEFMHA
WERIBEDE A FEREEXNAETE - %F
AHEARRARBR SR BT R ERIEL 5T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 2015 & ==&

4.

—HFEWNA=THILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont’d)

Estimated impairment of goodwill (Cont’d)

In the process of estimating expected future cash flows
management makes assumptions about future revenues and
profits. In the absence of the actual data of the Group’s revenue
and profit from tissue engineering operation for the year, the
assumptions about future revenues are mainly based on the
current market demand of tissue engineering products in the
PRC, the current supply of the similar products in the market,
the estimated utilisation of the Group’s production capacity and
the management’s current assessment of the economic outlook.
The unit selling price is assumed to remain constant throughout
the forecasted period. The assumptions about future profits are
mainly based on the available market data of the profit margin
ratio of companies engaged in the tissue engineering industry
in the PRC and global market. As these assumptions relate to
future events and circumstances, the actual results may vary
and may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
goodwill within the next financial year.

Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating
the appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific
risk factors. The management has taken consideration of risk-
free rate (reference to the yield of the long term bond issued in
the PRC), the cost of equity and debt of the companies within
the tissue engineering industry and other possible risk factors
such as the new commencement of the Group’s production
facilities in the near future and the market capitalisation of the
Group in estimating the discount rate. Details of the estimates
of the recoverable amounts of cash generating units containing
goodwill are disclosed in note 19.

Estimated impairment of other intangible assets

The carrying values of other intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment when there are any indications that the carrying
value of other intangible assets may not be recoverable. The
Group considered that no fact and circumstances occurred
which would suggest that the carrying amount of other
intangible assets may exceed its recoverable amount.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

5. REVENUE 5.

The Group’s turnover represents revenue from its principal
activities, measured at the net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns and trade discounts during the
years presented.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

The executive directors have identified the Group’s four
business lines as operating segments as further described in
note 2.21.

The operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions
are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.

Tissue engineering Stem cell

a8TE &4

2015 2014 2015 2014
CR-EF CEME CR-EF CEQE
HK$000  HKG000  HK§'000  HKSO000
TR  TEr T TR

Wz
AEEZEXBENAFERN2R2KEE
TEERY BHBRREMESTMRZCE
EmBRFEAEZWE -

R E R
HITEEC RN EEEERRAEED
2B - WHKTFE2.21 &l ©

RECHBNDBELRENZEEDHE
T Ea 2 B VE SR AER K o

Cosmetic and Medical products and
health products equipment Total
thRREEER BRERRRR At

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

g-1f ZE-mF CE-Bf T-ME CE-EE CER-ME

HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000
Tér  TEr  TEr  TEr AR TR

Revenue g
— From external customers — RENAEP 2111 18 - - - - 706 492 2817 510
Reportable segment revenue A8 2,111 18 - - - - 706 492 2817 510
Reportable segment loss Pk ] (129475 @075 (8109 S 590y A% (503 3153 (04820  [22149%)
Amortisafion of land use ights ~ T EERH 112 112 - - - - - = 112 112
Amortisation of other infanglble assets EA0ER AEEH 31312 24191 - - - - 128 - 37,495 24191
Impairment of goodwil EEhE 10,958 141,657 - - - - 49,442 - 60,400 141,657
Impaiment of other intangble assets EfbEFAZHE 41,432 - - - - = - - A4 -
Depreciation & 7,983 5,489 - - 122 40 66 28 811 5,557
Interest income FISHA 90 75 - - 557 - 10 15 657 )]
Reportable segment assets AHEE 194776 841,663 4,308 - 53,049 6654 167,888 14200 1,020,021 862517
Addftions to non-current ERERGPPEELRE

segment assets during the year 47,641 13,268 - - 831 456 - 283 48,472 13,957
Reportable segment liabilites ~ AHEE 48,124 49482 - = 5,303 980 4443 272 57,960 43734
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 A B

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments
reconcile to the Group’s key financial figures as presented in the

financial statements as follows:

SR (41)

ANER B E D BNV AR ER AR R BN B 75
WRINSH AR B EIRERNT

2015 2014

—F-IF —F—m&F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Reportable segment revenue 7 Ep UL EE 2,817 510
Group revenue SE W 2,817 510
Reportable segment loss D EPEE (204,820) (221,490)
Unallocated corporate income ROBLEEKA 1,075 350
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEERT (65,725) (51,576)
Finance costs % E A (3,058) (2,632
Loss before income tax BrPTIS LA & 18 (272,528) (275,248)
Reportable segment assets DEPEE 1,020,021 862,517
Debt element of convertible bond AR E S 2 B ED - —
Option embedded in convertible bond RG22 MR AR - =
Contingent consideration receivable FEW S ARAE 15,088 —
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEMEIER 954,358 69,634
Other corporate assets HMpEEE 65,348 29,191
Group assets SEEE 2,054,815 961,342
Reportable segment liabilities NEEE 57,960 43,734
Bank borrowings IRITREK 59,032 37,455
Deferred taxation RIERTA 86,626 89,639
Other corporate liabilities EmbEals 6,982 10,464
Group liabilities SEBE 210,600 181,292
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HZ=—F

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

The Group’s revenue from external customers and its non-
current assets are divided into the following geographical areas:

—HFHA=THILFE

6.

Revenue from
external customers

SR (41)

REEREIINAE PN R EIFFREEE
RO

Non-current assets
(excluding debt element
of convertible bond
and contingent
consideration receivable)

FRBEE (TEETHR

IRfE S 2 EB G R
REMAEF K E R AKE)

2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-HE Z—NFE —ZT—HF = — U4

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FAT FHET FHT

Hong Kong BB - = 4,244 5,711

The PRC (domicile) B (ERPAEH) 2,817 510 847,624 778,514

2,817 510 851,868 784,225
During the year ended 30 April 2015, 15%, 13% and 11% of BE_ZT-RFMNA=THLFE ~&H
the Group’s revenue depended on three customers in tissue Wz E’J15% 13% & 11% 2 Bl 3k & 5 48 45

engineering segment respectively. As at 30 April 2015, none
of the Group’s trade receivables was due from these three
customers.

During the year ended 30 April 2014, 25% and 12% of the
Group’s revenue depended on two customers in medical
products and equipment segment respectively. As at 30 April
2014, 33% and 20% of the Group’s trade receivables was due
from these two customers respectively.

The geographical location of customers is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods delivered.
The geographical location of the non-current assets is based
on (1) the physical location of the assets (for property, plant and
equipment and land use rights) and (2) location of operations
(for goodwill and other intangible assets). The Company is an
investment holding company where the Group has majority
of its operation and workforce in the PRC, and therefore, the
PRC is considered as the Group’s country of domicile for the
purpose of the disclosures as required by HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”.

Certain comparative figures in the segment information for
the year ended 30 April 2014 have been restated. Previously,
executive directors identified tissue engineering — production
and sale of tissue engineering products as the only reportable
segment. For the year ended 30 April 2015, in view of the
change of the focus of the Group’s business and the future
business development, the executive directors identified
tissue engineering, stem cell, cosmetic and health products
and medical products and equipment as the reportable
segments of the Group as a result of the change in information
reported internally for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of business performance. Comparative figures
have been reclassified accordingly.

TEASMY =22 « ]~ — 74 B
%gg'$$@%wg%$gﬁﬁmgﬁz

BE_T-NFMA=THLFE X&
IHSZ S 1 25% % 12% 7 B2 B 1 B R E

REDMZMEETP - R _T—MFMN
ﬂ_—i—El AEEREWE 5 RIAN33% K
20% D RIREZMERF -

BEE B IIRBAIEH 2 RGN E
mnZ HEE D o JERBEE 2 TIRE (1)
BEBER AN (BEYE - BEMREM
T fERE) &(2)%%%)%&#@ (BREEE
&Emﬂﬁ/ﬁﬁ) 25 o ARA/—ERE
BEATE > MASEASHEENEHHT
Z—EEPI Atk - P BEWR S ERIBER B

SERESR [KLED ] REMBME <
REE 2 TRAMEM -

EE?'J%ZI —MOEMA=+HIEFED
MER2H :Ftlzf%(% ZH MITEERE
REBTE — BB TITREEREERHEER
M—BAT2HRIM - HE_T— ﬁillf]ﬂ
—tHLEEE ZRIAEEXGEHE

RABREHER EZ%TEE%%?J%QEE&%
BRAFEMETHANEZREHZER
MTEFWRAB IR AR  bhmk
BEERAMBRER MR EBESAREZA
TERDH - LBRBFEEUEHROHE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

7.

FINANCE COSTS 7. WMBEM
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings and AR—FAZEEEZ
other payables, wholly repayable RITER R E A fE
within one year TERIE 2 FI.8 3,058 2,532
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. FRETTSBiHI R
2015 2014
—E-HF —E e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Loss before income tax has been arrived BREFSHRIBER
at after charging/(crediting): er (T A) T3ISIE -
Auditor’s remuneration Z SR B < 880 792
Amortisation of land use rights o i {58 R AR 8 112 112
Amortisation of other intangible assets, Hith & 8N
included in administrative expenses (BEREETERYH) 37,495 24,191
Depreciation e 11,369 6,161
Exchange difference, net EHZRE OFFE) 55 454
Operating lease rentals in respect WAEYFE 2 KEHERS
of office premises 18,560 10,076
Provision for debt element AR ES 2 BB 2 B
of convertible bond 256 4,503
Research and development costs it B AR AN 38,383 40,993
Less: Capitalisation to other intangible assets & : &2t & E b4 & (7,293) (5,671)
31,090 85,822
Employee benefit expense (including EERAAY (BEEFHE
directors’ emoluments (note 9)) (note 10) (FF3E9) ) (FiFzE10) 66,367 40,809
Less: Employee benefit expenses included & : BIEEMIEERK AR Z
in research and development costs EERFIAX (14,748) (13,900)
51,619 26,909
Other receivables written off o Ath UK BR TR S 55 - 55
Change in fair value of derivatives embedded A& {E % & AR 2 AY
in convertible bond NEEZE - 2
Imputed interest income on convertible bond A% (& % 2 #E & F| S U A (256) (242)
Bank interest income HRITA B UA (695) (199)
Interest income on loan receivables FEUE TR 2 ) B WA (781) —
Loss on disposals of property, HEME  BERZEZ
plant and equipment, net EE (OF58) - 105
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. FEF RATHAEN S
EMOLUMENTS
Contribution
to defined
Salaries and contribution
Fees allowances plans Total
EEMH
we HoREH FEIZHR At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Year ended 30 April 2015 BZE_Z-nFfNA=1HLEE
Executive directors BTEE
Mr. Dai Yumin HEHLE - 1,440 18 1,458
Ms. Wang Yurong Fr&a+ - 1,440 18 1,458
Independent non-executive ~ B EHTEES
directors
Mr. Lui Tin Nang PN 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Wing Hang BKERAE
(resigned on 23 March 2015) (R=Z—RF=ZA-1+=HET) 107 - - 107
Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny grhELE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Bing Woon BR IR 120 - - 120
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Wong Sai Hung AL 1,200 - - 1,200
Mr. Ma Long it
(removed on 14 April 2015) (RZZ—RAFMATHAKEE) 1,143 - - 1,143
Mr. Yang Zhengguo BEBEE 1,200 - - 1,200
Professor Deng Shaoping AT 1,200 - - 1,200
Mr. Wang Jianjun TEELE 1,200 - - 1,200
Mr. Cao Fushun EElEL s
(appointed on 19 June 2014) (RZZE—mEAATNBEZME) 1,040 - - 1,040
Chief Executive Officer THEAR
Mr. Shao Zhengkang BBELE - 1,248 18 1,266
7,450 4,128 54 11,632
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9, HERITEAZRMNE (H)
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Contribution
to defined
Salaries and contribution
Fees allowances plans Total
TERMHT
ik He k2 FTEZ K Gl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THT THT THT
Year ended 30 April 2014 BE_Z-NFENA=tHLEE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Dai Yumin HEHtE - 1,440 15 1,455
Ms. Wang Yurong TEEZL
(appointed on 9 May 2013) (RZE-=FRANBEZT) - 1,409 15 1,424
Independent non-executive ~ BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Lui Tin Nang BREEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Wing Hang BkERAE 120 - - 120
Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny THELE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Bing Woon PR IRt 5 A
(appointed on 15 March 2014)  (RZF—ME=A+HBEZT) 15 = = 15
Mr. Chiu Chi Kong is o st
(resigned on 15 March 2014) (R=Z—mE=A+HBEET) 105 = = 105
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Wong Sai Hung EIELAE 1,200 = 1 1,201
Mr. Ma Long SELE 1,200 — — 1,200
Mr. Yang Zhengguo BB AE
(re-designated on 9 May 2013)  (R=Z—=FRANBAT) 1,200 — 1 1,201
Professor Deng Shaoping HATFHE
(appointed on 9 May 2013) (R=Z-=FRANAEZRT) 1,174 - - 1,174
Mr. Wang Jianjun FRERAE
(appointed on 9 May 2013) (R=Z—=FRANBEZT) 1,174 = = 1,174
Dr. Jin Yan SEEL
(resigned on 9 May 2013) (R=Z—=FRANBET) 5 = = 5
Chief Executive Officer THER
Mr. Shao Zhengkang BB S A - 1,247 15 1,262
6,433 4,096 47 10,576
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FAMBEEEHEXRERETAMNE 2L
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2014: Nil). B (ZE—HE - &) o
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors AEBWERNEENEMBE - EAINA
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as 7R & B ok I A AR R [ B 2 2R ) ok B R A
compensation for loss of office. & -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Employees’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included four (2014: five) directors/
chief executive officer whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining
one individual were as follows:

9.

R AT BRI ()
18 & W&

AEBEFALEERFALEENS (ZF
—ME: RR) BEFTRES  AeR
BN B HTA - 2T —% ATH S 40
T

2015 2014

—F-I% —TmF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHxT T

Salaries and other benefits e hEMEF] 1,320 =
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRFEF B3R 18 =
1,338 —

The emoluments of the highest paid non-director individuals fell
within the following band:

FEFNHERFALOMES N FUTHRED
A

Number of individual

AE
2015 2014
—E—-HEF —Z=—OF

HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,000 7T — 2,000,000,8 7T 1 =

Key management of the Group are members of the board of
directors and chief executive officer.

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

AEEZIREEER/ESTENE MITHAE
5 o

10. 1B BfEFI B2 (BHEEFME)

2015 2014

—E—TIF —ZE—OE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBxT FHET

Wages and salaries ITEREHS 57,817 37,798
Pension costs — defined contribution plans ER& KA — FEEHZETE] 5,647 2,276
Other staff benefits Hih 8 TaF 2,903 735
66,367 40,809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. P Bikse
No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as the Group R 2N & B 4F (30 4B {E ] JE AR A s A1)+
has no assessable profits for the year (2014: Nil). Taxation WEAREABESMNEHR (ZF—HF
on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated 1) o BHNFIB T T IRIE AN F E (5T IRt
assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing i PR AN SR B AR & P et 2 BRI TR AT & -

in the countries in which the Group operates.

2015 2014
—E-RF —TEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Profits tax — for the year MER — RNEFE
Hong Kong B - —
The PRC Fa 330 92
Deferred taxation (note 29) EIEFRIE (Mi3E29) (17,466) (4,043)
(17,136) (8,951)
Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting loss RERAMEGTE CEHREERSTEER
at applicable tax rates: HERIAR
2015 2014
—E-AF —=—-mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Loss before income tax BRETE B ATEE (272,528) (275,248)
Notional tax calculated at the rates applicable %75 i E sliAE R E A 2
to the loss in the tax jurisdictions concerned i R+ EEEH A EHIA (46,626) (45,034)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible R RIEHIR 2 S T IS =2 2
for tax purpose 26,305 39,280
Tax effect of income not taxable BRRMIMA TS 2
for tax purpose (634) (173)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised im AR MR IE B B R R T s 2 3,819 1,976
Income tax credit FrBRiER (17,136) (3,951)
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

12.

13.

14.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$250,098,000 (2014: HK$263,442,000), a loss of
HK$45,478,000 (2014: HK$47,805,000) has been dealt with in
the financial statements of the Company.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year (2014: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

12, ARA T HEA NREAG B 1R

AR RIS AFE (L& 8578 250,098,000 78
T (ZZE— U4 : 263,442,000/87T) F * &
245,478,000 7T (ZZ—PA4 : 47,805,000
BIL) ZIBIBERIARRR ZMB®RE

JB S
EEYTREBRNAFERE (Z2—K
i m) o

iR

ARRRHE AREEREANNEGER TR
BATEME :

2015 2014
—E-RF —T-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Loss for the year attributable to owners AU ESREREE 2
of the Company for the purpose RARHEE ABERNEE
of basic loss per share [E518 (250,098) (263,442)
2015 2014
—E-IF —T—MmF
’000 000
F B TFh&
Number of shares BB E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AT EERREAEE 2
for the purpose of basic loss per share =L B ok 12,402,512 9,875,806

For the year ended 30 April 2015, diluted losses per share
attributable to owners of the Company were not presented
because the impact of the exercise of share options was anti-
dilutive.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 30 April 2014 was
not presented as there was no potential ordinary share in issue
during the year.

BE_Z-—RFNA=TRHIFE ' BR{T
FREREARBEZE  RUB2JEEA
RAHEANREEBREEESE -

HRFEALBERDBTEEE AR - 8L
B2 EHEBE T NFNA=THIEF
B2 BHEEEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y3 ~ Wi Bt
The Group KL
Furniture
Leasehold and  Computer Motor
Buildings improvement  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
BT BENREE HHERRE  ESERG RE CH

HK$'000  HKFO00  HK$'000  HKFO0D  HK$'000  HKE'000
T T TR TR TR TR

At 1 May 2013 RZE-=FELA-H
Cost KA 94,009 - 39,613 743 2,951 137,406
Accumulated depreciation ZihhE (149) - (4,303) (519) (1,864) (6,829)
Net book amount EHFE 93,950 - 35,310 230 1,087 130,577
Year ended 30 April 2014 BHE-_Z-MEMA=1H
LFE

Opening net book amount MR E 93,950 - 35,310 230 1,087 130,577
Exchange differences EREE (1,280) 3 (513) ®) (15) (1,813)
Disposal & - - (532) (55) (10) (597)
Additions HE 349 7,437 8,343 120 611 16,860
Acquisitions through business BREBAHKE

combinations (note 35(b)) (FiE35(0) - - 2,088 207 187 2,482
Depreciation Vil (1,789) (362) (3,311) (140) (559) (6,161)
Closing net book amount HREEFE 91,230 7,078 41,385 354 1,301 141,348
At 30 April 2014 R-E-NEMA=1H
Cost KA 93,147 7,438 48,839 986 3,597 154,007
Accumulated depreciation ZihhE (1,917) (360) (7,454) (632) (2,296) (12,659)
Net book amount REFE 91,230 7,078 41,385 354 1,301 141,348
Year ended 30 April 2015 HE-Z-1FMA=1H

LFE

Opening net book amount MR E 91,230 7,078 41,385 354 1,301 141,348
Exchange differences ERET 557 14 268 5 9 853
Disposal e - - (267) (11) (54) (332)
Additions AE 12,978 4919 23,281 940 646 42,764
Acquisitions through business BREBAHKE

combinations (note 35(a)) (Wi 35(a)) - - 1,545 70 21 1,636
Depreciation ik (1,788) (3,317) (5,103) 687) (474) (11,369)
Closing net book amount HARREFE 102,977 8,694 61,109 671 1,449 174,900
At 30 April 2015 R-E-EEMA=1H
Cost KA 106,685 12,367 73,314 1,979 4,182 198,527
Accumulated depreciation ZihE (3,708) (3,673) (12,205) (1,308) (2,733) (23,627)
Net book amount REFE 102,977 8,694 61,109 671 1,449 174,900

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

15. W3¢ - W5 Lot (40

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Cont’d)
The Group (Cont’d)

As at 30 April 2015 and 2014, all the Group’s buildings are
situated in the PRC and are held under medium term leases.

At the reporting date, the building ownership certificate of a
building in the PRC with net carrying amount of HK$12,978,000
has not yet been obtained. During the year, the Group
acquired a building in the PRC with total consideration of
RMB10,330,000. All the risks and rewards of that buildings
(except the rights of disposal) were transferred to the Group
when the Group paid the first and second instalments totaling
RMB5,333,000 and the remaining balances of RMB5,000,000
(equivalent to HK$6,280,000) to be paid within two years from
the date of transfer with interest bearing at 12% per annum
(note 27). In the opinion of the independent PRC legal advisors,
the Group is entitled to obtain the building ownership certificate
without any legal impediment upon the payment of the
remaining balances of RMB5,000,000.

As at 30 April 2015, certain of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with net carrying amount of HK$89,999,000 (2014
HK$91,230,000) were pledged to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

AL (4)

N-F-RER-F-MEMA=+H A
S5 B P A 39 1 o L L DA ST B
5 -

RBREBR URFPEMN—REEFE
#12,978,000 THEFIN RERFEE
EEE - TR AEBUNAREBEARE
10,330,000 ST BRI A R B 89 — FRIE=F o
ZEFZARR MR (REEBKRIN R
AEBIHE— ZHIHRBEBEEAR
¥ 5,333,000 LI EREAEE AR
5,000,000 7T (#8E 76,280,000/ 7C) #4%8
BEEZEABMEANIN - WAFFIEA12%
sTE (MsE27) - By BARZERRA
A& E £ T ARE 5,000,000 TTEAEEE B
BRERESREEEEZMETRDEEER -

R-ZE-—RAFOA=1TH  AXEEREFE
89,999,000 # 7T (ZZ—PI4 : 91,230,000
BT ZETHE  BERRED THEM
ARAEERGRITER (MFE28) -
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y3 ~ Wi Bt (48)

(Cont’d)
The Company AL H]
Furniture
Leasehold and Computer
improvement equipment equipment Total
HEMELEE BRRRE BB &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET T FET
At 1 May 2013 R=Z-=57A—-H
Cost AR - 2 15 17
Accumulated depreciation e — ) (15) (17)
Net book amount REHE - - - -
Year ended 30 April 2014 BHZ-_Z-NMFEMA=1+A
EEE
Opening net book amount BRI % & - - - =
Addition NE 5,718 — — 5,718
Depreciation nE (164) - - (164)
Closing net book amount HRBR M 5HE 5,554 = = 5,554
At 30 April 2014 R-Z-MEMA=1H
Cost 2% 5,718 - - 5,718
Accumulated depreciation RiiE (164) = = (164)
Net book amount REFE 5,554 = = 5,554
Year ended 30 April 2015 BZ-_Z-RFMA=1H
EFEE
Opening net book amount HAREFE 5,554 - - 5,554
Addition NE 299 — — 299
Depreciation nE (2,024) - - (2,024)
Closing net book amount HRER A $HE 3,829 - = 3,829
At 30 April 2015 R-ZZE—HFEMAB=1H
Cost 2% 6,017 - - 6,017
Accumulated depreciation e (2,188) = = (2,188)
Net book amount IREFE 3,829 - - 3,829
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

16. LAND USE RIGHTS 16. Hufd A RE
2015 2014
—E-HEF —E—OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Opening net carrying amount R FE 4,980 5,162
Exchange differences ERERE 30 (70)
Amortisation i (112) (112)
Closing net carrying amount HARERE %A 4,898 4,980

17.

The Group’s land use rights represent payments to acquire
interests in the usage of lands situated in the PRC, which are
held under medium-term leases.

REE 2 L AR WIBA N P B2 i
ZERED (ATFBRBEEEARFE) X+

A °

As at 30 April 2015 and 2014, the Group’s entire land use rights
were pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the

R-B-—AFKR-_ZF-—WFHA=1TH" &
SEZE2BLMERED THEM - UREAE

Group (note 28). B ESIRITER (f5E28) °
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RHBA R Z#E
2015 2014
—g-5% —T-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JELETRRG  BRAME 200 200
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 30 April 2015 ARARRZZE—RAFNA=+HZEZK B
are set out in note 37. NElFFIEEHIEE 37 ©
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18. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES 18. MW~ (HEAT) B2 Wl k8

2015 2014

—F-IF —FT—m&E

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B B & Rl 5K IE 2,343,558 1,536,030
Less: Allowance for impairment B R B

At beginning of the year F4) (58,699) (44,397)

Provision made during the year F N (440,237) (14,302)

At end of the year FR (498,936) (58,699)

1,844,622 1,477,331

19.

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

During the year, the directors of the Company reviewed the
carrying amount of amounts due from subsidiaries, impairment
of HK$498,936,000 (2014: HK$58,699,000) has been identified
and HK$440,237,000 (2014: HK$14,302,000) has been
recognised in profit or loss during the year in view of impairment
of goodwill and other intangible assets of Reshine and decrease
in the recoverable amounts of subsidiaries during the year.

GOODWILL

The goodwill arose from (1) the acquisition of FD(H) Investments
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Aierfu Business”), which are
engaged in the production and sales of tissue engineering
skin related products, in 2008; (2) the acquisition of Maylion
Management Limited and its subsidiary (“Reshine Business”),
which is engaged in bio-medical engineering, research
and development of regenerative medical products in
relation to tissue-engineering technology in December 2013
and (3) the acquisition of Passion Stream Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Weikai Business”), which is engaged in designs
and manufacturing of pre-clinical cell and stem cell related
equipment, especially in 3D cell culture bio-reactors and their
related consumables, as well as providing CRO services in April
2015.

R (B B A AR AR - %
B RARERLE -

FRN - ARAESEFEKNE A RFIER
HER - ZREINEERRE 2 EE & EMmE
FEERELRWBARITWE SRR &
RN 2R E 498,936,000/ 7T (—Z—Y
F : 58,699,000/ JT) + H A 440,237,000
BT (ZZ—PO4F : 14,302,000 7T) B
BERPER o

19. H&

mEEBRRNZZEZENF WK EFDH)
Investments Limited R B A7 ([ X
BEK]) EXrZEREAERBEEAMST
EYEREEER : Q-—FT—=F1+_AWiE
IREEBRARREMB AR ([IHEHE
) HEXENESEWESTIE  5EA
BIRRMNBERBRRERNMAEREQ =
= — F F /9 A Y g Passion Stream Limited
MEWBAR ([FEH])  HEEHRE
Fe PR BT AR AR A A AR BR AR A AR 1 2 s AT AN Y38
(FRIREZ#ARESEESYRERMEES
BRI FEM) A RIBHRE R BT 7R %
FTEg o
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19. GOODWILL (Cont’d) 19. & (4)
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: EEZREFEASMTAT
Aierfu Reshine Weikai
Business Business Business Total
NHEmER ImERER EEER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAL FAT
At 1 May 2013 R-ZB-=£FA—A
Gross carrying amount BEREE 141,310 - = 141,310
Accumulated impairment ZEDRE - - - -
Net carrying amount REFE 141,310 = = 141,310
Year ended 30 April 2014  BZE-Z-NEMA=TALFE
Opening net carrying amount ~ ER¥IBREH(E 141,310 - — 141,310
Business combinations EBA 0 (HEE35(0))

(note 35(b)) — 152,615 — 152,615
Impairment losses BEEE - (141,657) - (141,657)
Closing net carrying amount ~ EiREREHE 141,310 10,958 — 152,268
At 30 April 2014 R=Z-NFEMNA=+H
Gross carrying amount BEREE 141,310 152,615 - 293,925
Accumulated impairment ZEDRE = (141,657) = (141,657)
Net carrying amount REFE 141,310 10,958 — 152,268
Year ended 30 April 2015 BEZ_Z-hFNA=1TAHLEE
Opening net carrying amount  ER¥IBREHE 141,310 10,958 - 152,268
Business combinations %540 (Hi3E35()

(note 35(a)) — - 96,213 96,213
Impairment losses FEEE = (10,958) (49,442) (60,400)
Closing net carrying amount ~ EiREREH(E 141,310 — 46,771 188,081
At 30 April 2015 R-ZE-HZFMA=1+H
Gross carrying amount BEREE 141,310 152,615 96,213 390,138
Accumulated impairment ZEDRE - (152,615) (49,442) (202,057)
Net carrying amount REFE 141,310 - 46,771 188,081

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
three cash generating units, Aierfu Business, Reshine Business

and Weikai Business.
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R ()

19. GOODWILL (Cont’d) 19.

The recoverable amounts for these cash-generating units was
determined based on fair value less cost of disposal calculation
using discounted cash flow technique, covering detailed five-
year budget plans. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates as stated below.
The discount rates used for fair value less cost of disposal are
post-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant cash-
generating unit.

The key assumptions used for fair value less cost of disposal
are as follows:

Aierfu Business

Reshine Business

ZERSEEBMA A M E S EIREER
BRBRReREE (RAFHEEE) FEZ
RHERBERAAEETE - AFHARZ
RERETRATAIEFEREES
AR HEREERANFTIRERERBIEL - I
REAEARSEE B 2 ERR

AT ERH SRR EERRWT :

Weikai Business

NEEER IERER HEEK
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RHf —T-NF ZEB-HF —T—NF ZB-HF —T—NF
Growth rate #RR 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% —
Discount rate 38 = 17% 18% 21% 22% 18% —

The key assumptions for the fair value less cost of disposal
calculation are those regarding the discount rate, growth rate
and budgeted gross margin, which had been determined based
on the market comparables and budgeted revenue, which had
been determined based on the management’s expectation for
the market development and the production capacity of relevant
cash generating units.

Apart from the considerations described above in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating unit,
the Group’s management is not currently aware of any other
probable changes that would necessitate changes in their key
assumptions. However, the estimate of recoverable amount of
the Group’s cash generating units is particularly sensitive to the
discount rate applied.

The recoverable amount has been determined based on
fair value less cost of disposal estimated by an independent
professional valuer, Roma Appraisal Limited with the
discounted cash flow approach. The fair values less cost of
disposal of these cash generating units are classified as level 3
measurement.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year.

D ERBEXRATENERRRASE @I
BE ERERBEENEX  REREMS
A REREERE (ERERHRETS
MBERNERASELEUNEEER N 2B
B)EE -

B Dl EEReEL B A FEBLEKA
ZEBRERI  AEBEZERERFBILTH
BEMEMAREZ L  CHFEERTE
RER = A - NEBERESEL BN
SR A EARBZITREL LG -

AR E R T i B B A AR AR S B R AT
HERAFBREBEEMBUBARSREE ST
ZAFEBHERANFEEE - ZFREE
E B A FER SRR RS =RE

=
5z °

FRRBREBM[ETE
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19. wE (4)

19. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverable amount of its cash generating units because the
cash generating units of Aierfu Business, Reshine Business
and Weikai Business had only generated insignificant revenue
and made losses during the year. An impairment loss of
HK$101,832,000 (2014: HK$141,657,000) was recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 30 April 2015 to write down the
carrying amounts of the relevant assets of the cash generating
units of Reshine Business and Weikai Business (2014: Reshine
Business) to their recoverable amounts.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Weikai Business
mainly represented the difference between the fair values
of the shares of the Company on the completion date of
acquisition in April 2015 and the date of signing sales and
purchase agreement in March 2015. The impairment loss
for the cash generating unit of Weikai Business recognised
during the year represented an elimination of such difference.
The total impairment loss recognised for the cash generating
unit of Weikai Business during the year is HK$49,442,000
and allocated to goodwill. The recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit of Weikai Business as at 30 April 2015 is
HK$123,000,000.

The impairment loss for the cash generating unit of Reshine
Business recognised during the year is mainly due to delay
in the estimated mass production schedules relating to the
relocation of production plants. The total impairment loss
recognised for the cash generating unit of Reshine Business
during the year is HK$52,390,000 while impairment loss of
HK$10,958,000 was allocated to goodwill and HK$41,432,000
was allocated to other intangible assets. The recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit of Reshine Business as at
30 April 2015 is HK$227,336,000.

AT

AAENBEER  mREFBMEHINEL 2R
CEABURNFEANEELELD SRS A5
BEE  ASERHEBSEESSMAR KD
SEEITT T 2 101,832,000 ¢ (= F
—PU4F : 141,657,000/870) 2 RMEEEED
WHERAR_-_Z—HAFNA=T+HIFER
mH o AR EBREINER (Z2—H
FImBRER) 2REEABVEBEEZ
REEREZEEA KBS -

W EYERTEAZAEEEAARAIK
PR E—AFHAKEEKBEER -
—hE=-AEZEEEHA AN TEN
EZFH - FAEHRANGINEBRSELE
MBEEBEEEAERZE=RE FAEER
MENEBESELEEMNREBREERS
49,442,000 TU D EEEHE - R_FT—H
FOA=+H FEBSREEELESNZA
Iy [0 4> %8 & 123,000,000 7 JT °

FAERRN IR ERR CELEERERS
BExEREHRNEEENRBEBNETAE
HEEEEMEY - FRERRNIREER
IR & = 4 B AR A B 18 42 %F & 52,390,000
BT E AR E E518 10,958,000 7T # AL
BB 41,432,000 o R E H b
BE R-_ZT—AFNA=1+H ' mERES
REEEEMN 2B €5 A 227,336,000
VETT ©
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20. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION 20. FEWESERRIE

RECEIVABLE
2015
—E—-8=E
HK$’000
FExT
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35(a)) WEEFTE A7 (M 35()) 15,088
At 30 April 2015 R-EB-—HREMA=1+AH 15,088

There is a profit guarantee for the acquisition of Weikai
Business. The former owner guaranteed that total net profit
of Weikai Business for the years ended 31 December 2015 to
2018 not less than RMB25,000,000, or he will transfer part of
the shares of Passion Stream Limited held by non-controlling
interests to the Group. The adjustment will be settled after the
end of the four-year period.

The contingent consideration receivable represents the fair value
of the profit guarantee in accordance with the share purchase
agreement for the acquisition of Weikai Business and are
estimated by independent professional valuers, Roma Appraisal
Limited. As at 30 April 2015, the fair value of the contingent
consideration receivable was estimated by applying income
approach on the estimated profit from Weikai Business for the
coming four years and the estimated fair values of the shares of
Passion Stream Limited held by non-controlling interests.

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable is a level
3 recurring fair value measurement. Significant unobservable
inputs for the valuation approach including (1) Probability-
adjusted profit/(loss) ranged from (RMB3,545,000) to
RMB9,776,000; (2) marketability discount on the fair value of
shares of Passion Stream Limited of 20.97% and (3) minority
discount on the fair value of shares of Passion Stream Limited
of 23.66%.

Higher probability-adjusted profit or loss will result in
corresponding lower or higher fair values. Higher marketability
discount and minority discount on the fair value of shares of
Passion Stream Limited will result in corresponding lower fair
values. As at 30 April 2015, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, (1) an increase in the marketability
discount by 5% would have decreased the fair value of
contingent consideration receivable by 6%; (2) an increase in
the minority discount by 5% would have decreased the fair
value of contingent consideration receivable by 6%; (3) an
increase in the probability-adjusted profit or an decrease in the
probability-adjusted loss by 5% would have decreased the fair
value of contingent consideration receivable by 13%.

W BB AT X5 B m MIRFE © BIEE ARTE -
Y EBHE_T—AFE-_T—\F+=
B=1+—RILFEZ@FFFBERLRA
R #25,000,0007T © & B E #& [m) 748 & B &=
o FEVERR I SR A 2 PTRF 2 95 Passion Stream
Limited Z B& 17 ° & B8 78 B 5 50 1Y F HR 45

14 e At
1BEEE o

FEM s AR BRI KB G 2 2 R EE
BERZARfREZATE ABYEE
HERTZE 5 R A AR ARG - RZE
—AFMA=1+H BRIAREZATFE
TofE IR ES A (et R SR F R s RS e
A Ko FE 42 B% f% 3R 4 2 FT #5 Passion Stream
Limited i 17 2 & 5T AFERFH ©

FERSKARBZAFLELE=HREEER
FEFE - FEECERNFABEEHER
FENREERAERSN (B8 N T (AR
#3,645,0007T) £ A K #9,776,0007T : (2)
Passion Stream Limited i& 5 A F1E 2 T %5
7 B T E K 20.97% K& (38)Passion Stream
Limited i 0 & F B 2 2 8K #E 37 58 =
23.66% °

A B 58 Bt FI Sk B 1R 18 IS BB A FEAE
JfE ek 40> 3 2 /N © Passion Stream Limited A%
MAFEZ I RENITEER & D EREST E
ERAESHERAFERERD - RZT—h
FUA=+H " EifEEMEHRET
B () MERBITEEI 5% S Bk
RRBRAFERD 6% : (2) DS HEST 8 =R
FE5% i< B AREAFERI 6% :
(3) AT RE M F L i FII1E hn sk AT BE 4 F EE T I8 R
L 5% i< WS ARERFER D 13% °
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21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21. HAEEE &

Development

Trademark Patents costs Total
[ =7 BERAE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT FAT TAT
At 1 May 2013 R=B-=f1A-H
Cost AR 79,985 154,058 = 234,043
Accumulated amortisation S (24,009) (45,597) — (69,606)
Net book amount REFE 55,976 108,461 — 164,437
Year ended 30 April 2014 ~ BE_Z-WNENA=tALFE
Opening net book amount HIAARE A 55,976 108,461 = 164,437
Acquisitions through business — EiBEH A AT (H5E35(0))
combinations (note 35(b)) - 330,117 19,648 349,765
Additions ANE - 3,096 2,575 5,671
Exchange differences ERER - (9,502) (551) (10,053)
Amortisation i (5,338) (18,853) - (24,191)
Closing net book amount HIRARESE 50,638 413,319 21,672 485,629
At 30 April 2014 R=2-MENA=1A
Cost R 79,985 477,508 21,672 579,165
Accumulated amortisation G fe (29,347) (64,189) - (93,536)
Net book amount REFE 50,638 413,319 21,672 485,629
Year ended 30 April 2015 HE-Z-AFNA=THLEE
Opening net book amount AR ESHE 50,638 413,319 21,672 485,629
Acquisitions through business BB HA G FTUEE (KizE35(a))
combinations (note 35(a)) — 31,432 37,719 69,151
Additions NE - 2,616 4,677 7,293
Exchange differences ERERE — 712 131 843
Impairment losses HEEE - (41,432) = (41,432)
Amortisation i (5,338) (32,157) - (37,495)
Closing net book amount HRRE S E 45,300 374,490 64,199 483,989
At 30 April 2015 R-ZE-R5F¥MA=1+H
Cost BN 79,985 512,329 64,199 656,513
Accumulated amortisation RETEER
and Impairment losses REEE (34,685) (137,839) = (172,524)
Net book amount REFE 45,300 374,490 64,199 483,989

The impairment loss of HK$41,432,000 recognised in profit
or loss during the year is related to the cash generating unit
of Reshine Business. It is mainly due to delay in the estimated
mass production schedules relating to the relocation of

production plants.
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22. DEBT ELEMENT OF CONVERTIBLE BOND/ 22. R #JBfE 52 B0, vl He ik

OPTIONS EMBEDDED IN CONVERTIBLE
BOND

On 1 June 2012, the Group subscribed the zero coupon
convertible bond with an aggregate amount of HK$4,800,000
issued by the Incorporation of Financial Technicians Limited,
a private company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, with maturity on 31 May 2015. The Group is entitled to
exercise the conversion option at any time during the period
commencing from the date of issue of convertible bond up to
the close of business on a date no later than five business days
prior to the date fixed for redemption thereof. The conversion
price is HK$1 per share.

The movement of the carrying amount of the components of
convertible bond is set out below:

2 R

R-TE——FXA—H AEERBETHE
BER (ER) ARAF (EFBETMAL
MILABREMERR) BTN _T—A1F
AA=+—BEHNZTERIBMEIES - 8%
/34,800,000 7T 2N 5= B 70 AT #2 AR 1E 25 B
THREZEEER A NERAEERA
NZ & XRREERA - ARETARETE
B - BREABR1BTT -

AR E AR R 7 2 BRE(B B # 2 #5110
B

Debt Derivative

element element Total

Bt TEIAERH a5t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000

T F&TT F&TT

As at 1 May 2013 R-ZE—=FFH—H 4,261 2 4,263
Effective imputed interest income ERHEER WA 242 — 242
Provision B (4,503) — (4,508)
Change in fair value NEEZE — @) @)
As at 30 April 2014 R-ZE—WFMNA=+H — — —
Effective imputed interest income ERHEEFR S WA 256 — 256
Provision B (256) — (256)

As at 30 April 2015

R-ZE—HRFWMA=+1H

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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22. DEBT ELEMENT OF CONVERTIBLE BOND/
OPTIONS EMBEDDED IN CONVERTIBLE
BOND (Cont’d)

23.

(1)

Valuation of debt element

The debt element is recognised at fair value at date
of initial recognition and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. As at
30 April 2014, the carrying amount of the debt element
is approximately HK$4,503,000 which was calculated
based on the present value of contractually determined
stream of cash flows discounted at the required yield,
which was determined with reference to bond issuers of
similar credit rating and remaining time to maturity. The
effective interest rate of the debt component is 5.677%
per annum. Full provision was made during the years
ended 30 April 2015 and 2014 as the director considered
that it is remote to collect such receivable.

The fair value of the debt element at initial recognition is
determined with reference to the valuation performed by
an independent professional valuer.

22, AR A S AR A, AT et
B2 NIRIYIHE (&)

(1) EHEGZAE

BN n R A RAFERE
R WREERABERFEAFE 2 #
WRAGE - RZT—NFNA=1
B - B E D RRRE E 44 4,503,000
AL ERREEANAREERSR
UEEE (2 ERUEEFRDN
BHRBETARNGKRIHERE) BRE
HBE BEHEFONERFENXS
5.677% - AN EZR nEYER KR
ERERM ERBEE_F-4Fk
“E-NFEEA=tTRIEFEFELR
S

BRI N ENRERSHNAFEZ
EHBEEXREEMETNREE -

(2) Valuation of derivative element (2) Tk TREHZME
The derivative element is recognised at fair value at initial TTHETABMNEVRERNEBETE
recognition and subsequent measurement. BRTEER -
INVENTORIES 23. 7§
2015 2014
— —FmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Raw materials R 740 730
Work in progress R 2,805 60
Finished goods BIAK 1,422 1,457
4,967 2,247
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 24. BEWHE GRE - &% - FAE
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER T A R A
RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company
=EE EAT
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-FHF —ETNF ZT-HF —FTHEF
HK$°000 HK$’ 000 HK$°000 HK$’'000

FER FAT FET FAT
Trade receivables FEUE 5 BRIE 665 393 - —
Deposits ®re 11,422 10,499 2,877 2,916
Prepayments ARt RIEA 20,361 9,556 9,821 2,822
Loan receivables e E TR 68,792 — - —
Other receivables H W BRI 50,046 35,404 35 —
150,621 55,459 12,733 5,738
As at 30 April 2015, ageing analysis of trade receivables based RZE—RAFMA=1TH " EKES
on sales invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows: BRIBREZEH I R IREBER 2R
DTN -
2015 2014
—E-HF -
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FABT
0-90 days 0-90 X 271 155
Over 90 days but less than 1 year FBA OO KRB LA 1F 291 238
1 year or over 1 year 1481 FMU E 103 =
665 393
The Group allows an average credit period of 60-90 days to its REBGTERFPZTFHUEERR
customers. 60-90°K °
The carrying amount of trade receivables is considered as EWE ZRE REERRBHE AT
reasonable approximation of their fair value. Impairment of trade BEzEENH - EARBERERAAR
receivables is established when there is objective evidence & B8 R Be S0 FE K BR IH 2 R RT 163K
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due WE =B RARE - AleEErEKE S
according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant RIEBHRRE - G5 AEBHERNTE
financial difficulties of the debtors and default or delinquency in B ARARGEMHASBERER 5
payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable W AEWE SERE L RBEZ D
is impaired. All of the Group’s trade receivables have been R AKBEFFMARWE ZRBEE ET
reviewed for indicators of impairment. VERIENIE R
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
In addition, some of the unimpaired trade receivables are

past due as at the reporting date. Ageing analysis of trade
receivables not impaired is as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

24. MEWCE BRI - e - FAHOR
eI A REWOIR I ()

LS - R¥RE R - B EIR(E
WESEBETAMARN - WEREBEZ
FEWE S RRIEZ FREC DTN T

2015 2014

—EB-HF —Z—pEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET F&ET

Over 90 days past due but less B0 REBLA1F 291 238
than 1 year

1 year or over 1 year 1481 FEU F 103 —

394 238

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to customers that had a good track record of credit with the
Group. Based on past credit history, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered to be fully
recoverable. The Group did not hold any collateral in respect of
trade receivables past due but not impaired.

As at 30 April 2015, loan receivables represented (1) loan
to an independent third party of HK$60,000,000 which was
unsecured, interest bearing at 12.5% per annum and repayable
on 24 June 2015; and (2) loan to an independent third party of
RMB7,000,000 which was unsecured, interest bearing at 10%
per annum and repayable on 12 April 2016.

BB R E  BKE 5 REY RA
SEAERMHERLENER - REB
EMEERE EEEMRRE  BRE
EERWEEASAEY  ARFHE
ERADIRAR SR 2B E - BBATLZ
FRSBTERERE - AKEXLER
BREERECRKREZRAFA T
A R am

RZZE—RFWNA=+H " EBREXK
) AM—BBLE=HEHEER -
AFFEA125%FERBR-_E—H
E/\H + P9 H {72 #9 60,000,000 78
TER: RQE—BBILFE=FE
IR - AFFEA0% B RAR
—E-RENA+_HEZENARK
7,000,000 TTE X °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND 25. CIHAFSRITER Bl kBl &%

CASH EQUIVALENTS fHIEH
The Group The Company
REHE RAF]
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-FHF —FT-—NF ZZB-HF —ZFTNHNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T FHET T
Cash and bank balances IR& NMIRTTA 984,241 119,018 439,490 19,296
Short-term deposits MHFR (5T @)

(note (a)) 24,743 — - —
Cash and cash equivalents IR & MR & F(EEH 1,008,984 119,018 439,490 19,296
Pledged bank deposits B IRRITFRK

(note (b)) (F7E (o)) 22,622 — - —

(@  Short-term bank deposits of the Group as at 30 April
2015 earned interest at the rates of 2.52% per annum.
These deposits had maturity of three months and were
eligible for immediate cancellation without penalty but
any interest for the last deposit period would be forfeited.
The directors considered that the fair value of short-term
deposits was not materially different from its carrying
amount because of the short maturity period on its
inception.

(b) The deposits are pledged to banks to secure short-
term bank loans (as detailed in note 28 to the financial
statements). These deposits earn interests at 3.85% per
annum.

(¢) Included in cash and bank balances, short-term
deposits and pledged bank deposits of the Group is
HK$88,900,000 (2014: HK$50,494,000) of bank balances
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks
in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency.
Under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies
through banks that are recognised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

R-ZZ-—RAFMA=+H" AEEHZ
RERITFERFMNER2.52% - %F
TR =ER Al AEFRHAAR
H o WA EIKIE & kKRR F KA
B HRNEBAEFSREHREE
BESRREZAFEERKRES
R TEK °

FREERTRITUEREHRRITE
K (N ISR E 28 i) » %%
TFREMEL3.85% e

REBZHES MIRITEH - WHER
REEBIRITFE R BIET AR
ZIRITWAARKE ([ ARK]) 5HE
2 3R 17 45 #:88,900,000/ ot ( — Z
—PO4F : 50,494,000/ 7C) - AR
A ERREBRZER - RERHNH
ZINEBEBIEONREE  SERMNE
EEHT  ASBEEESREREE
TOINEZER 2 R1T718 AREE B BN
egg o

China Regenerative Medicine International Limited Annual Report 2014 /2015




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. MEATE 5 HRIE
As at 30 April 2015, ageing analysis of trade payables based on RZZFE—RAFMHA=+H ' ENFEZESEEEZ
invoice date is as follows: BERABZERERATIT :
2015 2014
—F-I%F —T—mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAT
0 - 30 days 0-30K 196 133
31 - 60 days 31-60X 50 12
Over 60 days but less than 1 year B0 KRB F 128 387
1 year or over 1 year 1F81FAE 389 565
763 1,097
General credit terms granted by suppliers are 30 days to 60 days. HEREL 2 —REEHRN FI0RECOK °
27. ACCRUED CHARGES AND OTHER 27. WEGHE FH At A iR IH
PAYABLES
2015 2014
—F-EF —TnmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
Current B
Accrued charges FEETE R 4,385 4,382
Other payables (note (a)) HAbEIRIE (MieE () 10,585 9,983
Government assistances (note (b)) BT AR (MiEE (b)) 42,929 38,736
57,899 53,101
Non-current IEREB
Other payables (note (c)) H b fEMERIE (MR (o) 6,280 =
(@) As at 30 April 2015, other payables are unsecured, @ RZE—AFNA="H"  EMEN
interest free and repayable on demand except the amount FREDAERKF  REREREXK
of HK$446,000 (2014: HK$426,000), which was interest EE M —FEUAFAEEL%TEZ
bearing at 5.5% per annum. 446,000 7T (==& — U4 : 426,000
PEIT) SRIBRRIN ©
(b) Government assistances represent payments granted (o) BT & BhIE B E o B st A AP B 3
by the local governments in the PRC in relation to TZHEBIREERERAERLZ
the research and development of tissue engineering FRIE o ZFERIE R E H I 48 S
projects carried out in the PRC. These payments will be JHE EmELRILERERBIA -

recognised as income upon the approval from the local
government on the output of the relevant projects.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 25 e ff i

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

27. ACCRUED CHARGES AND OTHER 27. WERHE ) B A REA AR IE (%)
PAYABLES (Cont’d)
() Asat 30 April 2015, other payables represent payables for ) RZZE—RFNA="+H: G EfEN
acquisition of buildings in the PRC (note 15). The amounts IRIEFE BB AL A P BIIE F oY) FE (T AR 1B
are interest bearing at 12% per annum and repayable (F¥zE15) o ZFERIAAEFEA2% 51
within two years and secured by the buildings with net BHERMEAEE BEEFER
carrying amount of HK$12,978,000. 12,978,000 8 7T 2 EF1EH A -
28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. HATHEK
As at 30 April 2015, the Group’s bank borrowings are repayable RZZE—RAFEA=TH ' AEEZEEE
as follows: RITERAT -
2015 2014
—E—-hfF —=Z=— O
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Bank loans, secured — repayable IRITE - BEA
within one year — —FRER 59,032 37,455
The interest-bearing bank borrowings are carried at amortised ST EERTTE R SR AR TR o
cost.
As at 30 April 2015, the bank borrowings represented bank RZZFE—RAFHA=+H  RITEFLEESE
loans with principal amounts of RMB47,000,000, which are % A AR 47,000,0007T BZER —F AE
repayable within one year. The bank loans of RMB30,000,000 EHIRITE R - AR ¥30,000,000 7T #) 3R
are secured by the Group’s property, plant and equipment and 1TE B AL B REE 2 5l 489,999,000
land use rights with carrying amounts of HK$89,999,000 (2014: Bt (ZZF — 4 : 91,230,000/ 7T) &
HK$91,230,000) and HK$4,898,000 (2014: HK$4,980,000) 4,898,000/ 7T (—ZF—4 : 4,980,000 &
respectively. The remaining bank loan of RMB17,000,000 is TC) ZWNE - B MR - AR T R
secured by the Group’s pledged bank deposits with carrying EHIR o T A R % 17,000,000 7T A9 R 17
amounts of HK$22,622,000 (2014 Nil). BERBAEEEEES22,622,00087T (=
T—UF &) 2B EMRITERIEERA -
Interest rate of the bank borrowings was from 4.815% to 8.400% REFRITERZ FHMER/NF4.815% &
(2014: 8.400%) per annum for the year. 8.400% 2 [ (== —PU4F : 8.400%) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences under
the liability method using the rates of taxation prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

The movement on deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

29. BRI

BEERIE TR BE B BEEARNE B EB AT
RO ERERZEAE -

Fair value adjustments arising
from other intangible assets

Hitb B EEMEEL 2 X P EAR

2015 2014

—E—-1F —ZT—EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

At beginning of the year =) 89,639 19,278

Fair value adjustments arising from WM B R RIFEE Y

acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) AFEFAE (KFE35) 14,453 76,527
Credited to profit or loss for the year Bt ARFE B (KisE11)

(note 11) (17,466) (4,043)

Exchange differences ERERR - (2,123)

At end of the year FR 86,626 89,639

As at 30 April 2015, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$87,447,000 (2014: HK$72,173,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses will expire
after 5 years from the year in which the tax losses were
incurred.
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R-ZZE-—RAFWOA=+H AEEZKH
PR IEE1887,447,00008 7L (—Z— P04 ¢
72,173,000 7) Al AR A= F) o R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 A B

For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
2015 2014
“E-1F -
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
RAEE Ex ) L E £
HK$'000 HK$'000
ThAR ThEL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  SREE0.01 BT EBR
Authorised: EERA :
At beginning of the year FORER
and at end of the year 100,000,000,000 1,000,000  100,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At beginning of the year ) 11,762,880,000 117,629  9,011,880,000 90,119
Shares issued as consideration fERWEREMET 2R
for the acquisttion (note () (PZE)) 252,000,000 2,520 2,751,000,000 27,510
Shares issued in placing BEETHET RM
arrangement (note (i) (PZE () 4,427,300,000 44,273 - -
At end of the year FX 16,442,180,000 164,422 11,762,880,000 117,629
Notes: MI5E

(0

On 11 December 2013, the Company allots 1,500,000,000
new ordinary shares to the vendor for the settlement of the
consideration of the acquisition of 100% equity interest and a
loan interest of Maylion Management Limited as set out in note
35. The share consideration is recognised based on the closing
price of HK$0.285 per share quoted on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the issued date. Details of the share allotment were
contained in the Company’s announcement dated 11 December
2013.

On 7 February 2014, the Company allots 1,251,000,000
new ordinary shares to the vendor for the settlement of the
consideration of the acquisition of non-controlling interest
in Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries and a loan interest as set out in note 37. The
share consideration is recognised based on the closing price of
HK$0.355 per share quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on the issued date. Details of the share allotment were contained
in the Company’s announcement dated 7 February 2014.

On 21 April 2015, the Company allots 252,000,000 new ordinary
shares and cash consideration of HK$6,986,000 to the vendor
for the settlement of the consideration of the acquisition of 70%
equity interest of Passion Stream Limited as set out in note 35.
Details of the share allotment were contained in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 March 2015 and 21 April 2015.

(i)

RZB—=F+=A+—8  m&HRHT
35 ' 7~ A A) B % 1,500,000,000 f% ¥ & i
BRFIEFAAINEEERERGR DA
HI100% R & — IR B w2 (K8 I
I RAETHIR R BT BB 3 P A ffp 2 W
BEEM0.285 BILHER - ARIRMEE 25
BEHNHRARA PR T —=F+—
A+—BZREA-

R_Z—WFE_AtA8  W&HRKIEI7
AN aEBL 3 1,251,000,000 BT @R T 5
FANS U ERA Y BEASTEER
ANE|REWEB AR 2 IR R S Kk —
HERESEZRE - RODRETHIRRET
B R 2 BT A 2 YT (B &A% 0.355 B T iE
R BEARMREZFBEHHRAR A
BHA-Z—NE_RA+tHZALEA

R-ZE—REMA-—+—8 @ tnFHAW
35 ¢ R &) B 3 252,000,000 A% 3 58 A%
K IR 4R (B8 6,986,0008 7T F & 5 A AT
I B Passion Stream Limited 9 70% A% #
ZRE - BEAROEE ZFBEHNEARA A
B A—_T—RAF=A+-_BKk_F—H
EMA-_+—HZRAEA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

On 16 September 2014, pursuant to a subscription agreement
dated 4 September 2014 between the Company and an
independent party, the Company issued 150,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.26 per
share. Details of the share subscription were contained in the
Company’s announcements dated 4 September 2014 and 16
September 2014.

On 5 March 2015, pursuant to a placing agreement dated
10 November 2014 between the Company and a placing
agent, the Company issued an aggregate of 3,300,000,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.25
per share, together with 495,000,000 share options issued
to All Favour Holdings Limited (“All Favour”) and other
independent parties. All Favour is a related company in which
Mr. Dai Yumin, a director of the Company, indirectly held 60%
equity interests. 2,400,000,000 shares of the Company and
360,000,000 share options were issued to All Favour on 5
March 2015. Details of the share placement were contained in
the Company’s announcements dated 10 November 2014 and
6 February 2015 and the circular of the Company issued 20
January 2015. The fair values of share options issued at 5
March 2015 are HK$24,678,000 (note 34) and such amount is
recognised as share option reserve in the equity.

On 22 April 2015, pursuant to a placing agreement dated 23
March 2015 between the Company and a placing agent, the
Company issued an aggregate of 977,300,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.285 per share
to independent parties. Details of the share placement were
contained in the Company’s announcements dated 23 March
2015 and 22 April 2015.

All these ordinary shares issued by the Company during the
years rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in
all respects.

30. JBEA (#)

BeE

(i

(%)

R=ZZF—MFALA+T/B  BREAHE=
T—MFENAMNBAARRE—ZBT AL
2 BEREE - ANRRIAFA0.26 B ITH
2517 {8 % 77 150,000,000 A% & A% E 18 0.01
IR - BERNREZFBE
TR ARG BRAE-ZE—WEHAME
E=ZZ—MFAATNBZRAEA -

R-ZE—RF=FARB  REHHA-Z
—mME+—A+BEARRRIERERE ZH
B & s © AND R AT 0.25 78 TTHY 31T
BREZRRARAR ([218]) REA
BYATETESREECOIB T ZHE
i B% & $£3,300,000,000 f% (i [F 3% 1T &9
495,000,0001p B iX #E) - 2B A —H
ENR ARREZHEFOAEREME
HH60%EZ - N_E—HE=AAHMA
2 ¥& %% 17 2,400,000,000 fx A~ A 7 IR 15 &
360,000,000 7 &AL - BRARMELE 2 5F
BEAERAATN AT NE+—
AtEE-_Z—RAFE-_ANHZAEER
HMA—ZT—RE—A-+tBHZBEAR °
R-TE—AF=ARBBT2ERENRD
& 524,678,00078 7T (I sE34) * & K
B NTER BB IR -

R-ZZE—FENMA=-+=H - {RERHA
—E-RAE=A-t+=AKRAFERER
B2 AR EWE - AR EIAER0.2857 T
ETEMIBA L ETERMEELB
JC 2 7 AR A £ 977,300,000 4% - A B8
BOEEZHFBEHENARARBHAZ
E-—RAF=A-+=BF-_Z—AFNOA
—t-HZAER -

AATRERNET 2 AL BRRE T EY
BAAREE Y BALBRZARSHN -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

31.

32.

RESERVES 31. fifh
The Company K2 A]
Share
Share option Translation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RIEE BRERE ER R 2 B8R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TR T T
At 1 May 2013 RZE—=FRF—H 707,390 — 9 (128,811) 578,588
Acquisition of non-controlling YR EEH B 2 RI3FRA
interests of subsidiaries R s 431,595 = = = 431,595
Acquisition of subsidiaries =N 412,500 - - - 412,500
Share issue expense RIAEIRS (115) - = - (115)
Exchange gain on translation  BEGINEBIHIREKZ
of financial statements E 5 Wz
of foreign operations — — 2 — 2
Loss for the year AEEER - = = (47,805) (47,805)
At 30 April 2014 RZE-—EFENA=+HK
and 1 May 2014 “Z-NFRA—H 1,551,370 — 11 (176,616) 1,374,765
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEER B AR 138,600 - - - 138,600
Shares issue expense RIAETRS (9,364) - - — (9,364)
Exchange gain on translation  2E G EBEHEHRE 2
of financial statements E H e
of foreign operations — — 1 — 1
Issue of share options AT - 24,678 = = 24,678
Share issued at premium BREETRG 1,073,579 — - — 1,078,579
Loss for the year AEEER — - - (485,715) (485,715)
At 30 April 2015 RZZE-HEFEMA=1+H 2,754,185 24,678 12 (662,331) 2,116,544
In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, RERSHSRAE - ARz kini=ERK
the share premium account of the Company is also available Al DR AR @ AR QRIER EREEZIK
for distribution to shareholders provided that the Company is NEMEREYIKAMBE  EHRNEBERS
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of X RIER EHAREEET o
business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 32. RmtHE R
As lessee 1E 73 R F 5

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to five years.
None of the leases include contingent rentals.

AEBERBELELHEERETYE - BEHAE
WA —Z20F - KEROMEREX

g -
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Cont’d)

As lessee (Cont’d)

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

32. RS E AR (A)

1EZ ARy (#)

RER - RETAIRBHLEEEMAXN
ZARREESEENAT ¢

The Group The Company
AEE P NG|
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-Hf —T-OF =—F-HFf —T-MOF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHETT FET T
Within one year —FA 17,864 18,946 7,374 7,374
In the second to fifth FEEFRF
year inclusive (BIEEEMT) 13,470 33,049 6,145 13,519
31,334 51,995 13,519 20,893
33. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 33. BEA K H Al RIS
As at 30 April 2015, the Group and the Company had capital RZZE—RAFWMA=+H ' AEEKAAH
and other commitments as follows: ZEBAR R HAALEDT ¢
Group KLEH
2015 2014
—E-RF —T-OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT F& T
Capital commitments: BAEHE -
Contracted but not provided for: BRI 4B REE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BBEW% - BE MERE - 1,234
Authorised but not contracted for: EREBRETL :
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEEWE - BE N &E - 7,598

On 9 January 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire up to 82.353% equity interest of Frame
Sharp Limited, which effectively represents 70% equity interest
of Bl (B M) £ ¥+l B R A Al, at the consideration of
HK$42.5 million. This acquisition is subject to certain conditions
stated in the sale and purchase agreement and not yet
completed up to the report date.

The Company signed two sponsorship agreements with the
University of Oxford for the research of stem cell therapy and
tissue engineering. The Company agreed to provide GBP9
million (equivalent to HK$107 million) to the University of Oxford
by instalments over the period covered by agreements. Up to
30 April 2015, the Company has paid GBP1.5 million (equivalent
to HK$18 million) to the University of Oxford.

At 30 April 2014, the Company had no capital and other
commitments.

R-ZT—AF—AIB AEEITZEER
% + LA 42,500,000 7T K X (B U B8 Frame
Sharp Limited £ % 82.353% f% #& » A1 & &
1B (B IN) £ WA R A E 70% %
e ZWEZHNEERZFRIEHE TIE
% BEREBIRTK °

ARREFZAEH BT MABTIE
EBTFERT S0 BB ek o AR BRI B 7
7% 0 2 HIRE R 432 K 22 3 B R £ 9,000,000
FE4 (HHE 7 107,000,000 BTT) - B ZEZ
T-AFWHA=1TH " ARFZAFREKR
237 f11,500,000 % (#HE R 18,000,000
BT °

R-ZF-—OFMA=+H  ARBALEER
Ko LA AHE
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34, [ BCREGTHE]

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company pursuant
to a resolution passed on 14 September 2011 (the “Scheme”).
Under the Scheme, the directors may grant options to (i) any
eligible employee (means any employee, whether full time or
part time employee, including any executive directors and non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries and
any invested entity; (i) any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any invested entity; (i) any customer
of the Group or any invested entity; (iv) any person or entity
that provides research, development or technological support
or other services to the Group or any invested entity; and (v)
any shareholder or any member of the Group or any invested
entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group to any invested entity (collectively known as the
“Participants”), to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
the Participants thereunder for their contributions to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-caliber
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group and any invested entity. The period of the Scheme shall
not be more than 10 years from the date of adoption of the
Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of the
approval of the Scheme, unless approved by the Company’s
shareholders. In addition, the maximum number of shares
of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. The number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time. Options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors of the Company, or
any of their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5
million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders.

RABBRBE-—BER-_ZT——F LA +HEA
BB ZRBRFMN—BBREE (5
2]) - RIFTE - EFARTIALRE
BREARBARRMRD - ()ARF - HE
AMBARMAIREERZERNAERESR
(FEMERIFRBES  BREEAUTE
ENFEHITESR) : (\MEAEEEAMKER
B EAIMIRE BB HEE MR 2 EA
HER : (W AEERETMAREER (T
AR (ARNEBERERMREERE
AT - BTSRRI E AR 2 7
ALTHRERE : RV)AKEREFARETR
ZEAIBRR A B A KBERK B QAR
ERAREERBT2ENERZEMARKA
AR 28EE]) - - FEZBHTIBER
S EE SR K B TR 2 B BAE B 2 22 )
R/ SEAEESARERREESES
WRAHAEB R EAMREERMNEES
ZANENR - 5t 3 RAsH 8 B R T
"EeTE -

BRIEESA QT RELE - BIEFTEIR T’
2 BRES K2 D RECTS BB A A
PRHLERT 81 B BTGB Z 10% © thoh
BB TIEAR IR AT 819 L 1 18 AR T 2 BB AR
MR TETZARGBRAOEE LR » T8
FRIBARR R EFE BTN 2 30% ° IRE(
1218 B BRI A AT A (E fa] A 3% 2 B8 A 4
H R Z D E B TMEBBA R &) AT (A B
BTN Z1% - WAAAREBZREK
BUERTESRAMFESBZHEAR
B2 EREBRBARARBRANZ0.1% REE
B8 5,000,000 7T + BILEEB AR R
HHLE ©
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34. Ji it E (47)

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d)

Options granted must be taken up within a period of 28 days
from the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per grant. An
option period to be determined by the directors is at their
absolute discretion shall not be more than 10 years after the
date of the grant of the share option (“Option Period”). Options
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during the Option Period after the option has been
granted. The exercise price should not be less than the highest
of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares; (i) the closing
price of the Company’s share on the date of grants, which
must be a trading day; or (i) the average of the closing prices
of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing its shares.

During the year ended 30 April 2014, there was no share
options issued under the Scheme.

On 5 March 2015, pursuant to a placing agreement dated 10
November 2014 between the Company and a placing agent,
495,000,000 share options with exercise price of HK$0.25
per share and exercisable period from 5 September 2015 to
4 September 2016 are issued to All Favour and independent
parties. Details of the share placement were contained in the
Company’s announcements dated 10 November 2014 and
6 February 2015 and the circular of the Company dated 20
January 2015. These share options were issued in exchange for
cash consideration together with the placing shares and are not
accounted for as share-based compensation and there is no
vesting condition for these share options.

T 2 B AR 0 ZE A IR 1 A B 28 K
IR AN - T &K A0 B AR AR e ZB 1+
BT BRI HESERRBEETE
HERE L BARE A SR BT T RBRTF
(MEREERAE]) - REERER - Bk
AT 7 B AR R B R PO 32 PR T 281 A R B B T AAT
F o TEETSERAT=E285% : ()
RABRMEE (i) AR ARG RIZ L B H
(BAERKXSRH) 2WHE : k(i) AR FK
NREEFREBHAIAAXS B 2 FHKS
{go

B AR D SN 2 1B B BN & 8 PARR AN STA ©
AEBERBETROIN  BEERHIEEERS
Bl (REARHE -

HE_Z-—NFWHA=THILFE ' HER
EEEIR L AR -

R-_E—RAFE=FAB: BEHHA -
T—NFEF+—ATHARRHREENRRE
2EEEHE MEBRBIAITET
495,000,000 {7 fE Iz #E - 171 AEH0.25
BITRIEHA—T—RAFALAREE T
—A~FENAEH - BEROEE 2F1EE T
HRARARBHA-—ZT—NF+—A+HER
—E-—RAF_ANBZAERBHAE-Z
—RAF—AZTRHZBERA - FTZFER
BRI ERD TIRIRIR S RE - TR
OIS ZMEHER  BZSERERETERB
{5 o
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Cont’d) 34. MERRERTE (%)
Movement in share options: HEhxrEE
2015 2014
ZE-I1f e Sl 3
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
MEL1TREE BREHE  METHIRE ERRESE
HK$ ’000 HKS ‘000
B T BT T
Outstanding at beginning of year FMRARITE - - - -
Issued during the year FNET 0.25 495,000 = =
Outstanding at end of year FRARITE 0.25 495,000 - -
Of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the FRERTENBREEZF - RERAR
year, none of the options had vested and were exercisable at BEEBATE o

the end of the year.

As at 30 April 2015, the remaining contractual life for the R-ZZE—RAFMNA=1+H ' HAITHEBEIE
outstanding share options is 673 days. KM ERE LFE R 673K °
The weighted average fair value of each option issued during FAETHEOHBRENETLESRTE
the year was HK$0.05. The fair value of the share options has R0.05ETT c BMIREC A FERBLEE
been determined based on the Binomial model estimated by HEMMYATEZAERARRE _ERE
an independent professional valuer, Ascent Partners Valuation NG o ARRIFERBITEREZ ATES
Service Limited. The fair value of the options issued by the 24,678,000 (ZF—MH4F : &) - 1 F
Company during the year was HK$24,678,000 (2014: Nil). The BENEATERBRESEL
following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
values:
2015

—E-HF
Underlying stock price (HK$) TR E (BT) 0.228
Exercise price (HK$) 1118 (OBIT) 0.25
Risk-free rate (%) 8 [ B F X (%) 0.322
Annualised dividend yield (%) FEK B EHRE (%) -
Expected volatility of underlying share (%) HERARR (D 2 T8 HE R 18 (%) 52.01
Weighted average remaining contractual life N9 MR E K 28 1.35
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical T B R 08 S R R AR R SER R A AR SR 2 a5
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not 1 BEZARBET—EABERER - E5F
necessarily be the actual outcome. No special features pertinent EQNTERTEMNABBDETBREN
to the options issued were incorporated into the measurement DRASEL o
of fair value.
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) Passion Stream Limited (“Passion Stream”)

On 12 March 2015, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement to purchase 70% equity
interests of Passion Stream with the consideration of
HK$72,000,000. Passion Stream and its subsidiaries
(“Passion Stream Group”), which is principally engaged
in designs and manufacturing of pre-clinical cell and
stem cell related equipment, especially in 3D cell culture
bio-reactors and their related consumables, as well
as providing CRO services. The acquisition was made
with the aims to setup a regional hub that takes care of
designs and manufacturing of pre-clinical cell and stem
cell related equipment businesses in the PRC and to
generate synergy through the acquisition. The acquisition
was completed on 21 April 2015.

The consideration shall be settled by the Group by cash
and the issue of 252,000,000 shares of the Company.
The fair value of the newly issued shares of the Company
on 21 April 2015, amounted to HK$141,120,000.

2014 /2015 F3f PEBLEELEEFRAS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

35. EBAUE

(a) Passion Stream Limited

( [Passion Stream_| )

NR—_E—RAF=A+=H A&EE7F]
S — 19 B & H & 0 BA72,000,0005%8
7t 2 X {8 Ug B Passion Stream 70%
fi% #E o Passion Stream N £ Kff & A &
( [Passion Stream Group ] ) = &E# =
Fe IR A AR PR A = A PR AE R a8 1 2 3%
MBEE (FRRE-HAREEEY
RFERRTNM EAEEAFEM) A R H
AR EMATRE - WKEEEA
PR AR B 2 37 B R R PR AT A B AR 5 2 B
TERE A 2 AR AT AN 2L IS A & 39 A
W+ DA K23 38 W B 72 A 175 [R) R0 HE < it
WEER _—_ZE—RAFMNA-+—H=
& o

REABABAEERNUNRE K 17
252,000,000 f% A8 A 7 f% 17 R S 4+ -
ARABIR-_ZE—AHFMA-—+—B#H
BEITRMDE A FE A 141,120,000 7%
=
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(a) Passion Stream Limited (“Passion Stream?”)

35. ¥EBEAO ()

(a) Passion Stream Limited

(Cont’d) ( [Passion Stream_| ) (#&)
Details of fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities BAZABREERABONATERF
acquired were as follows: BIR
HK$’000
FETT
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) Y - BB R (FisE15) 1,636
Other intangible assets (note 21) HEm\ErEE (MzE21) 69,151
Inventories 58 14
Trade receivables FEWE 5 ARIA 18
Deposits, prepayments and e~ BN HRIE R H M E W ARIE
other receivables 135
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeSEER 88
Trade payables ENEZRE (20)
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A M E i ARIE (3,990)
Deferred tax liabilities recognised NHERAREERNREENIBEA &
upon fair value adjustments (note 29) (P 29) (14,453)
Net assets BEFE 52,579
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AR R A o (15,774)
Net identified assets acquired BAZ A #AEEFE 36,805
Goodwill on acquisition (note 19) Wgm 2 (fHEE19) 96,213
Total consideration BR(E 133,018
Satisfied by: BT SEX A
Cash e 6,986
The Company’s shares PN 141,120
Contingent consideration receivable FEW S ARAE (Mf7E20)
(note 20) (15,088)
Total purchase consideration BEENRE 133,018

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiaries

was as follows:

ERWENRBARZEEMREEE
HEREFEZOWOT ¢

HK$'000

FHT

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BAZR® &ﬁ%%@lﬁ B 88
Cash and cash equivalents paid ENRE RS FEEE (6,986)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRFSEEEE R LFE (6,898)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Passion Stream Limited (“Passion Stream”)
(Cont’d)

Since the acquisition date, Passion Stream Group has
contributed HK$36,000 and HK$203,000 to Group’s
revenue and loss. If the acquisition had occurred on 1
May 2014, Group revenue and loss would have been
HK$2,890,000 and HK$256,868,000 respectively. This
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
May 2014, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
performance.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Passion
Stream mainly represented (1) the difference between
the fair values of the shares of the Company on the
completion date of acquisition in April 2015 and the date
of signing sales and purchase agreement in March 2015;
(2) significant future prospect and the business value of
Passion Stream Group and (3) synergy effect of the newly
acquired business with the existing tissue engineering
business.

Maylion Management Limited (“Maylion”)

On 29 July 2013, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to purchase 100% equity interests
and a loan interest of Maylion and its subsidiary (“Maylion
Group”), which is principally engaged in bio-medical
engineering, research and development of regenerative
medical products in relation to tissue-engineering
technology. These regenerative medical products can
be utilised in the areas of cosmetic, dermatology, tissue
and organ reconstruction in the bio-medical industry.
The acquisition was made with the aims to expand the
Group’s existing research and development of the tissue
engineering products and to generate synergy through
the acquisition. The acquisition was completed on 11
December 2013.

35. EHHIF (A)

(a) Passion Stream Limited

( [Passion Stream_ ) (#%)

B Y B B #£ - Passion Stream Group
BEAAEBZKEREBEERT
36,0008 7T & 203,00078 7T ° = W iE
BAEE—_T—NERA B A£H
2 Was K E B 5 Bl A 2,890,000 74
7T} 256,868,000 7T ° Uit & & & &
EHRFARR  TTRTEAERZ
T—FERHA— Elruiizqﬁlﬁﬁf§$’ﬁl

ReBHENKIRES  BTEY
*X%Z HFEA -

I B Passion Stream FrE 4 2 & =
ZHEMARE RO T —RAFME
AREEKEER-_ZE—hE=A%
ZEEMR L BNAFENESE (2
Passion Stream Group HJ & X 7K 2 Al
SREEEERQ)MKBEEKEIRE
BT EEEH R RINE -

(b) FEhEPHRAA ([Ffi))

R=F—=FtA=-1+hIH x5£H
R — M EEWE  NKEEZmEE
WEAR ([EREE]) /100% K&
Bk —HERED EFEREEY
BEETE AEASTIERMNEBE
BEEEQNE ZEBLEBREER
AAREG EMEETENK
B ABKREE BESEE - LIE
BiZAEARNEEMAZETRERNIR
BHE UREBKEELEHBRER
JE- WREBER-_ZE—=F+=_A
+—H5K -
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

35. ¥EBEAO ()

(b) Maylion Management Limited (“Maylion”) (b) FEmEPIHFRAA ([FEfil)
(Cont'd) (#)

REEEHD  A5EREEENT
KEBEEREDEBHTRAR—EHE
HiEDm BREBASEEBREE
1,500,000,000 A& 287~ &) % 17 B il 2% &%
BITRI A o RRRFBITRMOAL
FE: DER_E—=F+_A+—
B 7 B 2 BT A e 2 W B & 3% 0.285
BILETE  £%/5427,500,000/8 7T °

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

Pursuant to sale and purchase agreement, the Group
agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital and
a loan interest of Maylion at the date of the completion.
The total consideration shall be settled by the Group
by procuring the allotment and issue of 1,500,000,000
shares of the Company. The fair value of the newly issued
shares of the Company, determined using the closing
price of HK$0.285 per share quoted on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on 11 December 2013, amounted to
HK$427,500,000.

BAZAHEANEERBENA T ER

Details of fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities

acquired were as follows: BT :
HK$’000
F&7T
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) W - BB R (HisE15) 2,482
Other intangible assets (note 21) HEmE|mpEeE (MiF21) 349,765
Inventories 5E 575
Deposits, prepayments and other e~ BN FRIERH M E RIS
receivables 3,680
Cash and cash equivalents BeNIBEEEER 1,398
Trade payables ENE 5 BRIE (479)
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A R E A R BRIR (6,009)
Amount due to the vendor FERTE B RIA (169,583)
Deferred tax liabilities recognised NHERAREERNREENRIBEA &
upon fair value adjustments (note 29) (Fff5E29) (76,527)
Net assets acquired BAZEFE 105,302
Amount due to the vendor assigned EIRIGANEE 2 BN E 5 5/ IE
to the Group 169,583
Goodwill on acquisition (note 19) WiErE (5E19) 152,615
The fair value of consideration transfer: HERENATE :
Total consideration satisfied by the AARNRROD I 2 BRE
Company’s shares 427,500
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

35. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Cont’d)

(b) Maylion Management Limited (“Maylion”)
(Cont’d)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiaries was as

35. EHHIF (A)

(b) FEfatPEARA A ([Ffi)])
(#)

BRWENBAR RS RREEE
RBRAFEZAIMD

follows:
HK$’000
FHET
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BAZERSRESEMEER 1,398
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRREeEEBERRAFRE 1,398

Since the acquisition date, Maylion Group has contributed
HK$9,861,000 to the Group’s loss and has not yet
generated any revenue during the period. If the acquisition
had occurred on 1 May 2013, Group revenue and loss
would have been HK$510,000 and HK$274,762,000
respectively. This pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
revenue and results of operations of the group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 May 2013, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future performance.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Maylion mainly
represented the difference between the fair values of
the shares of the Company on the completion date of
acquisition in December 2013 and the date of signing
sales and purchase agreement in July 2013.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group are the directors
and chief executive of the Company. The remuneration of the
key management personnel is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. Details of the remuneration paid to them are set
out in note 9 to the financial statements.

Save as elsewhere in the financial statements and above, there
was no other related party transaction during the years ended
30 April 2014 and 2015.

BRIERRE  EREEEALEEY
B 18 & Bt 79,861,000 7T &R BN
REEWZ - FRBHEE_T—=
FRA—H  AEEZR=EREER
7 7l /510,000 JT & 274,762,000
B WEEEREHRTERE I
TERTUHABER-_ZE—=FR7—H
ERKBEAEEEReERHAKES
REE BT RERREER TR -

WEEGATEEZEEXERARR
R T —=F+= ARETKH
PR-_E—=F+tAREEEMEL
BRAFEMNZERE -

36. AL 5

FHEHN B

AEEZETEEREABINARRESE RITR
mE - TREBEABZME I HFHEES
BREBEMALZRRARTHBBETE - X
TREZMEFHIBHRNR I ERRMEE -

BRI HRRA MBI RIA LPARES
S RBE-T-—NFER-_FT-—AFWA
=TRLEFERERMBEZS -
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

37. SUBSIDIARIES 37. W& AH
Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 30 RZZFE—RAFMHA=+H ' ARRIZEEN
April 2015 are as follows: BARFBIT :
Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation/ capital/registered ownership interests Principal activities
Name of company registration capital held by the Company and place of operations
AL/ ERTEER RAAREEES
NAEH it B Rx/EMER Rt TEXBRERME
Directly Indirectly
Ef GE3
China Bio-Med Regeneration British Virgin Islands US$20,000 100% — Investment holding,
Technology Limited RBRUES 20,000% 7 Hong Kong
REENBERERBERAR] REER - &A
Million Profit Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100% Investment holding,
KEEEERAT RBRAES S Hong Kong
REER - &A
FD(H) Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 — 100% Investment holding,
RBRUES 100%7T Hong Kong
REER - &A
Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering The PRC RMB206,900,000 — 100%" Production and sales of
Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Aierfu”) H (2014: RMB176,900,000) tissue engineering skin
RELREARS IEERAR AR 206,900,007 related products, the PRC
([REXERE]) (Z2—mF: EERAEARTR
AE#176,900,0007C) RERHER  PE
Shaanxi Aimiya Bio-Technology The PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100%" Research and development,
Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Aimiya’) H AK% 2,000,000 the PRC
RENEEEDREERAR HERAE - HE
(TBRAESER])
Shaanxi AiBosin Bio-Engineering The PRC RMB2,000,000 — 100%" Research and development,
Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi AiBosin’) HE ARH2,000,0007C the PRC
RELEEENTREERAT] HERFE - PE
(MREXLEE])
Shaanxi AiNear Cornea Engineering The PRC RMB3,800,000 — 100%" Research and development,
Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi AiNear’) H AR¥3,800,0007C the PRC
REERAEIEERA] HERFAE - PE
(MREXLER])
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

37. @AW ()

Place of Issued ordinary Percentage of
incorporation/ capital/registered ownership interests Principal activities
Name of company registration capital held by the Company and place of operations
AL/ BRTERR FARRERES
NREH it B Rx/EMER Bt pl TEXBRERNE
Directly Indirectly
Ef GE73
Shenzhen AiNear Cornea Engineering The PRC RMB3,800,000 - 100%" Research and development,
Company Limited (“Shenzhen AiNear’) ARH3,800,0007C the PRC
ML ERAEIRERAR HERRAZ - HE
(DRIIXER])
Zhongsheng Medical Equipment Trading ~ The PRC RMB60,000,000 = 100% Sales and distribution,
Company Limited # AR 60,000,0007C the PRC
PAEBREMHEARAR HERDH HHE
Shaanxi Reshine Biotech Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB77,000,000 — 100% Research and development,
(‘Reshine”) H (2014: RMB57,000,000) the PRC
REREEDRRARAR ( ek ) AR#77,000,00070 BRRF% =&
(Z2-mé:
AR 57,000,0007T)
Shanghai Hesidi Cosmetics Company The PRC RMB50,000,000 = 51% Sales and distribution,
Limited (‘Hesidi") A (2014: RMBS5,000,000) the PRC
FERSE R ERA T AR#50,000,0007 HERDH HHE
(&%) (ZB-mE
AR#5,000,0007)
China Bio-Med Technology Limited The PRC RMB50,000,000 = 100% Research and development,
PAEEENEERAR M (2014: RVMIB30,387,154) the PRC
AR 50,000,0007C HERRAE - hE
(ZZ2-m#:
AR 30,387,154 L)
Longar Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100% Sale and distribution,
SERERRAR NBRAHES 0 Hong Kong
WERAH  BE
China Regenerative Medicine Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100% Investment holding,
HEAEREERAR B 13871 (2014: Nil Hong Kong
(Z2-—mF: &) REER BA
China Stem Cell Clinical Applications Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% Investment holding,
Centre Limited & 18T (2014: Nil Hong Kong
hERARERERT LERAR (ZZ-m¥: &) REBK FE
Tianjin Weikai Bioeng Limited (‘Tianjin WK”)  The PRC RMB10,400,000 — 70%™ Sales and distribution,
FEENENTRERAR ([K2EH]) =6 AE10,400,00070 (2014: Nil the PRC
(Z2-mE: &) BERHH +E
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37. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Note:

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results of the Group for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group at the end
of the year. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

* On 1 November 2013, the Group entered into a Sale and
Purchase agreement with beneficial owners of Best Profit Hong
Kong Development Limited (the “Target Company”), which held
the non-controlling interests of Shaanxi Aierfu and its subsidiaries,
to acquire the shares and a loan interest of the Target Company.
The consideration was satisfied by allotment of 1,251,000,000
shares of the Company to the vendor. Upon completion, Shaanxi
Aierfu, Shaanxi AiBosin, Shaanxi Aimiya, Shaanxi AiNear and
Shenzhen AiNear became indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company.

The acquisition was completed on 7 February 2014. The fair
value of the share consideration is HK$444,105,000, based on
the closing price of HK$0.355 per share quoted on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on that date. This transaction has been
accounted for as an equity transaction with the non-controlling
interests and resulted in a decrease in equity attributable to
owners of the Company of HK$443,600,000, which included in
other reserve.
o The Group does not have any equity interest in Tianjin
WK. However, the Group has entered into the contractual
arrangements with Tianjin WK and its equity holders, which
enable the Group to (1) exercise effective financial and operational
control over Tianjin WK; (2) exercise equity holders’ voting
rights of Tianin WK; (3) receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by Tianjin WK in consideration for
the management services provided by the Group; (4) obtain
an irrevocable and exclusive right with an initial period of 10
years to purchase the entire equity interest in Tianjin WK from
the respective equity holders. The right automatically renews
upon expiry until the Group specifies a renewal term; and (5)
obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Tianjin WK
from its respective equity holders as collateral security for all the
payments due to the Group and to secure performance of Tianjin
WK’s obligations under the above contractual arrangements.
Accordingly, the Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with Tianjin WK and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over Tianjin WK and is considered to
control Tianjin WK. Consequently, the Group regards Tianjin WK
as the indirect subsidiary under HKFRSs.

37. MHEAR (4)
BEE

ERIHEERAEAEBEAFEXEATEY
EYNFRAMAEBEEFEIELD 2 AL
BfEAR - EERA JIHEMHBARZH
BERSABRITE

PEMBARLRBEREMERT -

RNELEINFREFER  BENBRARERE
AEHES -

* RZZB—=F+—A—B AEEHEFE
BEERABR AR ([BRAF] - hAA
R BRSNS R H T B A B 2 SRR AR AR
RiE) 2 BRfEB AR — D EBE R
A R R AR ROk —HER#ER -
{8 ¥ 38 (7] & 77 Ac % 1,251,000,000 A& X 22
BRI T A - RERR - BREXE
B~ BREGSCEA - PRGN - BRAXE
B NORYILEMBIK AR R B EE 2 E
MEBAE -

WHEER -_ZE—ME - AtHxK - BKH
KRB 2 AF1E A 444,105,000 7T iR
AR T A 2 WM E AR 0.855 7T
FTE o WIBR P E S EEIEERR AR R AE 5
MEZR AR WEBBARAEE AR
1R HEZK 8 2 #7443,600,0008 7L HBE
FEEMFEEA -

o ARENERE S REEIRBE - AW
AEBHBRRZHEINEEEFEAFLA
e o EAEEREH (1) TR REF
BB RS e B R A - (2T RERIRE
BB AMBRRERE : (3) WELRZEIL
EEBAHBORBENELDR  ERAEKE
RENEERBONRE  QESHESES
R ANBERZFH 2 AP AT HHE
NBREN - Ve FH A+ F - AR
REmEBBED  EASEEEETF
BRERIBRSN . R (6)EERERFFE ALR
REY MBI - (ERENAEE
B P A SR 38 B R 3 B R RO TS B 1T
ERAENZBIETHEE - At - A&EE
BREBREZERZFINNEL =X A &
Bl 35 B A 2 7755 38 H 3 KR A7 9L 1 42 il 7
FEZEOR - WK REHRZE
Hit - RIEFZEMBHRE LR NEER
REFGNREEHBRR -
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38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair value

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

38. &RVEE KR A E B

TR AKENEREENAE ZREE

of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities: MAFE :
The Group The Company
KEH ¥ /N|
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RFE —2—NF ZE-HF —TEOF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THETT FHT THEIT
Financial assets SREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Financial assets at fair FEiEBmiE AT ESER
value through profit or ZEMEE :
loss:
Contingent consideration  fEUEAR(E
receivable 15,088 — - =
Loans and receivables: ER R ERRTE
Debt element AR ES 2 EEEH
of convertible bond - = - =
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair BiEBRE A FEY R
value through profit or ZEMEE :
loss:
Options embedded in AR B2 2 Nk B R
the convertible bond - = - =
Loans and receivables: ERRERIRTE
Trade receivables W E 5 AR1E 665 393 - -
Deposits and other ZE R HAFEUERTE
receivables 130,260 45,903 2,912 2,916
Amounts due from G ENGIE /S
subsidiaries - — 1,844,622 1,477,331
Pledged bank deposits EERIRITIF 22,622 — - —
Cash and cash Re KRS FBEIEEB
equivalents 1,008,984 119,018 439,490 19,296
1,177,619 165,314 2,287,024 1,499,543
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38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  38. &hE & R & A o B

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (%)
(Cont’d)
The Group The Company
AEE BN
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-FHF —ETNF ZT-HF —FTHEF
HK$°000 HK$’ 000 HK$°000 HK$’'000

FER FAT FET FAT

Financial liabilities TREE

Financial liabilities B HR AT EZ

measured at amortised SHEE
costs:

Current liabilities REEE

Trade payables FERTE 5 AR1E 763 1,097 - =

Accrued charges FERTE A & ELAth FE S AR TR

and other payables 14,970 14,365 6,584 2,359

Amount due to a subsidiary &1 — [ B A & ZIE - — 13,324 13,366

Bank borrowings RITE 59,032 37,455 - —

Non-current liabilities  FEREBEE

Other payables H b fE (S BRIE 6,280 = - =

81,045 52,917 19,908 15,725

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments TREHEAAFEIEREN SR TR 2 A FE

carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy: BEDHT

e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o F—H:HAMEEXBRENGRT
identical assets and liabilities; SHHRE CRERAE)

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within o H_H:EFHEENBERE R
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either BN A EEERERSEEIRER
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from ATEERAE Rk
prices); and

e Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based o F=F:BAHEENERBLIFKEN
on observable market data (unobservable inputs). BIRmSNEE (RAIFEREREUR) -

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial TREEIBBERAFERBAZ D EEI

asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on RRE A EFEE2HIR ZHERT

the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Cont’d)

The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value

hierarchy as follows:

38. &RVEE KR A E B

(#1)

REERMBRARARFEABZERE
B HEPEZAFERBOT

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& -t 1§ E=R a5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FATT
At 30 April 2015 RZZE—HFMA=+H
Contingent consideration — fEUERAR(E
receivable — — 15,088 15,088
Options embedded in the A3 (E S 2 AR BifE
convertible bonds = = = =
— — 15,088 15,088

At 30 April 2014
Options embedded in the

R-F—MFEPA=+H
AR B 2 MR

convertible bonds

Where derivatives are traded either on exchanges or liquid over-
the-counter markets, the Group uses the closing price at the
reporting date. As the derivatives entered into by the Group are
not traded on active markets, the fair values of such contracts
are estimated using a valuation technique that maximise the use
of observable market inputs e.g. market currency and interest
rates (Level 2). All derivatives entered into by the Group are
included in Level 2.

The details of the valuation of the fair value of contingent
consideration receivable were disclosed in note 20.

There have been no significant transfers between levels in the
reporting period.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of
measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods.

AREASBEMS 2 ITETARS - A%
ERAHRER 2WTHE - BRAEEFZHIT
S TETNERBRMSRS - Bt ZES K
NP EFRBAERM - E&RARE A AR
BIRMISEE - flmsEEMNE (=
B  AARSBMAIVHABITETIRERS
e

R AREBRFEZEEFBERERHE
20 °
REHRR - RBRLSAEREE -

PLEAE AR - RS E AT ERTE
R A R AR A -
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. HA¥ | B B

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in
its investment activities. The financial risks include market risk
(including currency risk, interest risk and other price risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk.

The Group does not have written risk management policies and
guidelines. However, the board of directors meets periodically
to analyse and formulate strategies to manage and monitor the
Group’s exposure to a variety of risks associated with financial
instruments which arise from the Group’s operating and
investing activities. Generally, the Group employs conservative
strategies regarding its risk management to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how these risks are mitigated are described as
follows:

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group carries out its business mainly in Hong
Kong and the PRC and most of the transactions and
the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and RMB, which are the functional
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries. The
Group had neither engaged in any derivative activities
nor committed to any financial instruments to hedge its
exposures. The directors consider the Group’s foreign
exchange risk to be minimal. A reasonable change in
exchange rate in the next twelve months is assessed to
result in immaterial change in the Group’s loss for the year
and accumulated losses. Changes in exchange rates
have no impact on the Group’s other components of
equity.

(b) Interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities at variable interest rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and those
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. The Group monitors the interest rate risk exposure
on a continuous basis and adjusts the portfolio of financial
assets and liabilities when necessary. A reasonable
change in interest rate in the next twelve months is
assessed to result in immaterial change in the Group’s
loss for the year and accumulated losses. Changes
in interest rates have no impact on the Group’s other
components of equity.

AEEZBRNARSERREREREEHT
MAER TAmMESTHER - MBEERRES
EmsER (RREERR - FXERNRE
ERRER) - FERRERSHESER

7N 55 [ 37 4 Il BT A X 2 R B B IR BRI 3
5o A EFEEHEREBETHNAL
HIESRE - AEEREEAKEMAX AR
AEBEERKREXBEEZEBRTAZT
RER - —&mE  AEEHRREERRA
RTRES - AHEIRAE RS A BUREUE E 15
I o BAZ & Bt T ELARRE < R K el R 4
It F R 2 RSN

(a) SMNER BT

AREBTENRBBERTBEETES
ARBNIRZGEAEEZEERABEDN
AARABREWMBAR 2 BEE
TRARBE - "REBYES2HEE
AILTAEEE S E A EA € R T AT
HER BERRANEBEAAXZIN
ER R - RARR+ _EREXZ
Ai@ﬁéﬂﬂiﬁﬁ%ﬂ»‘%gzzﬁiﬁéﬁ
BREABRIESERES - EXE
U AREEER Zﬁiﬁ@iﬂﬁk*ﬁ
& o

(b) FIZ kT

EFPNEzomEERBBEELRSE
Eﬁﬁiﬁiumgjﬂ?ﬂ A EE
f'JTZimﬁéEE&ELL@ZJSEIEE%
N EMERERE o NREBFEEEN
Rk IRV ERABRCREER
BEZEE -RARTZEANEZ
/\fi @J%&pfr TZISE‘ZZIS@*EE

@Jﬁzli’ilf“ Zﬁi\ﬂﬂzﬁﬁﬁi*ﬁ
o
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For the year ended 30 April 2015 HE2 —F—AFMNA =1+ HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of these financial assets presented
in the Group’s statement of financial position are net of
impairment losses, if any. The Group’s trade and other
receivables are actively monitored to avoid significant
concentrations of credit risk. The Group limits its exposure
to credit risk by prudently selecting its customers with
careful assessment of their credit worthiness and financial
background.

The Group has deposited its cash with various banks. The
credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because
most of the Group’s bank deposits are deposited with
major banks in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider the fair values of
the Group’s current financial assets and liabilities are not
materially different from their carrying amounts because
of the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial
instruments. The fair value of non-current financial assets
was not disclosed because the carrying amount is not
materially different from its fair value.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. The Group has net current assets of
HK$1,070,165,000 and net assets of HK$1,844,215,000
as at 30 April 2015. In the opinion of the directors, the
Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited.

39. WERE BB ()

(c)

(d)

(e)

1 B

AEBEZHBRARANZINEREE
MEHEESHRRESSE (WA) -
AEBTYERELD 5 M EMEKER
B REREERBES KT - A&
BEBZENKEERTS (FANMGE
EERUBES) UREIEEHNE
ERk -

AEBEREZRBITHFHERE - HRA
KEZRITEFRRBOFERRER R
FEZERRT - BERE RIRTTHER
ZIEERBRAR

LA

ARPEERRARAEEZZES
MTABARINERARNIE - SR
BeMEERABZAFERER®E
BZRANLETEKX - ARIEREE R
BENATEREREEEZEEYTE
R BWARIEHITE -

LAl

AEBZHEDEHELRERSHES
FE HREBRTWVESRE BN
BHERBAZRSESE R - K=
—AFEWMA=+H AEBMRBEE
#{H /51,070,165,0007 7T © & E F
{E/51,844,215,000/87C - =S5
AEENRBECEBREERM °
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For the year ended 30 April 20156 HZ —E—RFMA =+ HILFE

39. WAEE BT E ()
(e) HEEZHEFE ()

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
(e) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of the reporting dates of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on current rates at the reporting date) and the

earliest date the Group may be required to pay:

TRAJNAKESITESRABNE
HEBZHBANBNBABER - ZRTD
REBATNRBEARSRE (BIRIZAT
MMEY (FRFEE) REBRER A
HMKRFHEZMEZH) RAEEA
BRANRZZF AR

Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than
amount cash flow on demand 2 year
ARER R1ER BR1EE
REE HeREAR REEK PR2E
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET THET T THT
The Group PN
As at 30 April 2015 R=Z-TFMA=1H
Trade payables S ZERE 763 763 763 -
Accrued charges B B R AR ERIE
and other payables 21,250 22,004 14,970 7,034
Bank borrowings RITIE 59,032 63,014 63,014 -
81,045 85,781 78,747 7,034
As at 30 April 2014 R-Z-MEMA=+H
Trade payables ANER kR 1,097 1,097 1,097 -
Accrued charges st & A R H EMNERE
and other payables 14,365 14,365 14,365 —
Bank borrowings BITER 37,455 40,647 40,647 =
52,917 56,109 56,109 -
The Company VN
As at 30 April 2015 R-E-AFMA=+H
Accrued charges [Esr &R R E EMNRE
and other payables 6,584 6,584 6,584 -
Amount due to a subsidiary FE{F —FEHTE A 7 7IE 13,324 13,324 13,324 -
19,908 19,908 19,908 -
As at 30 April 2014 R-E-NEMA=1H
Accrued charges [t B A R E RN RE
and other payables 2,359 2,359 2,359 —
Amount due to a subsidiary FE—FH B A AR 13,366 13,366 13,366 -
15,725 15,725 15,725 =
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2015 HZ=—F

40.

41.

—HFHA=THILFE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

o To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

o To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

o To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and
projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group has not adopted any formal dividend

policy.

Management regards total equity as capital, for capital
management purpose. The amount of capital as at 30 April
2014 and 2015 amounted to approximately HK$780,050,000
and HK$1,844,215,000 respectively, which the management
considers as optimal having considered the projected
capital expenditures and the projected strategic investment
opportunities.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE
REPORTING DATE

On 10 July 2015, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the Company
agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best-effort
basis, an aggregate of up to 1,150,000,000 placing shares, to
not more than six places who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners are independent third parties, at the placing price of
HK$0.40 per share. The completion is subject to the approval
by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

40.

41.

EAE BLBUR KA P

AEBEREAZBRR

e REAKERERLE MBS
P BR 75 2 [ g &ﬁﬁf@%{%%&t)(ﬂ

=
o KPBAEEIBERER: R

o RHEBSMBAKEZERERRE
jj o

AEETE GRS REREARE - BR
AEREEARBERRERSKERRE®R - I
ERAKEARARESFEREAKR - B
RIEABNES FRARERSRE - A
BAFAX MIERARBIERERS - A&EH
Al 3 A SREXAT (] 1E 2% B BUR

”ﬁFﬁ@F*ﬁ§$Aﬁ2§$ »
—E--NER-_F-—FHAFMA=1+H"

&K % 55 5l 4 A780,050,0008 T K
1,844,215,00087C - AFERED E R
FEH 2 EARAST RIEAIRRE R E#E - IF
RERRREEARMRT

et H AR F
R-Z-—HFLA+A  ARTREENRS

AV EEERE Bl ARRREEBREE
REERHAZ IEM FEF0.4078
EZEE%FmTyEA/\%JMEA (EREZ
RESHEABBNE=H) BEA AR
;ﬂnwpwpwhm%hHOEﬁm%$
BB BHE R FTHLAE ©
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A 25 A7k 2

RESULTS B

Financial year ended 30 April

BENA=THLMBFE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—Z——% ZZ--fF ZZT-=F ZZT-NF ZT-IF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET TAET

Revenue Wz 2,621 128 1,377 510 2,817
Cost of services provided/ BREBRE KA,/

Cost of sales HEMA (933) (85) (1,615) (352) (1,431)
Gross profit/(loss) E£R,/ (B8) 1,688 43 (238) 158 1,386
Other income Hp i A 2,911 2,070 6,788 5,662 2,101
Administrative and operating THRREERSY

expenses (54,528) (69,685) (74,230)  (136,879)  (171,125)
Finance costs UBER (2,592) (1,540) (1,694) (2,532) (3,058)
Impairment of goodwill EERE - - - (141,657) (60,400)
Impairment of other intangible assets i &/ & & R{E — = = = (41,432)
Loss before income tax BRITBHAEER (52,521) (69,112) (69,374)  (275,248)  (272,528)
Income tax credit PSR S 1,950 970 1,890 3,951 17,136
Loss for the year rEERE (50,571) (68,142) (67,484)  (271,297) (255,392
Attributable to: T oL
Owners of the Company ZN/NGIE 72N (42,061) (57,109) (61,320)  (263,442)  (250,098)
Non-controlling interests IR R (8,510) (11,033) (6,164) (7,855) (5,294)
Loss for the year rEEER (50,571) (68,142) (67,484)  (271,297)  (255,392)

As at 30 April
REA=1H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
2% "B “T-=F “T-NF —R-IF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAT TBT TAET TR
Total assets BEE 517,785 500,287 758,185 961,342 2,054,815
Total liabilities BEE (99,123)  (147,629)  (122,267)  (181,292)  (210,600)
Shareholders' funds BRES 418,662 352,658 630,918 780,050 1,844,215
Notes: B &E
The financial summary does not form part of the financial statements. T8 E N FEAR K A IS Sk 2 5B ©
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